# EPIGENETIC MECHANISM OF REGULATION OF HOX GENES AND NEUROTRANSMITTERS VIA HORMONES AND LNCRNA

by

# PAROMITA DEB

Presented to the Faculty of the Graduate School of

The University of Texas at Arlington in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements

for the Degree of

# DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

THE UNIVERSITY OF TEXAS AT ARLINGTON

Summer 2017

Copyright © by Paromita Deb 2017

All Rights Reserved



#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to express my special appreciation and thanks to my advisor, Dr. Subhrangsu S. Mandal for guiding me through this exciting journey, for encouraging my research and for the intensive scientific training that he gave me. I could not be thankful enough to my committee members, Dr. Jongyun Heo, Dr. Kayunta Johnson-Winters, and Dr. Alejandro Bugarin for their helpful career advice, valuable comments and suggestions. I would also like to thank current lab members, Monira Obaid, Milad Soleimani, Nadine Shihabidden and past lab members, Dr. Arunoday Bhan, Aarti Bashval, Koushik Raghavan, Sreekaran Reddy Chandupatla for their help and insightful discussions related to my research project. I am also very grateful to friends outside of Mandal laboratory, Hope Gloria Umutesi, Dr. Abu Hena Kamal, Dr. Cuong Le for their invaluable help and advice on my research. I also thank the wonderful staff in the Department of Chemistry and Biochemistry for always being so helpful and friendly. I was also lucky enough to make wonderful friends at UTA and thank them for all the great time they brought to me. A very special thank you goes out to my close friends, Debipriya, Abarna, Zulekha, Pallavi, Rebecca and Aindrila for always believing in me and encouraging me to follow my dreams. Most importantly, I would like to say a heartfelt thank you to Mom (Mrs. Purabi Deb), Dad (Mr. Manash Kr. Deb), my sister (Trishita Deb), my mother-in-law (Mrs. Kankana Ray) and father-in law (Mr. Agam Prasad Ray) for their unconditional support and endless encouragement. Words also cannot express how grateful I am to my parents and my sister for all of the sacrifices that they have made on my behalf and for their prayers that have sustained me so far. I would also like to thank my husband, Abhisek for supporting me throughout this experience. Finally, I thank God for giving me the strength to overcome all the difficulties. Undertaking this PhD has been a truly life-changing experience for me and it would not have been possible without the support that I received from so many people.

May 30, 2017

#### ABSTRACT

# EPIGENETIC MECHANISM OF REGULATION OF HOX GENES AND NEUROTRANSMITTERS VIA HORMONES AND LNCRNA

Paromita Deb, PhD

The University of Texas at Arlington, 2017

#### Supervising Professor: Subhrangsu S. Mandal

Endocrine disrupting chemicals (EDCs) are classes of environmental contaminants whose exposure even at very low concentrations interfere with normal endocrine signaling and induce many adverse health effects including increased risk of birth defects, diabetes, obesity, abnormal reproduction, and cancer. EDC exposure alters the epigenetic programming of cells resulting in altered gene expression and regulation and cell signaling. These EDCs include bisphenol-A (BPA), diethylstilbesterol (DES), polychlorinated biphenyl (PCB), phthalates, phytoestrogens, methoxychlor, fungicides, insecticide, herbicide, and some heavy metals. As a part of my work, I have investigated epigenetic impacts of EDCs on HOX (homeobox containing genes) genes, which are critical players in embryonic development. They determine segmental identity along the anterio-posterior (AP) body axis. HOX genes are also expressed in adults for functional differentiation. Notably, deregulation of HOX gene expression contributes to severe human diseases including cancer. The knowledge on the regulatory mechanisms that drive HOX expression is limited. Studies demonstrate that HOX gene expressions are influenced by variety of hormones that include estradiol, progesterone, testosterone, retinoic acid, vitamin D and others. By regulating HOX genes, hormonal signals utilize a conserved mechanism that allows generation of structural and functional diversity in both developing and adult tissues. In my research, I have investigated the mechanism of endocrine regulation (by estradiol) and disruption (by EDCs) of a particular HOX gene, HOXB9, *in vitro* and *in vivo*. Notably, HOXB9 is a homeobox-containing gene that plays key roles in mammary gland development and is associated with breast and other types of cancer. Here, we demonstrate that HOXB9 expression is transcriptionally regulated by estradiol (E2), *in vitro* and *in vivo*. We also demonstrate that endocrine disrupting chemical BPA induces HOXB9 expression in cultured human breast cancer cells (MCF7) as well as *in vivo* in the mammary glands of ovariectomized (OVX) rats. Luciferase assay showed that estrogen-responseelements (EREs) at the HOXB9 promoter are induced by BPA. Estrogen-receptors (ERs) and ERcoregulators such as mixed lineage leukemia 3 (MLL3) histone methylase, histone acetylases, CBP/p300, bind to the HOXB9 promoter EREs in the presence of BPA, modify chromatin (histone methylation and acetylation) and lead to gene activation. In summary, our results demonstrate that BPA exposure alters the epigenetic programming of the HOXB9 promoter leading to its endocrine disruption *in vitro* and *in vivo*.

Hypoxia signaling plays a critical role in tumor growth, angiogenesis, metastatic cancer, and aging. Under hypoxic condition, hypoxia-inducible factors (HIFs) are stabilized and they coordinate the process of hypoxia-induced gene expression and cell signaling pathways and leads to increased tumor cell proliferation, angiogenesis and growth. Recent studies indicate that non-coding RNAs which are closely associated with cancer are abnormally expressed under hypoxia. Here, we have investigated the transcriptional regulation of a cancer associated long non-coding RNA (lncRNA), homeobox transcript antisense RNA (HOTAIR) under hypoxic conditions. Our studies demonstrate that HOTAIR expression is upregulated under hypoxia in colon cancer and several other types of cancer cells. HOTAIR transcription is regulated by HIF1 $\alpha$  which binds to the hypoxia response elements (HRE) present in the

HOTAIR promoter under hypoxia. HIF1 $\alpha$  knockdown results in decreased HOTAIR expression under hypoxia. Along with HIF1 $\alpha$ , histone acetyltransferase, p300, histone methyl-transferase, MLL1, and RNA polymerase II are enriched at the HOTAIR promoter in a hypoxia dependent manner. The levels of H3K4-trimethylation and histone acetylation are also enriched at the HOTAIR promoter under hypoxic conditions. Overall, our studies demonstrate that HOTAIR expression is induced under hypoxic environment via coordination of HIFs and other transcription activators which may contribute to its roles in tumorigenesis.

Long noncoding RNAs are abundant in the mammalian transcriptome and many of them are specifically expressed in the brain. HOTAIR, a long intergenic noncoding RNA (lincRNA), is known to be overexpressed in several diseases. However, the role of HOTAIR in neurons/neurological disorders remains unclear. Neurotransmitters and neurotrophic factors are critical to neuronal signaling, growth and neuroprotection. Brain derived nerotrophic factor (BDNF) is a critical neurotrophic factor that plays key roles in neuronal growth, maintenance and protection and abnormal levels of BDNF in brain causes neurological disorders. Here we have investigated the mechanism of BDNF expression, especially, mediated by IncRNA HOTAIR. Our studies have demonstrated that HOTAIR is a key regulator of BDNF. Knockdown of HOTAIR resulted in induction of BDNF expression in hippocampal (HT22) cells. Furthermore, enzymatic inhibition of a HOTAIR-interacting partner, EZH2, also resulted in BDNF induction. Chromatin immunoprecipitation analysis demonstrated that levels of EZH2 (HOTAIRinteracting histone trimethylase) and LSD1 (HOTAIR-interacting histone demethylase) were reduced at the BDNF promoter under EZH2-inhibition condition. The level of repressive histone modification marks such as H3K27-trimethylation (which is introduced by EZH2) is decreased at the BDNF promoter. Taken together, these observations indicate that HOTAIR along with with interacting partners such as EZH2 are involved in repression of BDNF expression.

vi

Beyond lncRNA, estrogen is also known to modulate neural plasticity, cognition and neuroprotection. Indeed, our studies demonstrate that estradiol (E2) treatment induces the expression of BDNF mRNA and protein levels in HT22 cells *in vitro*. Estrogen receptor ER $\alpha$ /ER $\beta$  and ER-coregulators (CBP/p300) and MLL3 were enriched at the BDNF promoter in the presence of E2. Additionally, we showed that E2 induced-BDNF expression is mediated by the displacement of silencing factors, EZH2 and LSD1 at BDNF promoter and subsequent recruitment of active transcription machinery. These results reveal the function and mechanisms of lncRNA, HOTAIR to enforce silent chromatin state at BDNF promoter which in turn is rescued upon treatment with positive regulators such as E2.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	III
ABSTRACT	IV
LIST OF ILLUSTRATIONS	XII
LIST OF TABLES	XIV
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS	XV
EPIGENETIC MECHANISM OF REGULATION OF HOX GENES AND NEUROT	RANSMITTERS
VIA HORMONES AND LNCRNA	IV
CHAPTER 1	1
ENDOCRINE REGULATION OF HOX GENES AND NEUROTRANSMITTERS	1
1.1 Introduction	1
1.2 Homeobox (HOX) genes	1
1.2.1. Key features of HOX genes	2
1.2.2. Functional significance of HOX genes in development and cancer	3
1.2.3. Endocrine regulation of HOX genes and the mechanism	5
1.2.4. Endocrine disruptors: Mechanism of action and impacts on health	6
1.2.5. Mechanism of action of EDC	8
1.2.6. Bisphenol-A (BPA) and its health impacts	11
1.2.7. Endocrine Disruption of HOX Gene Expression	13
1.3. Neurotransmitters and neurotrophic factors and their functional significance	14
1.3.1. Neurotrophic factors	14
1.3.2. Neurotransmitters	15
1.3.3. Neurological disorders and risks	15

# Table Of Contents

1.4. Noncoding RNA and their roles in gene regulation	16
1.4.1. Long- noncoding RNA	18
1.4.2. LncRNA HOTAIR and its function in chromatin dyamics and gene sielncing	18
1.4.3. LncRNAs and neural development	19
1.5. Conclusion	21
CHAPTER 2	23
ENDOCRINE DISRUPTING CHEMICAL, BISPHENOL-A, INDUCES BREAST	CANCER
ASSOCIATED GENE HOXB9 EXPRESSION IN VITRO AND IN VIVO	23
2.1 Introduction	23
2.2. Experimental procedure	24
2.2.1. Cell culture and treatment with estradiol (E2) and BPA	25
2.2.2. RNA extraction cDNA synthesis, RT-PCR and RT-qPCR	28
2.2.3. Chromatin Immunoprecipitation assay (ChIP assay)	33
2.2.4. Dual luciferase reporter assay	
2.2.5. Animal studies	41
2.3. Results	46
2.3.1. HOXB9 is overexpressed in breast and other types of cancer	46
2.3.2. HOXB9 is induced by BPA in breast cancer cells and in mammary gland tissue of	
ovariectomized (OVX) rats	46
2.3.3. HOXB9 promoter EREs are responsive to BPA	50
2.3.4. Estrogen-receptors (ERs) and ER-coregulators are enriched at the HOXB9 promoter	upon
treatment with BPA	52
2.4. Discussion	55

CHAPTER 3
HYPOXIA INDUCES EXPRESSION OF LONG NONCODING RNA HOTAIR60
3.1. Introduction
3.2. Experimental Procedure
3.2.1. Cell culture and hypoxia treatment
3.2.2. RNA extraction, cDNA synthesis, RT-PCR, and real-time PCR (qPCR)
3.2.3. Protein extraction and Western blotting
3.2.4. Dual-luciferase reporter assay
3.2.5. Chromatin immunoprecipitation assay (ChIP)
3.2.6. Antisense-mediated knockdown of HIF1 $\alpha$ and MLL1
3.2.7. Statistical analysis
3.3. Results
3.3.1. HOTAIR expression is upregulated under hypoxic environment
3.3.2. HOTAIR promoter contains functional hypoxia response element
3.3.3. HIF1α is essential for hypoxia-mediated upregulation of HOTAIR
3.3.4. Histone H3K4-methylases, and histone acetyl-transferases are enriched at the HOTAIR
promoter under hypoxia
3.4. Discussion
CHAPTER 4
TRANSCRIPTIONAL REGULATION OF BRAIN DERIVED NEUROTROPHIC FACTOR (BDNF
VIA LNCRNA HOTAIR AND ESTRADIOL
4.1. Introduction
4.2. Experimental procedure

4.2.1. Cell culture	91
4.2.2. Treatment with 17β-estradiol	91
4.2.3. Treatment with EZH2 Inhibitor	92
4.2.4. RNA extraction, cDNA synthesis, RT-PCR and RT-qPCR	92
4.2.5. Whole cell protein/histone extraction and Western blotting	93
4.2.6. Chromatin Immunoprecipitation Assay	94
4.2.7. Antisense-mediated knockdown of HOTAIR	94
4.2.8. Statistical analysis	95
4.3. Results	97
4.3.1. HOTAIR knockdown leads to increased BDNF expression	97
4.3.2. Inhibition of EZH2 induces BDNF expression	99
4.3.3. PRC2 and LSD1 bind to the BDNF promoter in an HOTAIR dependent manner	.101
4.3.4. Estradiol induces BDNF expression in HT22 cells	.104
4.3.5. ERs, MLL-histone methylases, and histone acetylases are enriched at the BDNF promote	r upon
E2-mediated BDNF gene activation	.104
4.3.6. E2 facilitates the sequestration of silencing machienary by derecruiting EZH2, LSD1 and	l
altering histone methylation and acetylation levels	.110
4.4. Discussion	.113
REFERENCES	.119
BIOGRAPHICAL INFORMATION	.174

# List of Illustrations

Figure 1. Genomic organization and colinear expression patterns of Drosophila HOM genes and human
HOX genes
Figure 2. The multifaceted mechanisms of estradiol and estrogen receptor signaling
Figure 3. The classical mechanisms of hormonal and EDC-mediated genomic signaling pathway100
Figure 4. The 'non-genomic pathway' of EDC action may occur through membrane ERs located in the
cytoplasmic membrane
Figure 5. Cross-cancer analysis of copy number alterations and mutations in HOXB9 based on
cBioPortal database47
Figure 6. Effects of BPA on HOXB9 expression <i>in vitro</i> and <i>in vivo</i>
Figure 7. HOXB9 promoter EREs are responsive to BPA treatment
Figure 8. E2 and BPA-dependent recruitment of ER and ER-coregulators at the HOXB9 promoter54
Figure 9. Model showing the roles of ER, MLL and other ER-coregulators in E2 and BPA-mediated
upregulation of HOXB9
Figure 10. HOTAIR expression is induced by hypoxia in tumor cells
Figure 11. Effects of CoCl <sub>2</sub> -treatment on HOTAIR expression
Figure 12. Hypoxia modulates the expression of HOTAIR-regulated target genes74
Figure 13. HOTAIR promoter HREs are responsive to hypoxia treatment
Figure 14. HIF1a binds to hypoxia-responsive elements of the HOTAIR promoter under hypoxic
conditions78
Figure 15. Effect of HIFs on the expression of HOTAIR in CCL228 cells under hypoxia
Figure 16. Hypoxia-induced recruitment of MLL-histone methylases and p300 at the promoter of
HOTAIR

Figure 17. Roles of MLL1 in hypoxia-induced expression of HOTAIR
Figure 18. Mechanism of regulation of HOTAIR gene expression under hypoxia
Figure 19. HOTAIR knockdown increases BDNF expression
Figure 20. EPZ005687 induces transcriptional activation of BDNF in HT22 cell lines
Figure 21. Derecruitment of LSD1 and EZH2 levels and other associated histone marks at the BDNF
promoter upon HOTAIR knockdown
Figure 22. Effects of E2 on BDNF expression <i>in vitro</i>
Figure 23. E2 -dependent recruitment of ERs at the BDNF promoter
Figure 24. Recruitment of MLL-histone methylase, CBP/p300 and associated histone marks at the
promoter of BDNF upon exposure to E2109
Figure 25. E2 derecruits EZH2 and LSD1 and alters and associated histone marks at the promoter of
BDNF
Figure 26. Mechanism of regulation of lncRNA and E2-mediated BDNF gene expression

# List of Tables

Table 1.	Examples of well-known EDCs, their structures, sources, and potential health impacts9	)
Table 2.	Nucleotide sequence of primers	;
Table 3.	Nucleotide sequence of antisense and primers	)
Table 4.	Nucleotide sequence of primers	; )

HOX	Homeobox genes					
E2	17β-estradiol					
ERs	Estrogen receptor					
ERE	Estrogen response element					
AP1	Activation protein-1					
SP1	Specific-protein 1					
NCOR	Nuclear receptor co-repressor					
HDAC	Histone deacetylase					
HAT	Histone acetylase					
CBP	CREB-binding protein					
PRC2	Polycomb repressive complex 2					
BDNF	Brain-derived neurotrophic factor					
OXT	Oxytocin					
BPA	Bisphenol-A					
ChIP	Chromatin Immunoprecipitation					
DEPC	Diethyl pyrocarbonate					
DES	Diethylstilbestrol					
DMEM	Dulbecco's modified eagle's medium					
DTT	Dithiothreitol					
EDTA	Ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid					
FBS	Fetal bovine serum					
HOTAIR	HOX antisense intergenic RNA					
LncRNA	Long non-coding RNA					
MLL	Mixed lineage leukemia					
MMLV	Moloney murine leukemia virus					
NR	Nuclear receptor					
PBS	Phosphate buffered saline					
PMSF	Phenylmethanesulfonylfluoride					
PR	Progesterone receptor					
RA	Retinoic acid					
RAR	Retinoic acid receptor					
HIF	Hypoxia inducible factors					
VHL	Von-Hippel Lindau tumor suppressor gene					
HRE	Hypoxia Response Element/Hormone response element					
FIH-1	Factor inhibiting HIF-1					
PHD	Proline hydroxylase					
RNAPII	RNA polymerase II					
RT-PCR	Reverse Transcriptase Polymerase Chain Reaction					
qPCR	Quantitative Polymerase Chain Reaction					
SDS-PAGE	Sodium Dodecyl Sulfate Polyacrylamide Gel Electrophoresis					
SRC-1	Steroid Receptor Coactivator-1					
SUZ12	Suppressor of Zeste 12 Homolog					
RbAp46/48	Retinoblastoma Associated Protein 46/48					
EED	Embryonic Ectoderm Development					

EZH2	Enhancer of Zeste homolog 2
LSD1	Lysine-Specific Demethylase-1
OVX	Ovariectomized
snRNAs	Small nuclear RNAs
snoRNAs	Small nucleolar RNAs
tRNAs	Transfer RNAs
TSSRNAs	Transcription start-site-associated RNAs
PASRs	Promoter-associated small RNAs
PROMPTS	S Promoter upstream transcripts
AP-axis	Anterio-posterior axis
RXR	Retinoid X receptor
SMRT	Silencing mediator of retinoic acid
VDR	Vitamin D receptor
VDRE.	Vitamin D response element
NGF	Nerve growth factor
NT3/4	Neurotrophin 3/4
FGF-2	Fibroblast growth factor
TGF	Transforming Growth Factor
VEGF	Vascular endothelial growth factors
EPO	Erythropoietin
CNTF	Ciliary neurotrophic factor
LIF	Leukemia inhibitory factor
rRNA	Ribosomal RNA
tRNA	Transfer RNA
piRNA	Piwi-interacting RNA
eRNA	Enhancer RNA
UCA1	Urothelial Carcinoma Associated 1
ERR	Estrogen-related receptors
AS-RNA	Antisense RNA
REST	RE1-Silencing Transcription factor
ERK	Extracellular signal-regulated kinase
PAH	Polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons
PCB	Polychlorinated biphenyl
PBB	Polybrominated biphenyls
HPG	Hypothalamus pituitary gonadal
HOTAIR	Homeobox transcript antisense RNA

#### CHAPTER 1

#### ENDOCRINE REGULATION OF HOX GENES AND NEUROTRANSMITTERS

### 1.1 Introduction

The endocrine system is the collection of glands that produces hormones which regulate diverse cellular and physiological functions including metabolism, growth, development, reproduction, sleep, mood and others. Hormones are molecules that are produced in one cellular location in an organism, and whose effects are seen in another tissue or cell type. Hormones can be peptides, proteins or steroids. The protein hormones do not enter the cell, but bind to receptors in the cell membrane and mediate gene expression through intermediate molecules. Steroids homrones do enter inside the cell and interact with steroid receptors and trigger downstream signaling and gene expression. Secretion of hormones is regulated by a system of sensing elements possessing the means to detect the need for both increased and decreased secretion. The particular sensing network, feedback elements, and network of control responses are unique for each hormone. Hormonal pathways maintain homeostasis and adjustments in secretion usually result in changes that will help maintain the status quo.

## 1.2 Homeobox (HOX) genes

The family of HOX gene consists of 4 to 48 members per genome depending on the animal. HOX genes are involved in patterning of AP axis of the body in nearly all metazoans.<sup>1</sup> The development of embryo is under the control of the HOX gene family that results in different segmental identities in developing embryos. It is well known that clustered organization of HOX genes determine positional identities of different segments in the embryo. Different structural segments in embryos are arranged in a collinear fashion in accordance with the relative position of the genes within the cluster.<sup>2</sup> HOX genes guide development in higher animals following many principles. 1) Spatial collinearity: 5'-HOX genes are linked to more posterior and caudal structures,<sup>3</sup> while 3'-HOX gene expression are necessary for normal oesophagus development.<sup>4</sup> 2) Posterior prevalence: 5'-located HOX genes will have a more dominant phenotype than 3'-located HOX genes.<sup>5</sup> 3) Temporal collinearity: 3' located HOX genes in the cluster are expressed earlier than 5' located HOX genes.<sup>6</sup> Overall, HOX gene expression critically guides the developmental processes.

### 1.2.1. Key features of HOX genes

HOX genes code for transcription factors that contain a characteristic homeodomain through which they recognize the promoters of target genes and regulate their expressions.<sup>7</sup> The homeodomain is a highly conserved DNA-binding domain (homeobox) that is made up of 62-amino acid motif and hence the name homeobox genes or HOX genes.<sup>2</sup> They are known as HOM genes in non-human vertebrate whereas HOX genes in humans.<sup>2</sup> Mutation of HOX genes in *Drosophila melanogaster* results in irreversible homeotic transformations of specific segments along AP axis.<sup>8,9</sup> In the fly, Drosophila melanogaster, HOM complex (HOM-C) is made up of 2 separate clusters encoding Antennapedia (Antp) and bithorax complex (BX-C).<sup>10,11,9,12,13,14</sup> The genes arranged on these clusters are successively expressed along the AP axis of the developing embryo and contribute to the development. The group of genes that belong to these clusters include labial (lab), proboscipedia (pb), deformed (dfd), sex combs reduced (scr), antennapedia (anp), ultrabithorax (ubx), and abdominal-A (abd-A) (Figure 1).<sup>14</sup> Most vertebrates have 39 homeobox containing genes arranged in four clusters: A, B, C and D.<sup>15</sup> These genes are located on chromosomes 6, 11, 15, and 2, respectively, in mice and 7, 17, 12, and 2, respectively, in humans.<sup>2,14</sup> HOX gene family members have been subdivided into 13 groups/subfamilies according to

the chromosomal order of alignment which shows a great potential for functional redundancy and similarities.<sup>2</sup> Such highly related group of genes is known as paralogs. Paralogous HOX genes are shown in the form of schematic representations in Figure 1.

#### 1.2.2. Functional significance of HOX genes in development and cancer

HOX gene expression is critical for embryonic development. They are expressed in a cluster and the genes expressed in the anterior end of the cluster overlap with the posterior domain of the adjacent gene on the chromosome and the posterior gene expression dictates the positional identity.<sup>16</sup> The HOX genes are also expressed in the "secondary axes" of the embryo, the limbs and developing genitalia, as well as in many other developing tissues.<sup>17,18</sup> HOX genes are critical for the development of hindbrain region of the vertebrate nervous system,<sup>19,20</sup> the reproductive tract and other organs.<sup>21,22,23,24,25,26</sup> The continuous expression of HOX genes in reproductive tract in adults accounts for various changes in the endometrial receptivity during pregnancy.

Beyond their crucial roles in embryonic development, increasing eveidences suggest that HOX genes expression is deregulated in various forms of cancers.<sup>27</sup> Aberrant expression of HOX genes deregulate cancer signaling pathways contributing to tumor growth.<sup>27</sup> HOX genes may be associated with transcriptional activation and repression of target genes.<sup>28</sup> HOX gene expression may favor oncogenic or tumor suppression functions. Our laboratory and many others have shown that HOX gene expression in tumors is altered *via* DNA methylation and histone modification.<sup>29,30,31,32,33</sup> HOX genes deregulation has been linked to a variety of cancers including prostate, breast, oesophageal, lung, colon, neuroblastoma, thyroid, ovarian, bladder, kidney, and leukemia.<sup>34,27,35,36,37,38,39,40</sup> For example, several HOX genes encoding HOXA6, HOXA13, HOXB2, HOXB4, HOXB5, HOXB6, HOXB7, HOXB8, HOXB9, HOXC5, HOXC9, HOXC13, HOXD1, and HOXD8 are aberrantly expressed in breast cancer.<sup>39</sup> HOXC4, HOXC5, HOXC6, and HOXC8 genes are overexpressed in malignant prostate cancer



Figure 1. Genomic organization and colinear expression patterns of Drosophila HOM genes and human HOX genes.<sup>43</sup>

Although more 3' HOX genes are expressed in the rostral and anterior regions of the body axis, the more 5' HOX genes are expressed caudally and in more posterior regions. For each HOX domain of expression, the colored fields represent the characteristically well-defined anteriormost limits of expression. Posteriorly in each domain the HOX expression levels fade so that the boundaries of each expression domain overlap in more caudal regions.

cell lines and lymph node metastases.<sup>27</sup> HOXA9, HOXA13, HOXB13, HOXD13, and HOXC11 genes are critical for embryological development of the prostate gland, whereas HOXC4, HOXC5, HOXC8, HOXB13, and HOXA9 are aberrantly expressed during prostate carcinogenesis.<sup>37</sup> Studies from the Mandal laboratory have shown that HOXB9 regulates expression of growth and angiogenic factors, facilitates tumor growth *in vitro*, and is overexpressed in breast cancer tissue.<sup>35,36</sup> However, I have specifically investigated the estradiol-mediated transcriptional regulation of HOXB9 and its potential endocrine disruption by EDCs in breast cancer cells and *in vivo*. Notably, due to their tissue specific expression patterns, HOX genes are also being explored as potential diagnostic biomarkers and targets for novel cancer therapy.

# 1.2.3. Endocrine regulation of HOX genes and the mechanism

The process of organogenesis and functional differentiation in the reproductive tract has long been linked with sex steroids.<sup>40</sup> Since HOX genes are related to segmental identity, understanding the sex steroid-mediated regulation of HOX genes is important. Several studies have shown that sex steroids are important regulators of differential HOX gene expression leading to the functional downstream effects such as maturation of endometrium.<sup>41</sup> Alteration of HOX gene expression leads to reproductive tract anomalies and reproductive failure.<sup>41</sup> HOX gene expression in reproductive tracts and associated cancer is highly influenced by steroid hormones. For example, HOXA5 expression in the ovary vary at different stages of the estrous cycle and gestation and this suggests that HOXA5 is regulated by ovarian steroid hormones such as estradiol.<sup>41</sup> HOXB7 is involved in a variety of developmental processes, including hematopoietic differentiation and lymphoid and mammary gland development.<sup>42</sup> HOXB7 expression is significantly elevated in both the primary cancer and distant metastasis.<sup>42</sup> HOXB7

expression is regulated by estrogen and this action is dependent on the presence of a functional ER $\alpha$ .<sup>42</sup> Our laboratory has also demonstrated that HOXC6, HOXC10, and HOXC13 are transcriptionally regulated by estrogen.<sup>29,30</sup> Overall, it is evident that HOX gene expressions are transcriptionally regulated by steroid hormones and this is important for deveolment of reproductive organs, reproduction and also in endocrine disorders including breast, prostate, and ovarian cancers.

Steroid hormones (such as estradiol or E2) mediated gene expression may follow diverse mechanisms: genomic and non-genomic pathways. The genomic mechanisms may also follow two different pathways. 1) Direct mode: E2-liganded estrogen-receptors (ER) bind directly to an estrogen response element (ERE) present in the target gene promoters. ER-binding allows the recruitment of coactivator proteins and components of the RNA polymerase II machineries resulting in transcription activation. 2) Indirect mode: Liganded ER gets recruited to the target gene promoters via interaction with other DNA-bound transcription factors such as activation protein-1 (AP1), specific-protein 1 (SP1) or nuclear factor K $\beta$  (NF-K $\beta$ ) and coorindate the process of transcription activation (Figure 2).<sup>40</sup> In the non-genomic signaling pathway, E2 activates membrane associated forms of ER and triggers intracellular signal transduction pathways that results in rapid ER-signaling and tissue responses.<sup>40</sup> My studies are directed towards the investigation of the epigenetic mechanism of expression of HOXB9 by estradiol and estrogenic EDC like BPA.

#### 1.2.4. Endocrine disruptors: Mechanism of action and impacts on health

Endocrine disrupting chemicals (EDCs) are those chemicals that mimic natural hormones in the body which interfere with normal hormone signaling pathways resulting in adverse physiological and developmental impacts.<sup>44</sup> Adverse health impacts include birth defects, diabetes, cancers, endometrial





1) Genomic ER pathways which include: a) classical ERE-dependent pathways, E2-ER complexes bind to EREs in target promoters leading to an up- or downregulation of gene transcription and subsequent tissue responses; b) ERE-independent pathway, E2-ER complexes alter transcription of genes containing alternative response elements such as AP-1 through association with other DNA-bound transcription factors (Fos/Jun), which tether the activated ER to DNA, resulting in an upregulation of gene expression whereas several genes containing GC-rich promoter sequences are activated via an ER-SP1 complex; 2) Non-genomic pathways: a) ligand-independent pathways, growth factors (GF) or cyclic adenosine monophosphate (not shown) activate intracellular kinase pathways, leading to phosphorylation (P) and activation of ER at ERE-containing promoters in a ligand-independent manner; b) Cell-surface (nongenomic) signaling, E2 activates a putative membrane-associated binding site, possibly a form of ER linked to intracellular signal transduction pathways that generate rapid tissue responses. hyperplasia, secondary sexual developmental changes, fetal neurobehavioral alterations, obesity, early puberty, abnormal reproduction, autism, cancer and increased risk of cardiovascular, immunological and neurological disorders. EDC exposure may come from a variety of sources including commonly used medicine, herbicides, pesticides, biocides, heat stabilizers, chemical catalysts, plastic contaminants, pharmaceuticals, petroleum by-products, dietary components and many others.<sup>44</sup> EDCs may have synthetic or natural origin that include xenoestrogens,<sup>45</sup> environmental hormones,<sup>46</sup> hormonally active agents, and other environmental agents. Examples of well know EDCs include BPA, DES, pesticides like methoxychlor, herbicides like atrazine, polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAH), pesticides, PCBs, polybrominated biphenyls (PBBs), dioxins, some drugs (e.g., antiepileptic drugs), plasticizers (phthalates), dichlorodiphenyltrichloroethane (DDT), fungicides (vinclozolin), and heavy metals (Table 1).<sup>47</sup>

#### 1.2.5. Mechanism of action of EDC

#### 1.2.5.1. Interference in nuclear receptor mediated cell signaling

EDC mimics hormones and therefore, their actions are likely mediated via involvement of diverse types of receptors- nuclear hormone receptors (NR), non-nuclear steroid hormone receptors (*e.g.*, membrane ERs), nonsteroid receptors (*e.g.*, neurotransmitter receptors), orphan receptors, and other enzymatic pathways involved in biosynthesis and metabolism.<sup>47</sup> In general, during NR-signaling, signaling molecules (ligands) bind to their cognate NRs and activate them and induce specific cell signaling pathways that exert a wide variety of different cellular and metabolic responses including NR target gene expression.<sup>48</sup> In a classical mechanism of genomic mode of hormone signaling, upon binding to the ligand, receptors undergo conformational change and get activated (Figure 3A and 3B). Activated NRs migrate into the nucleus and bind to the target gene promoters. Along with NRs, a variety of NR-coregulators (coactivators and corepressors) are also recruited to the promoter.

Table 1. Ex	amples	of well-known	EDCs,	their	structures,	sources,	and	potential	health	impacts
-------------	--------	---------------	-------	-------	-------------	----------	-----	-----------	--------	---------

EDC	Structure	Source	Health Impacts	References
Bisphenol A	HO Bisphenol A	Foods, plastics, and dental sealants	Obesity, early puberty. miscarriage	32,49,50
Diethylstilbesterol	HO CUCCO Diethylel (bestrol	Pharmaceuticals, feed additive for cattle, poultry, and sheep	Clear cell adenocarcinoma (CCA), Reproductive tract structural pregnancy complications, infertility	51,52,53
DDT		Paints, plastics, rubber products, dyes, carbonless copy paper	Premature birth, decrease in semen quality, congenital hypothyroidism, shorter menstrual cycles, breast cancer	54,55,56
Methoxychlor	CI CI CI CI Methorychlor	Pesticide	Loss of body weights, prolonged estrous cycles, reduced fertility, cystic ovary, reduced sperm counts, and altered reproductive organ weights	57,58,59
Genistein	enistein		Reproductive health of developing fetus, brain effects include alteration of social and sexual behavior, modulates adult hypothalamic– pituitary–gonadal (HPG) axis function	60,61,62
Pthalate	Pthalate		Neurodegeneration, DNA damage, decreased heart cell membrane fluidity, increased cholesterol content, protein and lipid oxidation in heart cells	63,64,65
Vinclozolin CI CI CI Vinclozolin		A fungicide used to control various plant diseases	Reduced sperm count and motility, hypercholesterolemia, kidney and prostate disease, abnormal immune system function, cancer	66 67 68
TCDD	CI CI 2,3,7,8- Tetrachlorodibe	Detergents, plastic clothes, soaps, shampoos, nail polishes	Affects the reproductive system	69,70,71
Permethrin		Insecticide used in agriculture	DNA damage, decreased heart cell membrane fluidity, increased cholesterol content, and protein and lipid oxidation in heart cells.	72,73,74
Atrazine		Herbicede that controls crops (corn) and is used on turfs and lawns,	Feminization of gonads in males, abortion, impaired mammary and neural development, cancer, immune function suppression	75,76,77



Figure 3. The classical mechanisms of hormonal and EDC-mediated genomic signaling pathway.<sup>87</sup>

A) In the absence of natural hormone, NR is located in the cytoplasm in a complex with chaperones. Upon hormone-binding, NR dimerizes, translocates to the nucleus binds to hormone response element (HREs) present at the promoter of NR-target genes. NR-co-regulators are recruited that remodel the promter and induces transcription of target genes. B) In the 'genomic pathway' of EDC signaling, EDCs, which mimic the action of natural hormones, compete with them for binding to the cognate NRs and initiate NR-signaling with the recruitment of coregulators and thus alter the transcription of target genes.

Coactivators and coregulators may include variety of chromatin modifying enzymes including histone acetyl transferases, histone deacetylases, histone methylases and demethylases, DNA methylase and demethylases. Upon recruitment of these NR-coregulators, the histone and DNA in the promoter gets modified and remodel the chromatin leading to gene activation/silencing. EDCs being structurally similar to the natural ligands of NRs, compete with natural substrates and bind to NRs.

Similar to estrogen, upon binding to EDC, NRs also get activated and recruited to NR-target gene promoters along with NR-coregulators, modify and remodel chromatins, alter the epigenetic states of the chromatin and ultimately result in abnormal NR-target gene expression. Precisely, EDCs may directly compete and bind to NR ligand binding domains or may also interact via allosteric mechanism. EDCs may displace  $\alpha$ -helices forming the ligand-binding domain (LBD) of nuclear receptors differently,<sup>78</sup> and this decides its ability to act as agonist/antagonist. EDCs can affect steroid hormone signaling via interfering with other pathways such as targeted degradation of NRs,<sup>79,80</sup> and also via activation of non-genomic pathways through membrane ERs (Figure 4).

## 1.2.6. Bisphenol-A (BPA) and its health impacts

The prototypical endocrine disrupter, BPA is an estrogenic chemical produced in large quantities for use primarily in the production of polycarbonate and epoxy resins.<sup>81,82</sup> Humans are widely exposed to BPA, a common component of plastics used to contain food products and in dental composite resins. BPA is a purported endocrine disruptor, first recognized as such, when it leached from polycarbonate laboratory flasks and confounded an estrogenicity assay.<sup>83,84</sup> The potential hazards that may stem from exposure to this xenoestrogen and its mechanism of action have not been fully characterized. BPA is known to be much less potent than estradiol with regard to the activation of ER. Various coregulatory factors may differentially alter BPA and E2 activities.<sup>85</sup> Homeodomain- containing proteins are critically



Figure 4. The 'non-genomic pathway' of EDC action may occur through membrane ERs located in the cytoplasmic membrane. <sup>87</sup>

Activation of membrane ERs by EDCs leads to rapid downstream cellular signaling. This induces subsequent stimulation of 2 pathways- a) ERK/MAPK pathway via activation of Shc/Src/Ras/ERK protein cascade or the PI3K/AKT pathway by alteration of PI3K/ILK/AKT/GSK3β cascade expression which in turn may affect the transcription of target genes in the nucleus. The resulting changes cause irregular cellular response which produce adverse effects in humans.

important transcription factors that regulate the expression of multiple genes involved in development and differentiation.<sup>86</sup> Steroidal hormones are closely associated with embryonic growth. BPA is a wellknown estrogenic endocrine disruptor. Once BPA enters in the body, it has potential to bind ERs and interfere with normal estrogen-signaling processes contributing towards various human diseases including reproductive and developmental defects and metabolic disorders.<sup>88,89</sup>

## 1.2.7. Endocrine Disruption of HOX Gene Expression

Alteration of HOX gene expression has been demonstrated to lead to reproductive tract anomalies and reproductive failure.<sup>90</sup> Aberrant regulation of HOX genes likely underlies the mechanism of disruption of natural steroid signaling via certain xeno steroids known as endocrine disrupting chemicals such as BPA or DES. The general population is exposed to a number of hormonally active compounds on a daily basis. More specifically, exposure to estrogenic EDCs during critical stages of differentiation can interfere with the hormonal signaling necessary for normal development and can also result in persistently altered gene expression. Since HOX genes are critical for development and their expression is regulated by estrogen, hence, disturbances in the normal endocrine regulation of HOX genes are purported mechanisms of estrogenic endocrine disruption. The dysregulated HOX gene expression resulting from exposure to EDCs further elucidates the critical role of hormonal regulation of the homeobox genes.

BPA exposure has been shown to alter the HOXC6 and HOXB9 genes.<sup>32,33</sup> Exposure to DES also has been shown to impact expression of HOXC6 and HOXB9 genes.<sup>33</sup> As HOX genes are potential targets of endocrine hormones and hence endocrine disruption, thus, understanding the mechanism and epigenetic impacts of EDCs on HOX gene expression is important and is the subject of my research (chapter 2).

#### 1.3. Neurotransmitters and neurotrophic factors and their functional significance

The study of adult neurogenesis continues to gain momentum as it generates the hope that people with neurological disorders might someday benefit from its study and utilization. Neurogenesis or generation of new neurons continue to occur in adult mammals, including humans, predominantly in the anterior subventricular zone (SVZ) of the lateral ventricle and the subgranular zone (SGZ) of the dentate gyrus in the CNS on each side of the brain.<sup>91</sup> Such neurogenesis can be increased with therapeutic agents such as neurotrophic factors and neurotransmitter drugs. In rodents, new immature neurons, called neuroblasts, migrate through a distinct rostral migratory stream to the olfactory bulb. There, some of the neuroblasts mature and integrate with the neuronal circuitry, whereas others die. These new neurons migrate over a very short distance into the neighboring granule cell layer where some become functioning neurons. The functional significance of the new neurons is becoming clearer and seems to include olfactory function and certain forms of memory.<sup>92,93</sup>

#### 1.3.1. Neurotrophic factors

Proteins that bind to transmembrane receptors have been divided into categories such as neurotrophic factors, cytokines, growth factors etc. Well-known examples of neurotrophic factors include brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF), nerve growth factor (NGF), neurotrophins (NT), vascular endothelial growth factors (VEGFs), the transforming growth factor (TGF). Depending on the cell type or context, many of these proteins can exert a variety of effects on cells, ranging from proliferation to maturation and trophic support. Among the neurotrophins, BDNF is known for its survival-promoting effects on new neuroblasts through the tyrosine receptor kinase  $\beta$  (Trk $\beta$ ) receptor.<sup>94</sup> BDNF and NGF can also act through the common p75 receptor found in the SVZ.<sup>95</sup> NGF also enhances survival of new hippocampal neurons, most likely by increasing cholinergic tone.<sup>96</sup> NT-4 is also known to signal through Trk $\beta$  but does not affect ischemia-increased neurogenesis.<sup>97</sup> NT-3 promotes

hippocampal neurogenesis and the related long-term potentiation (LTP) and spatial memory.<sup>98</sup> Basic fibroblast growth factor or FGF-2 is well-known for its mitotic effects in hippocampal neurogenesis, LTP and memory consolidation, but not spatial memory.<sup>99</sup> TGF family plays an important role in neurogenesis. Additionally, infusion of glial cell-line derived neurotrophic factor (GDNF) into the post-ischemic striatum promotes proliferation, recruitment of neuroblasts into the striatum and survival of new neurons.<sup>100</sup> The angiogenic response to injury is associated with increased levels of various vascular growth factors including vascular endothelial growth factors (VEGFs) and angiopoietin-1 (Ang-1). These proteins directly or indirectly promote survival of newly arrived neuroblasts.<sup>101</sup> These studies reemphasize the complexity of the significance of neurogenesis to cognitive function and serves as a reminder of the translational barriers to humans.

## 1.3.2. Neurotransmitters

Several neurotransmitter systems such as serotonin (5-HT) regulate adult CNS neurogenesis. Neurogenesis can be increased with serotonin reuptake inhibitors such as the antidepressant fluoxetine (Prozac).<sup>102</sup> Dopamine is also known for its effects on neurogenesis. For example, D2 dopamine agonists can increase neurogenesis in mice and in mouse Parkinson models.<sup>103,104</sup> Another monoamine, noradrenaline, probably only plays a role in adult hippocampal neurogenesis. Glutamate also plays a role in neurogenesis. Oxytocin, a neuropeptide acts to protect the hippocampus from the damaging effects of elevated glucocorticoids by promoting neuronal growth.<sup>105</sup> Targeting specific receptor combinations most likely will provide a refined method of directing genesis of appropriate types of neurons and their functional integration.

#### 1.3.3. Neurological disorders and risks

Structural, biochemical or electrical abnormalities in the brain, spinal cord or other nerves can result in a range of neurological disorders including Huntington's disease, muscular dystrophy, Parkinson's disease and Alzheimer's disease, epilepsy, brain tumors, meningitis etc. Examples of symptoms include paralysis, muscle weakness, poor coordination, loss of sensation, seizures, confusion, pain and altered levels of consciousness. There are many recognized neurological disorders, some relatively common, but many rare. Neurological disorders are very complex, and while the causes are semi-known, research is perpetually turning up new contributing factors to the causes of neurological disorders. Certain neurological conditions are caused by deregulation of the cell signaling pathway controlling the expression of neurotrophic factors/ neurotransmitters. In conditions such as dystonia, Huntington's disease, and muscular dystrophy, the recognition of such genes as risk factors has considerable prognostic value. Other neurological conditions result from the interplay of one or more target genes and environmental toxins. Examples include sporadic Alzheimer's disease, epilepsy, multiple sclerosis, and Parkinson's disease. Due to the lack of accuracy (due to inadequate sensitivity and/or specificity), therapies to target such susceptibility genes are limited. However, such susceptibility genes such as neurotrophic factors or neurotransmitters are of great interest because they may provide insights into the mechanisms that lead to these complex disorders.

In my study, I have investigated the mechanism of transcriptional regulation of a critical neurotropic factor BDNF using *in vitro* and *in vivo* animal models. In particular, we have investigated the roles of steroid hormone estradiol and a noncoding RNA in transcriptiona regulation of BDNF.

#### 1.4. Noncoding RNA and their roles in gene regulation

Human genome, "the blueprint of life" is huge in size containing more than 3 billion base pairs. Sequencing and analysis revealed that human genome contains about 21000 protein coding genes which occupy less than 2% of the whole human genome.<sup>106,107</sup> The rest of the human genome were considered to be mostly non-functional "Junk DNA".<sup>108</sup> <sup>109</sup> Recently, Encyclopedia of DNA elements (ENOCDE)

project was launched by National Human Genome Research Institute (NHGRI) to investigate the functional relevance of human genome and gain insights into the roles of these non-protein-coding regions present in the human genome and understand in greater detail the transcriptional landscape of the human genome.<sup>110</sup> Interestingly, this project revealed that ~ 80% of the human genome consists of DNA elements that are functional but do not code for proteins.<sup>111,112,113</sup> These DNA elements either code for non-coding RNAs (ncRNAs) that are mostly not translated into proteins, or regulatory DNAs elements that are interaction sites for various proteins and transcription factors that in turn regulate transcription.<sup>114,115</sup> The discovery of ncRNA from the so-called "Junk DNA" region of the genome made the junk DNA as the "Gold Mine" for biomedical researcher and for the discovery of the mechanism of disease pathogenesis, potential biomarkers and even treatment of disease with genomic medicine. Many of these ncRNAs are processed, released into the blood stream and even excreted in the urine. Though detailed functions of most ncRNA are yet to be discovered, they appear to play crucial roles in chromosome dynamics, gene regulation, mRNA processing, splicing, translation, cell differentiation and development and many others. Misregulation by ncRNA has been found to be increasingly associated with variety of human diseases including cancer, cardiovascular diseases, neurological and immunological disorders.

The ncRNAs have been classified into three subgroups on the basis of their size.<sup>114,116</sup> NcRNAs that are ~ 20-50 nucleotides (nt) in length are called as short ncRNAs.<sup>117</sup> Intermediate/medium ncRNAs are 50-200 nt long and long ncRNAs (lncRNA) are >200 nt long.<sup>118,119,120,121,122</sup> Examples of short ncRNAs include microRNA (miRNA), small interfering RNA (siRNA), piwi-interacting RNA (piRNA), and transcription initiating RNA (tiRNA).<sup>122</sup> Small nuclear RNAs (snRNAs), small nucleolar RNA (snoRNA), transfer RNA (tRNA), ribosomal RNA (rRNA), transcription start site associated RNA (TSSaRNA), promoter associated small RNAs (PASRs) and promoter upstream transcripts (PROMPTs)

are examples of medium sized ncRNAs.<sup>114,123,124,125</sup> Examples of lncRNA are long-intergenic noncoding RNA (lincRNA), transcribed ultra-conserved RNAs (T-UCRs) and various other long noncoding RNAs.<sup>114,123,124,125</sup>

### 1.4.1. Long- noncoding RNA

LncRNAs have been shown to control every level of the multi-level regulated gene expression pathway.<sup>126</sup> For example, they have long been implicated in post-transcriptional gene regulation through controlling processes like protein synthesis, RNA maturation and transport, and very recently, in transcriptional gene silencing through regulating the chromatin structure.<sup>127,128</sup> Structurally different RNAs engage in diverse mechanisms that lead to different regulatory outcomes. Some of the lncRNAs converge on chromatin structure to silence multiple genes located on the overlapping and non-overlapping sides. They interact with DNA and/or chromatin-modifying proteins and recruit them to their target regions. The exact physical association between these lncRNAs and chromatin modifiers and/or gene promoter chromatin remains to be elucidated.

### 1.4.2. LncRNA HOTAIR and its function in chromatin dyamics and gene sielncing

HOTAIR is a 2.2 kb long lncRNA that is transcribed from antisense strand of HOXC gene cluster present in chromosome 12.<sup>129</sup> Like protein coding genes, HOTAIR is transcribed by RNA polymerase II, spliced, polyadenylated and 5'-capped.<sup>88,114,130,131</sup> HOTAIR was originally discovered based on tiling microarray analysis by Rinn *et al.* in 2007 and they showed that HOTAIR is located at the HOXC locus in chromosome 12, flanked by HOXC12 and HOXC11.<sup>129</sup> Strand specific reverse transcriptase PCR analysis confirmed that HOTAIR is transcribed in an antisense manner with respect to HOXC genes.<sup>129</sup> HOTAIR was the first lncRNA to be discovered to regulate gene expression *in trans* fashion. HOTAIR leads to transcriptional repression of HOXD locus genes present in chromosome

2, including HOXD8, HOXD9, HOXD10 and HOXD11.<sup>129</sup> However, it does not affect the transcription of HOXC cluster genes present in chromosome 12, where HOTAIR is actually coded.<sup>129</sup> HOTAIR knockout mice studies have shown that there is a de-repression of numerous genes, resulting in homeotic transformation of the spine, loss of vertebral boundary specification during development and malformation of metacarpal–carpal bones.<sup>132</sup>

HOTAIR is a scaffold lncRNA that bridges two complexes, polycomb repressive complex 2 (PCR2) and the LSD1/REST/CoREST-complex, both of which are associated with gene silencing.<sup>133,134</sup> Each complex contains a number of subunits, one of which is an enzyme enhancer of zeste homologue 2 (EZH2), which confers methyl transferase activity to PRC2.<sup>135,136</sup> This enzyme is capable of introducing mono-, di- and tri-methyl groups at the H3K27, to yield H3K27me, H3K27me2, and H3K27me3, methyl marks associated with heterochromatin.<sup>137,138,139</sup> Lysine specific demethylase 1 (LSD1) confers demethylase activity to the RE1-silencing transcription factor (REST/CoREST) complex.<sup>133,140</sup> This enzyme demethylates di- and mono- methylated H3K4 to yield demethylated H3K4, a methyl mark associated with an active state of chromatin.<sup>141,142,143,144</sup> In my studies (chapter 4), I have investigated the contribution of HOTAIR/PRC2/LSD1 in BDNF gene silencing and neuroprotection.

#### 1.4.3. LncRNAs and neural development

Multiple studies have implicated non-coding RNAs in brain development and function. Dynamic expression of lncRNAs has been observed in human-induced-pluripotent stem cells (iPSCs),<sup>145</sup> and human embryonic stem (ES) cells during neuronal differentiation.<sup>146</sup> Neurogenesis-associated lncRNAs were found to associate directly with SUZ12 (a component of the polycomb repressive complex 2, PRC2), REST and SOX2 (a pluripotency-associated TF) suggesting that lncRNAs may act as guides for these proteins. Importantly, knockdown of these lncRNAs by RNAi has been shown to result in impaired neuronal differentiation, suggesting that lncRNAs are critical regulators of neurogenesis.<sup>146</sup>

The importance of lncRNAs in the brain is exemplified by their involvement in the maintenance of pluripotency, neuroectodermal differentiation, neuronal-glial cell fate determination, neuron-specific relaxation of epigenetic imprinting, repression of neural genes in non-neural cells, brain tissue patterning and synaptogenesis.<sup>147</sup> The involvement of lncRNAs in neurodegenerative, neurodevelopmental and neuropsychiatric disorders, and in brain cancers further underlines their importance in CNS development and function. LncRNAs may either themselves drive or mediate the disease pathophysiology (as in the case of *ATXN80S* and *FMR4*), or they may regulate the expression of disease-associated genes (as in the case of *BACE1-AS*). The detailed functions of lncRNA in different neurological disorders are yet to be revealed. I have hypothesized and hence, explored that lncRNAs may also be involved in expression of BDNF gene in the hippocampus (Chapter 4).<sup>147</sup>

## 1.4.4. LncRNAs and hypoxia signaling

Both excessive and insufficient levels of oxygen are detrimental to cell biology, and so cells have developed tightly coordinated homeostatic mechanisms to respond to altered oxygen concentration. Chief amongst these is the regulation of gene expression by the hypoxia-inducible factors (HIFs).<sup>148</sup> HIFs are heterodimers containing a regulated HIF- $\alpha$  subunit (HIF1 $\alpha$ , HIF2 $\alpha$  or HIF3 $\alpha$ ) and a constitutive  $\beta$ -subunit (HIF1 $\beta$  also called aryl hydrocarbon nuclear translocator, ARNT).<sup>149</sup> HIF1 and HIF2 regulate distinct but overlapping transcriptional profiles comprising many hundreds of protein-coding genes that act to restore oxygen levels by reducing oxygen demand and increasing oxygen delivery. Lack of oxygen or tissue hypoxia is a key feature of many of the major causes of myocardial and cerebral ischemia, and cancer.<sup>150,151</sup> There are multiple lines of evidence linking tumor hypoxia and the consequent HIF activation with an aggressive phenotype in cancer.<sup>152</sup>

Hypoxia regulated expression of protein coding genes have been well investigated and many of these signaling pathways are major targets for cancer therapy. However, the significance of the impacts
of hypoxic signaling on noncoding RNA expression has mostly remained unexplored. As ncRNAs, especially lncRNAs are abundant in cells and major players in cancer, it is important to understand their roles and regulation under tumor microenvironment, such as hypoxia. In my study (chapter 3), I have investigated the transcriptional regulatory mechanism of lncRNA HOTAIR under hypoxia. Notably, many lncRNA expressions are found to be altered under hypoxia. These include lncRNA LET, H19, and p21.<sup>153,154,155</sup> While these lncRNAs could be induced either directly or indirectly by HIF (or indeed in some cases by non-HIF-mediated mechanisms), there is good evidence that a number of them are direct transcriptional targets of HIF.<sup>156</sup>

#### 1.5. Conclusion

Understanding the mechanism of gene function and regulation is critical for the development of novel and effective therapy. Gene expression and regulation may be affected by a variety of factors that include homones, genders, nutrients, and environmental factors such as EDCs. HOX genes are critical players in embryonic development and are misregulated in a variety of human diseases including cancer. In my studies, I have investigated the epigenetic mechanism of transcriptional regulation of a homeobox gene, HOXB9 (a critical player in mammary gland development and breast cancer), in the presence of steroid hormone, estradiol. I have also investigated the impact and the mechanism of action of EDC (such as BPA and DES) on HOXB9 expression (Chapter 2). In addition to protein coding genes, I have also investigated the transcriptional regulatory mechanism of an lncRNA, HOTAIR, under hypoxic condition which is a critical driver of tumor growth (Chapter 3). Neurotrophic factors play crucial roles in neuronal growth, maintenance, and repair. They influence growth and maintenance of variety of neurons including dorsal root ganglion neurons, hippocampal, and cortical neurons. On the other hand, expression of neurotrophic factors is reduced in neurological disorders like Alzheimer's,

Parkinson's, and Huntington's diseases and low levels of neurotrphins contribute to neuro-degeneration, affect cognitive abilities, and causes dementia.<sup>157,158,159</sup> Neurotrophin levels may also be affected by a variety of factors that include steroid hormones, physical exercise, electrical simulation, and others. The mechanisms by which expression of neurotrophins is regulated in healthy brain and misregulated in neurological disorders are not clear. Chapter 4 deals with the analysis of the mechanism of BDNF gene regulation and its impacts on neuroprotection. Overall, my studies are aimed towards understanding the mechanism of transcriptional regulation of protein coding genes, neurotransmitters and non-coding RNAs critical to human health and diseases. These studies will have long-term impacts in understanding the mechanism of pathogenesis and in development of novel targets for cancer and neurological disorders.

#### CHAPTER 2

### ENDOCRINE DISRUPTING CHEMICAL, BISPHENOL-A, INDUCES BREAST CANCER ASSOCIATED GENE HOXB9 EXPRESSION *IN VITRO* AND *IN VIVO*

#### 2.1 Introduction

The members of homeobox (HOX) containing gene family represent a subset of evolutionarily conserved transcription factors that play crucial roles in embryonic development.<sup>160,161</sup> HOX genes are expressed not only in embryos but also in various normal adult tissues.<sup>162,163</sup> Expression of HOX genes regulate patterning of the AP axis from the level of the hindbrain to the end of the spine.<sup>164</sup> The HOX gene family comprises of 39 HOX gene members arranged in four different clusters (HOXA-D).<sup>114,160,161,162,163,165</sup> HOXB9, a HOX gene located in chromosome 17, plays key roles in skeletal and mammary gland development.<sup>166</sup> HOXB9 is a direct transcriptional target of WNT/TCF4.<sup>167</sup> HOXB9 is involved in cell proliferation, cell-cycle progression, differentiation, embryonic segmentation, limb patterning and angiogenesis.<sup>167,168,169,170,171,172</sup> HOXB9 acts as a transcription factor and regulates expression of renin, an aspartyl protease that cleaves angiotensinogen into angiotensin I,<sup>173</sup> and hence it is involved in controlling blood pressure, fluid homeostasis, and electrolyte balance.<sup>173</sup> Recently it was also shown that HOXB9 expression confers resistance to ionizing radiation indicating its potential roles in DNA damage response and in maintenance of genomic integrity.<sup>169</sup>

Increasing evidences suggest that HOXB9 expression alterations are associated with variety of cancers, including in breast, head and neck, lung, hepatocellular, colon carcinomas and gliomas.<sup>174,175,176,177</sup> HOXB9 overexpression in breast tumors induces breast cancer metastasis by altering the tumor microenvironment, and promotes disease progression.<sup>168</sup> Infact, HOXB9 expression is

an important prognostic factor in breast cancer which promotes invasiveness, metastatic ability, and tumor neovascularization.<sup>178</sup> The overexpression of HOXB9 in breast cancer and its critical roles in mammary gland development indicates its potential regulation by endocrine hormones such as estradiol. Indeed recent studies from our laboratory demonstrated that HOXB9 is overexpressed in breast cancer tissues, in ER-positive breast cancer cells and it is transcriptionally regulated by estradiol in cultured breast cancer cells (MCF7).<sup>30,35</sup> We found that HOXB9 regulates the expression of growth and angiogenic factors such as vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF), basic fibroblast growth factor (bFGF), transforming growth factor  $\beta$  (TGF $\beta$ ) etc and induces three dimensional (3D) tumor colony formations.<sup>35</sup> The homeodomain of HOXB9 is essential for the transcriptional regulation of tumor growth factors and in 3D colony formation, suggesting the importance of the HOXB9 homeodomain in tumorigenesis.<sup>35</sup>

Since HOXB9 is found to be overexpressed in breast cancers, aides in tumorigenesis and is transcriptionally regulated by E2, we hypothesized that its transcription may also be affected upon exposure to estrogenic endocrine disrupting chemicals (EDCs) and that may contribute towards HOXB9 associated diseases including breast cancers. Notably, endocrine disruptors are a class of compounds that alters the functioning of the endocrine system and leads to adverse health effects and is a major health concern.<sup>179,180,181,182,183,184</sup> In the present study, we analyzed the impact of a well-known estrogenic EDC, bisphenol-A (BPA) [and also estradiol (E2)] in transcriptional regulation of HOXB9 gene *in vitro* and *in vivo*. Our results demonstrate that the HOXB9 gene expression is upregulated upon exposure to BPA in breast cancer cells *in vitro* and also in mammary glands *in vivo*.

#### 2.2. Experimental procedure

#### 2.2.1. Cell culture and treatment with estradiol (E2) and BPA

#### Cell lines:

The estrogen receptor (ER) positive breast carcinoma cells, MCF7 cells were purchased from the <u>American Type Cell Culture Collection</u> (ATCC) and were cultured as described previously by us.<sup>33,88,89,185</sup>

#### Materials used for culturing mammalian cells:

Reagents used for mammalian cell culture include: DMEM Media (Dulbecco's Modified Eagle's Medium, Sigma), phenol-red-free media such as DMEM-F12 Media (Dulbecco's Modified Eagle's Medium/Nutrient Mixture F-12 Ham, Sigma), heat inactivated fetal bovine serum (Sigma) (FBS), 2 mM L-glutamine, 100 units/mL of penicillin and 0.1 mg streptomycin/mL (Sigma), 1X PBS (Phosphate buffer saline), trypsin-EDTA solution, charcoal stripped heat inactivated fetal bovine serum/dextran coated charcoal (Sigma) for stripping of serum, 17β-estradiol (E2) and Bisphenol A (BPA) (Sigma).

#### **Recipes:**

**Cell growth media** (500 mL) used to culture all the cell lines was made using 440 mL DMEM supplemented with 50 mL FBS, 2 mM L-glutamine (5 mL), 100 units/mL penicillin and 0.1 mg streptomycin/mL (5 mL).

Growth media for estrogen-treatments was particalularly made using 440 mL DMEM-F12 supplemented with 50 mL charcoal stripped FBS, 2 mM L-glutamine (5 mL), 100 units/mL penicillin and 0.1 mg streptomycin/mL (5 mL).

**1X PBS solution** was prepared using 137 mM NaCl, 2.7 mM KCl, 10 mM Na<sub>2</sub>HPO<sub>4</sub> and 2 mM KH<sub>2</sub>PO<sub>4</sub>. Adjust pH to 7.4. The solution was sterilized by autoclaving.

#### Procedures for cell culture:

#### Thawing and culturing of MCF7 cells:

- MCF7 cells were grown in 100 x 20 mm tissue culture dishes under normal tissue culture conditions. Cells were thawed and grown in a humidified cell culture incubator (at 37 °C with 5% CO<sub>2</sub>) for at least three generations using regular cell growth media containing DMEM supplemented with 50 mL FBS, 2 mM L-glutamine, 100 units/mL penicillin and 0.1 mg streptomycin/mL.
- It's important to have healthy growing cells for the E2 treatment experiments. Therefore, before
  passaging of the cells, the cell morphology and confluency was repeatedly checked under a light
  microscope.
- 3. The cells were passaged when the confluency reached 80-85%.

#### Passaging of cells:

- Cells were washed 2 times with 5 ml of 1X PBS (pH 7.4), 1 mL of trypsin/EDTA solution was added to trypsinize for 3 min at 37 °C, followed by addition of 5 mL of media. Cells were pipetted up and down to resuspend the cell pellet in the media. 2 mL of resuspended cells was added into three 100 x 20 mm plates.
- 2. 8 mL of extra cell culture containing media was added to each tissue culture dish and made upto a volume of 10 mL. It was made sure that the media covered the entire area of the dish. The cells were transferred to a humidified incubator and maintained at 37 °C with 5% CO<sub>2</sub>.

#### Charcoal stripping of heat inactivated fetal bovine serum:

- 2 g dextran coated activated charcoal (Sigma) was added per 100 mL heat-inactivated FBS, into sterile falcon tube.
- Tubes were placed on a shaker in a 4 °C cold room and stirred for overnight (12 h). Although it
  is difficult to maintain sterile conditions during charcoal stripping, care was taken to avoid
  contamination and to keep the serum at 4 °C.
- 3. Tubes were centrifuged for additional 30 min at 13,000 rpm at 4 °C.
- Gently serum was poured off into new sterile centrifuge tube and centrifuged for another 30 min at 13,000 rpm at 4 °C.
- Gently serum was poured off into new 15 mL falcon tubes and divided into 10 mL aliquots in sterile falcon tube and stored at -80 °C.
- 6. Prior to use, a tube of charcoal-stripped medium was thawed and used immediately to supplement complete medium.
- 7. The medium was filter sterilized using a 0.22  $\mu$ m filter and collected in a sterile bottle and stored at 4 °C.

#### Estrogen and Bisphenol-A treatment of cells:

- 1. For E2 and BPA treatment, MCF7 cells were grown and maintained for at least 3 generations in phenol-red free DMEM-F12 media supplemented with 10% charcoal stripped FBS, 2 mM L-glutamine and 100 units/mL penicillin and 0.1 mg/mL streptomycin (Hormonal starvation).
- 2. The cells were allowed to reach a confluency of about 80–90% confluency (3<sup>rd</sup> generation).
- 3. The cells were then passaged into 60 mm cell culture plates and incubated until the confluency reached 50–60%, followed by treatments with varying concentrations of E2/BPA.

- 4. Prior to the E2/BPA treatment, E2/BPA (stock solution: 100 mM in ethanol) was diluted (using DMEM -F12 media) freshly to yield concentration of 10000 μM (stock solution) and then they were serially diluted to yield concentrations such as 1000 μM, 100 μM, 10 μM, 1 μM, 0.1 μM, 0.01 μM and 0.001 μM.
- To achieve the final concentrations of 1000 nM, 100 nM, 10 nM, 1 nM, 0.1 nM, 0.01 nM and 0.001 nM (i.e. 1000 times dilution), 10 μL of appropriate μM solutions was added to 10 mL of the treatment media.
- 6. Control cells were treated with equally diluted ethanol.
- 7. Cells were incubated for 4 h (or varying time periods as needed).

#### Harvesting of MCF7 cells for RNA and protein extraction:

- 1. The growth medium was removed and disposed off appropriately.
- 2. Cells were washed twice with 10 mL of cold 1X PBS.
- 3. 1mL of 1X PBS (pH 7.4) was added and the cells were scraped in a 1.5 mL microcentrifuge tube.
- 4. The cells were pelleted at 1500 rpm for 10 min at 4  $^{\circ}$ C.
- 5. The PBS was decanted by pipetting it off and the resulting cell pellet was stored at -80 °C before proceeding to the analysis.

#### 2.2.2. RNA extraction cDNA synthesis, RT-PCR and RT-qPCR

#### Materials:

MgCl<sub>2</sub>, KCl, dithiothreitol (DTT), phenylmethanesulfonyl fluoride (PMSF), Tris-HCl, ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid (EDTA), phenol–chloroform–isoamyl alcohol mixture (125: 24: 1, pH 4.5, Sigma) and ethanol (100%) were used for real-time PCR reactions.

#### **Recipes:**

#### **RNA** extraction buffer:

20 mM Tris-HCl, pH 7.9; 1.5 mM MgCl<sub>2</sub>; 10 mM KCl and 0.5 mM dithiothreitol (DTT); diethyl pyrocarbonate (DEPC) treated ultra-pure, nuclease-free water (Sigma) was used for making up the volume.

#### **RNA** extraction protocol:

- 1. The cell pellet was resuspended in RNA extraction buffer, incubated for 10 min on ice and then centrifuged at 3500 rpm for 5 min at 4 °C.
- 2. The supernatant was transferred to a new tube and subjected to phenol-chloroform extraction followed by ethanol precipitation.
- The RNA pellets were air dried to remove the residual ethanol and dissolved in DEPC treated water containing 1 mM EDTA
- 4. RNA concentrations were quantified using nanodrop spectrophotometer.
- 5. The RNA extracts were analyzed by RT-qPCR.

#### Phenol-chloroform extraction and ethanol precipitation for purification of RNA:

 1 volume sample (from which RNA to be purified) was taken and 1 volume of phenol: chloroform: isoamyl alcohol (125: 24: 1, pH 4.5). It was vortexed for 1 min and centrifuged at 10000 rpm for 10 min at 4 °C.

- 2. The upper, aqueous phase was transferred to a fresh tube and 1 volume of chloroform: isoamyl alcohol (24: 1) was added to it.
- 3. It was vortexed for 1 min and centrifuged at 10000 rpm for 10 min at 4 °C.
- 4. The upper, aqueous phase was transferred to a fresh tube. Any transferred chloroform was removed by centrifugation 10 sec at top spin followed by removal of the bottom phase with a micropipette.
- 5. 0.1 volume of 3M Sodium Acetate (pH 5.2) and 1 volume of isopropanol or 2.5 volumes of 95% ethanol was added.
- 6. The above mix was placed in -80 °C for 2 h and centrifuged at 13000 rpm for 25 min at 4 °C.
- 7. The supernatant was removed and the pellet was washed with 1 mL of 70% ethanol. The pellet was air dried (20 min), then resuspended in TE buffer (made in nuclease-free water), RNA was quantified using nanodrop spectrometer and then stored at -80 °C.

#### Reverse-transcription-PCR/cDNA synthesis:

#### Materials:

Oligo dT (Promega), MMLV reverse transcriptase (Promega), 1X first strand buffer (Promega), dNTPs mix containing dATPs, dCTPs, dGTPs and dTTPs (Promega), DTT (Sigma), RNaseOut (Invitrogen) were used for cDNA synthesis.

#### **Recipes:**

RT-2 buffer was made using 100 U of MMLV reverse transcriptase, 1X first strand buffer, 100  $\mu$ M dNTPs mix, 1 mM DTT and 20 U of RNaseOut. The total volume should be made up to 13  $\mu$ L per RT-reaction using DEPC treated ultra-pure, nuclease-free water.

#### *Reverse-transcription/ cDNA synthesis protocol:*

- For reverse transcription/cDNA synthesis, 500 ng of RNA (quantified using Nanodrop spectrophotometer) was mixed with 2.4 μM oligo dT (Promega) in a 12 μL total volume and incubated at 70 °C for 10 min in a thermocycler.
- 2. Then 13  $\mu$ L of RT-2 buffer was added to the RNA and oligo dT mix (12  $\mu$ L) and the final volume was made up to 25  $\mu$ L.
- 3. This mixture was incubated at 37 °C for 1 h for reverse transcription in a thermocycler.
- Thus formed, cDNA product was diluted to 100 μL and that was used for regular PCR and realtime PCR (qPCR) analyses.
- 5. If more than one RNA sample needs to be processed to generate cDNA, one can prepare a master mix containing these components for all the RNA samples at once.

#### Real-time PCR (qPCR) and RT-PCR:

#### Materials:

Sso EvaGreen supermix (Bio-Rad), Taq polymerase, 10X Taq buffer solution containing Mg<sup>2+</sup>, primer pair (forward and reverse) dissolved in TE buffer, dNTPs mix containing dATPs, dCTPs, dGTPs and dTTPs (Promega), 50X TAE buffer, pH 8.0 (Tris-acetate-EDTA), agarose gel were used to perform real-time PCR and RT-PCR.

#### **Recipes:**

#### TE Buffer: 10 mM Tris-HCl, 1 mM EDTA, pH 8.0.

50X stock TAE buffer (Tris-acetate-EDTA buffer) was made using 242 g Tris Base (MW: 121.1), 57.1 mL glacial acetic acid, 100 mL of 0.5M EDTA. Tris base was mixed using stir bar and dissolved in about 600 mL of deionized water. EDTA and acetic acid were added to bring to a final volume of 1 L with deionized water. It was stored at room temperature.

#### Real-time PCR (RT-qPCR) protocol:

- For the qPCR reactions, 3 μL of diluted cDNA or DNA isolated from ChIP chromatin was mixed with 3 μL Sso EvaGreen supermix (Bio-Rad) and 2 μM of primer pair (forward and reverse primers, Table 2, Table 3, Table 4) and final volume was made up to 7 μL.
- 2. PCR reactions were carried out in CFX96 real-time detection system (Bio-Rad) for 50 cycles.
- 3. Each cycle contained following steps:
  - I. 5 sec at 95 °C for denaturation.
  - II. 10 sec at 60 °C for both annealing and elongation, followed by plate read.
- 4. Data analyses were performed using CFX manager software (Bio-Rad).
- 5. Each reaction was performed in 3 parallel replicates and reactions were repeated at least three times.

#### **RT-PCR** protocol:

- 1. The RT-PCR master mix was prepared containing 1  $\mu$ L 10X Taq buffer solution containing Mg<sup>2+</sup>, 1  $\mu$ L 0.25 mM dNTP stock, 0.2  $\mu$ L Forward primer (50  $\mu$ M), 0.2  $\mu$ L Reverse primer (50  $\mu$ M), 0.1  $\mu$ L Taq polymerase (5 units/ $\mu$ L) and the volume of the reaction mixture was made upto 10  $\mu$ L per reaction using ultra-pure, nuclease-free water.
- 2. If more than one cDNA sample needs to be processed for amplification, one can prepare a master mix containing all the components for all the cDNA samples at once.
- 5 μL of cDNA or ChIP DNA was added to wells of the PCR plates, followed by addition of 5 μL of RT-PCR master mix. Reactions were carried out for 32 cycles. Each cycle contains the following steps:
  - a. Initial denaturing: 94 °C for 3 min.
  - b. Then 32 cycles of: 94 °C for 30 sec.

i.  $60 \degree C$  for 45 sec.

ii. 72 °C for 60 sec (about 1 kb/min).

c. Extension: 72 °C for 7 min and at the end of the 33rd cycle, 10 min at 72 °C.

- 4. PCR products were analyzed in 1.5% agarose gel electrophoresis.
- 5. cDNA was subjected to PCR using specific primer pairs (Table 2, Table 3, Table 4).
- 6. Each experiment was repeated thrice (n = 3).
- 7. GAPDH was used as control. The results were analyzed using the CFX Manager. Expressions of gene relative to GAPDH were plotted.

#### 2.2.3. Chromatin Immunoprecipitation assay (ChIP assay)

#### Materials:

Antibodies to native protein of interest (or a post-translationally modified form), SDS lysis buffer for ChIP, formaldehyde (37%), glycine (1.375M), ChIP dilution buffer, high salt immune complex wash buffer, low salt immune complex wash buffer, lithium chloride (LiCl) immune complex wash buffer, TE buffer, elution buffer for ChIP, protease inhibitors (Roche), protein A-agarose DNA beads (Millipore), and proteinase K (20 µg/uL) were used to perform ChIP assay.

Antibodies were purchased from commercial sources that are as follows: MLL1 (Abgent, AP6182a), MLL2 (Abgent, AP6183a), MLL3 (Abgent, AP6184a), MLL4 (Sigma, AV33704), ERα (D-12, Santa Cruz, sc-8005), ERβ (H-150, Santa Cruz, sc-8974), H3K4-trimethyl (Upstate, 07–473), RNA pol II (RNAPII, Abcam, 8WG16), NCoR(C-20, sc-1609), β-actin (Sigma, A2066), CBP (A22, Santa Cruz Biotechnology, Sc369) and p300 (N15, Santa Cruz Biotechnology, Sc584).

#### **Recipes:**

1) SDS Lysis Buffer was prepared using 1% SDS, 10 mM EDTA, 50 mM Tris, pH 8.1.

- 2) ChIP Dilution Buffer was made using 0.01% SDS, 1.1% Triton X-100, 1.2 mM EDTA, 16.7 mM Tris-HCl, pH 8.1 and 167 mM NaCl.
- 3) High Salt Immune Complex Wash Buffer was made using 0.1% SDS, 1% Triton X-100, 2 mM EDTA, 20 mM Tris-HCl, pH 8.1, 500 mM NaCl.
- 4) Low Salt Immune Complex Wash Buffer was made using 0.1% SDS, 1% Triton X-100, 2 mM EDTA, 20 mM Tris-HCl, pH 8.1, 150 mM NaCl.
- 5) Lithium Chloride (LiCl) Immune Complex Wash Buffer was made using 0.25M Lithium Chloride (LiCl), 1% IGEPAL-CA630, 1% deoxycholic acid (sodium salt), 1 mM EDTA, 10 mM Tris, pH 8.1.
- 6) TE Buffer was made using 10 mM Tris-HCl, 1 mM EDTA, pH 8.0.
- 7) Elution buffer was made using 200 μL of elution buffer as follows: 10 μL 20% SDS, 20 μL 1M NaHCO<sub>3</sub> and 170 μL H<sub>2</sub>O.

#### Cross-Linking of the cells:

- For E2/BPA treatment, MCF7 cells were grown and maintained for at least 3 generations in phenol-red free DMEM-F12 media supplemented with 10% charcoal stripped FBS, 2 mM Lglutamine and 100 units/mL penicillin and 0.1 mg/mL streptomycin.
- Once the cells reached ~ 80% confluency (3<sup>rd</sup> generation), the cells were passaged into 100 x 20 mm cell culture plates and incubated until the confluency reached 50–60% (overnight/12 h), followed by treatments with 0.1 nM E2 for 4 h.
- To fix the cells, formaldehyde was added directly to cell culture media to a final concentration of 1% (37% formaldehyde) into 10 mL treatment medium.
- 4. The treated MCF7 cells were incubated on a gentle shaking platform for 15 min at 37 °C.

- 5. The crosslinking reaction was quenched by adding glycine to a final concentration of 0.125M. It was continued to rock at room temperature for 10 min (1.25M glycine).
- 6. The media was aspirated and plates were rinsed twice with ice cold 1X PBS containing 0.2 mM PMSF containing 10  $\mu$ L of 200X protease inhibitor cocktail. Dishes were placed on ice.
- 7. 1 mL of SDS lysis buffer was added containing 1X Protease Inhibitor Cocktail.
- 8. Cells were scraped from each dish and transfered into a separate microcentrifuge tube.
- 9. Cells were pelleted by spinning at 800 rpm at 4 °C for 5 min.

#### Sonication/Chromatin shearing:

- 1. MCF7 cell lysate were sonicated on wet ice.
- MCF7 cells in SDS Lysis Buffer were sheared with 4–5 sets of 15–sec pulses on wet ice using an ultrasonic Processor/Sonicator, 50-watt model equipped with a 2 mm tip and set to 30% of maximum power gave the appropriate length DNA fragments.
- 3. Cell lysate was kept ice-cold as sonication produces heat that can denature the chromatin.
- 4. Cell lysate was centrifuged at 10000 rpm at 4 °C for 10 min to remove insoluble material.
- 5. One 5  $\mu$ L aliquot was removed for agarose gel analysis of the sheared DNA. To prepare an aliquot for agarose gel analysis, 90  $\mu$ L H<sub>2</sub>O and 4  $\mu$ L of 5M NaCl were added to the 5  $\mu$ L samples (unsheared and sheared). Samples were incubated at least for 4-5 hours upto overnight at 65 °C to reverse the DNA-protein crosslinks. The phenol chloroform extraction was performed and the aqueous portion containing the DNA fragments was run on 1% agarose gel.
- 6. The chromatin was sonicated to an average length between 200–400 bp while keeping samples on ice. The time and number of pulses vary depending on sonicator, cell type and extent of crosslinking.

35

- Once appropriate sonication was done (checked by fragmentation analysis in agarose get to 200– 400 bp long fragments), sample was centrifuged at 13000 rpm for 10–20 min at 4 °C.
- 8. The supernatant was transferred into a fresh tube. These contain the sonicated chromatins for ChIP analysis. At this point, chromatin extracts (preferably in 100 µL aliquots) were stored at -80 °C until further use.

#### Immunoprecipitation (IP) of Cross-linked chromatins:

- 1. Sonicated chromatin was diluted 10-fold in ChIP dilution buffer (to 1 mL).
- 2. Samples were centrifuged at high speed in a microcentrifuge for 15 min at 4 °C to pellet the precipitated SDS. The supernatant was transferred to a fresh microcentrifuge tube.
- 3. The DNA concentration (A<sub>260</sub>) of the chromatin is measured using nanodrop spectrophotometer. Lysis buffer for ChIP devoid of SDS was used as a blank. The  $A_{260}/A_{280}$  ratio should be ~ 1.4–1.6.
- 4. Aliquot of 100 µg of chromatin per antibody was used.
- 5. It is important to have an irrelevant antibody such as  $\beta$ -actin as a negative IgG control. Some chromatin was set aside as a no antibody control "input".
- 6. The chromatin was diluted to a final volume of 300 µL with ChIP dilution buffer supplemented with protease inhibitor cocktail.
- 7. To pre-clear the chromatin, 50  $\mu$ L of protein A-agarose bead was added to the chromatin (each vial) and rotated for 2 h at 4 °C.
- 8. The chromatin samples were centrifuged at 3000 rpm for 5 min at 4 °C.
- 9. The supernatants were transferred to fresh 1.5 mL microcentrifuge tubes. This was the precleared chromatin extract used for IP.

#### **IP** Washes and Elution:

- Relevant antibodies (antibodies specific to ERα, ERβ, MLL1, MLL2, MLL3, MLL4, H3K4trimethyl, histone acetylation, NCoR, CBP, p300, β-actin and RNAPII) were added to the precleared chromatin solution and rotated overnight at 4 °C.
- 50 µL of protein A-agarose beads (washed and equilibrated with 1X PBS) was added to chromatin samples and rotated for 2 h at 4 °C.
- 3. The samples were centrifuged at 500 rpm for 5 min at  $4 \,^{\circ}$ C.
- 4. The supernatant was carefully pipetted from all samples. Beads that contain the IP should not be removed.
- 5. 1 mL of high-salt wash buffer (for ChIP) was added to samples containing agarose beads and rotated for 10 min at room temperature.
- 6. The samples were centrifuged at 500 rpm for 5 min at room temperature.
- 7. Carefully the supernatant was removed and 1 mL of low-salt wash buffer was added for ChIP. It was rotated for 10 min at room temperature.
- 8. The samples were centrifuged at 500 rpm for 5 min at 4 °C.
- 9. The supernatant was removed carefully and 1 mL of LiCl wash buffer was added for ChIP. It was rotated for 10 min at room temperature.
- 10. The samples were centrifuged at 500 rpm for 5 min at 4 °C.
- 11. The supernatant was removed and washed twice with 1 mL of TE buffer as above.
- 12. The beads (containing the immunoprecipitated chromatins) and input samples (sonicated chromatin extract for "input") were resuspended in 50  $\mu$ L of ChIP elution buffer supplemented with 1  $\mu$ L of proteinase K (20  $\mu$ g/ $\mu$ L), and incubated for 2 h at 55 °C.
- 13. Beads were resuspended by vortexing the samples.

- 14. Agarose was pelleted by brief centrifugation (13000 rpm for 1 min) and supernatant was collected into new microcentrifuge tubes.
- 15. The elution steps were repeated for 3 more times and the eluates were combined (total volume =  $200 \ \mu$ L).

#### Reverse crosslinking and isolation of ChIP DNA fragments:

- 8 μL 5M NaCl was added to samples and incubated at 65 °C for 5 h to reverse the DNA-protein crosslinks.
- 2. 1 µL of RNase A was added and incubated for additional 30 min at 37 °C.
- 4 μL of 0.5M EDTA, 8 μL 1M Tris-HCl and 1 μL Proteinase K were added and incubated at 45 °C for 2 h.
- 4. The samples were centrifuged at 13000 rpm for 5 min at room temperature.
- 5. Supernatants were transferred to fresh microcentrifuge tubes.
- 6. They were subjected to phenol: chloroform extraction
- 7. 1 volume sample and 1 volume of phenol: chloroform: isoamyl alcohol (125: 24: 1, pH 4.5) were taken. They were vortexed for 1 min and centrifuged at 10000 rpm for 10 min at 4 °C.
- The upper layer aqueous phase was transferred to a fresh tube and 1 volume of chloroform: isoamyl alcohol (24:1) was added. This was vortexed for 1 min and centrifuged at 10000 rpm for 10 min at 4 °C.
- The upper aqueous phase was transferred to a fresh tube, 0.1 volume of 3M Sodium Acetate (pH 5.2) was added or 2.5 volumes of 95% ethanol.
- 10. They were mixed and placed at -80 °C for 2 h, and centrifuged at 13000 rpm for 30 min at 4 °C.
- 11. The supernatant was removed and the pellet was washed with 1 mL of 70% ethanol. The pellet was air dried (20 min).

12. DNA was resuspended in 50 µL of TE buffer, quantified using nanodrop spectrophotometer and analyzed by PCR or real-time PCR (qPCR) using various primers corresponding to different regions on gene promoters (Table 2, Table 3, Table 4).

#### 2.2.4. Dual luciferase reporter assay

#### Materials:

iFECT transfection reagent (K.D. medicals), DMEM-F12 media (Sigma), pGL3-promoter vector and ERE-pGL3 clones, Dual-glo Luciferase assay kit (Promega) were used to perform dual luciferase reporter assay.

#### Transfection of MCF7 cells with ERE-pGL3 constructs and treatment with E2/BPA:

- 1. MCF7 cells were grown for 3 generations in phenol-red-free DMEM (DMEM-F12) containing charcoal-stripped FBS (10% FBS) and appropriate supplements.
- 2 x 10<sup>5</sup> MCF7 cells were seeded (3<sup>rd</sup> generation) in 60 mm cell culture plates with 5 mL of DMEM-F12 with 10% charcoal-stripped FBS. The plates were incubated in 5% CO<sub>2</sub> incubator at 37 °C until the confluency reached to about 60%.
- 3. On the day of transfection, the following solutions were prepared, Solution A: For each transfection, 1.5 μg of ERE-pGL3 and 0.15 μg of reporter plasmid containing renilla luciferase (PRLTK, as an internal transfection control) were diluted into 100 μL of FBS free DMEM-F12 without antibiotics or any supplements. Solution B: For each transfection 6-8 μL of iFECT transfection reagent was diluted into 100 μL of FBS free DMEM-F12 without antibiotics and supplements. Solution A was added to solution B directly.
- 4. The solution was mixed gently by pipetting and incubating the mixture for 35-45 min at room temperature.

- 5. The MCF7 cells were washed 3 times with DMEM-F12 without serum, antibiotics and supplements.
- 6. For each transfection, 0.8 mL of FBS free and antibiotic free DMEM-F12 media were added to each tube containing the ERE-pGL2/iFECT transfection reagent complex. The transfection cocktails were added into the respective plates containing cells and swirled slowly to spread the reagent.
- 7. The cells were incubated for 24 h at 37  $^{\circ}$ C in a CO<sub>2</sub> incubator with 5% CO<sub>2</sub>.
- After 24 h, the medium was aspirated and replaced with fresh media containing phenol-red-free DMEM (DMEM-F12), charcoal-stripped FBS (10% FBS) and other supplements.
- 9. The cells were treated with appropriate concentration of E2/BPA and incubated for 4 h inside the tissue culture incubator.
- 10. The cells were harvested for luciferase analyses using dual glo luciferase assay kit.

#### Preparation of MCF7 cell lysate and luciferase assay:

- 1. 4 h post E2 treatment, growth medium was removed from the treated MCF7 cells.
- 2. The cells were rinsed in 1X PBS. The final wash was removed as much as possible.
- A minimal volume of 1X lysis reagent was dispensed into each culture vessel (e.g., 400 µL/60 mm culture dish).
- 4. Culture dishes were rocked to ensure complete coverage of the cells with lysis buffer.
- 5. Lysed/attached cells were scraped from the dish, and transferred to a microcentrifuge tube. The tubes were placed on ice.
- The microcentrifuge tube was vortexed for 10–15 sec, then centrifuged at 13000 rpm for 1 min (at room temperature). The supernatant was transferred to a new tube. This cell lysate was used for luciferase assay.

- 20 μL of cell lysate was mixed with 100 μL of Luciferase Assay Reagent (LAR), and the firefly luminescence (pGL3 luminescence; with emission filter 590 nm) was measured.
- 8. Prior to the luciferase assay, LAR: Luciferase assay reagent (LAR) was made by adding Luciferase Assay Buffer (10 mL) to vial of lyophilized luciferase assay substrate (supplied by the manufacturer). The working aliquots of the LAR were stored at -80 °C. Before each use LAR was equilibrated to room temperature.
- 100 µL Stop & Glo® Reagent was added to the plate and renilla luminescence was measured (with emission filter at 590 nm)
- Prior to the Renilla luminescence measurement, Stop & Glo® Reagent was prepared by adding
   mL of 50X Stop & Glo® Substrate to 105 mL of Stop & Glo®, vortexed for 10 sec and stored at -20 °C.
- 11. Firefly luciferase activities were assayed and normalized to those of renilla luciferase
- 12. The light intensity of the reaction was nearly constant for about 1 min and then decayed slowly, with a half-life of approximately 10 min. Therefore, 5 readings were performed at an interval of every 20 sec.

For ERE luciferase assays, HOXB9 estrogen response elements (EREs) such as ERE1 (-6 to -393 nt), ERE2 (-999 to -1316 nt), ERE3 (-1174 to -1492 nt), and ERE4 (-1430 to -1858 nt) regions were cloned and inserted upstream of luciferase gene in pGL3-promoter vector (Promega) (Table 2).

#### 2.2.5. Animal studies

We exposed ovariectomized (OVX) adult female rats with E2/BPA and analyzed its impacts on gene expression of various genes in different tissues.

*Materials:* Isoflurane,  $17-\beta$ -estradiol (E2), Peanut oil were used for animal experiments.

#### Subjects:

- 1. 90 days old, experimentally naïve, adult, female, Sprague–Dawley rats were triple housed in a temperature and humidity-controlled environment under a 12 h reversed light/dark cycle with lights on at 7 p.m. and off at 7 a.m.
- 2. All animals had free access to food and water throughout the study and were maintained and cared for in accordance with the National Institutes of Health Guide for the Care and Use of Laboratory Animals.<sup>186,187,188</sup>

#### **Ovariectomy:**

- 1. Rats were anesthetized with a 2–3% isoflurane–oxygen vapor mixture and ovariectomized (OVX) using a dorsal approach.<sup>186,187,188</sup>
- 2. Briefly, both flanks were shaved and swabbed with Betadine, the skin was opened with a 10 mm incision along each rat's midline, just below the ribs, and a 10 mm incision was made through the muscle. The ovary was pulled through the incision and the tissue between the oviduct and uterus were clamped with a hemostat while a ligature was placed just below the hemostat. Next, the ovary was removed with scissors and the hemostats released. This procedure was repeated on the contralateral side. Lastly, the muscle layer was sutured closed and the skin incision closed with 9 mm wound clips.

#### Vaginal lavage testing:

Following a 4-5 day surgical recovery period, all rats underwent daily vaginal lavage testing daily for 8 consecutive days to confirm cessation of estrous cycling. Vaginal secretion was collected with a plastic pipette filled with 10  $\mu$ L of 0.9% saline by inserting the tip into the rat vagina, but not

deeply. Unstained material was observed under a light microscope. All OVXs performed were confirmed as complete and thus, no animals were eliminated on the basis of an incomplete procedure. Vaginal lavage testing was performed to confirm cessation of estrous cycling (estrous cycling in female rats is regulated by estrogen).

#### Estrogen, BPA and DES treatments to OVX animals:

- Estradiol (17β-Estradiol-3-benzoate (EB; Sigma-Aldrich)) was dissolved in peanut oil to yield final concentrations of 5 μg/mL.
- Rats were given subcutaneous (s.c.) injections of estradiol (5 μg) and control animals were given peanut oil, 24 and 4 h prior to sacrifice.
- 3. BPA: 10 mg of BPA was dissolved in 1 mL of ethanol to create a stock solution that was stored at -4 °C. DES and estradiol were dissolved in peanut oil to yield final concentrations of 5  $\mu$ g/mL. BPA was dissolved in ethanol and brought up to a final concentration of 50  $\mu$ g/mL with saline. Rats were given subcutaneous injections of either BPA (25  $\mu$ g/kg), estradiol (5  $\mu$ g), or DES (5  $\mu$ g/kg), (n = 4) 24 and 4 h prior to sacrifice. Animals were sacrificed via rapid decapitation and mammary gland tissue was collected from each rat and flash frozen on dry ice and then stored at -80 °C until RNA extraction.<sup>189,190,191</sup>

#### Tissue preparation

After the respective control and estradiol/bisphenol-A treatments, animals were rapidly decapitated and a midline incision was made along the ventral side of the animal's body using surgical scissors. To access inguinal mammary glands, both skin and mammary tissue were pulled away from the peritoneal wall and dissected from the skin. Upon removal, liver and mammary glands were

immediately removed and placed on dry ice until they could be transferred and stored at -80 °C until commencement of biochemical analyses.<sup>186,187,188</sup>

#### **RNA** extraction:

- 1. Frozen mammary glands were subjected to RNA extraction by ZyGEM kit.
- A small amount of tissue from the frozen mammary glands (isolated from the control and E2/BPA-treated OVX rats) was homogenized and transferred to a microcentrifuge tube.
- 3. 10  $\mu$ L of 10X buffer (Silver) was added to the tube containing homogenized tissue followed by 2  $\mu$ L of RNA-gem and the volume was made upto 100  $\mu$ L using DEPC treated ultra-pure, nuclease free H<sub>2</sub>O
- 4. The sample was vortexed for 30 sec and incubated at 75 °C for 10 min.
- 5. After the 75 °C incubation, 5  $\mu$ L of DNase buffer and 2  $\mu$ L of DNase I were added.
- 6. It was vortexed for 30 sec and incubated at 37 °C for 5 min and then at 75 °C for 5 min.
- 7. The sample was centrifuged at 10000 rpm for 10 min and the supernatant was collected containing RNA and proteins into a new microcentrifuge tube.
- 8. RNA was further purified using phenol-chloroform extraction followed by ethanol precipitation and resuspended in TE buffer.
- 9. RNA was quantified using nanodrop spectrophotometer and then analyzed using RT-qPCR using rat specific primers (Table 2).

### Table 2. Nucleotide sequence of primers

Gene	Forward Primer (5'-3')	Reverse Primer (5'-3')
PCR primers		
hHOXB9 hGAPDH rHOXB9	TGGGACGCTTAGCAGCTATT CAATGACCCCTTCATTGACC GAAAAAGCGCTGTCCCTACA	CGTACTGGCCAGAAGGAAAC GACAAGCTTCCCGTTCTCAG TTGAGGAGTCTGGCCACTT
rGAPDH	CTCCCATTCTTCCACCTTTG	TTACTCCTTGGAGGCCATGT
Cloning primers		
HOXB9-ERE1 HOXB9-ERE2 HOXB9-ERE3 HOXB9-ERE4 HOXB9-Non-ERE	GTAGCTGGGGGCTGAGGTTAC* ACAGGAGGGCTGAAAACTC* TGCAGGGCCACAGAATAGAT* ACGAGATGGCTTCATTTGGA* GGAAGCTCGCAGTCATGTAA*	ACATTATCCGGGCGCTTG* GAACCAGAGCGCCTTTACAT* AAGGGTTAAGGCCACTTTCC* AGACCCCTTCATTGGAGCTT* GAGGGAGGGAGAGAGCAAGG*
ChIP primers		
HOXB9-ERE4	CCAGAGGAGAACTGGGTCTG	TCTATTCTGTGGCCCTGCAC
*Cloning primers flanked by appropriate restriction sites.		

#### 2.3. Results

#### 2.3.1. HOXB9 is overexpressed in breast and other types of cancer

Initially, to investigate the association of HOXB9 with different types of cancer, we analyzed publicly available cancer genome database using cbioportal (http://www.cbioportal.org/public-portal/) data analysis tool.<sup>192,193</sup> This analyses demonstrate that HOXB9 gene is amplified, mutated and deleted in various forms of cancer that includes breast, cervical, ovarian, uterine and prostate (Figure 5). Amplification of HOXB9 gene was observed in 10.3%, 5.4% and 4.1% of the analyzed cases of breast carcinoma. HOXB9 amplification was also observed in 4% of ovarian and 2% of prostate cancer cases. Overexpression of HOXB9 in breast cancer tissues is in agreement with our previous findings and studies from other laboratories.<sup>178,194</sup> The overexpression of HOXB9 in breast, prostate, uterine and ovarian tissues indicate its potential regulation by steroid hormones and it is a potential target for misregulation by endocrine disrupting chemicals.

# 2.3.2. HOXB9 is induced by BPA in breast cancer cells and in mammary gland tissue of ovariectomized (OVX) rats

To understand the potential impacts of estrogenic EDCs on HOXB9 gene regulation, we treated ER-positive breast cancer cells, MCF7 with varying concentration of a well-known estrogenic EDC, bisphenol-A (BPA) and analyzed its impacts on HOXB9 gene expression. Additionally, we also exposed MCF7 cells with estradiol (E2) as positive control. In brief, cells were grown in phenol-red-free media supplemented with charcoal-treated FBS and were then subjected to treatment with varying concentrations of E2 or BPA, independently. RNA was isolated, reverse transcribed and levels of HOXB9 expressions were analyzed by regular RT-PCR and RT-qPCR, using primers specific to HOXB9 (Table 2). GAPDH expression was analyzed as loading control. This analysis showed that BPA and E2-treatments induced the HOXB9 expression levels in dose dependent manner (Figures 6A-D).



Figure 5. Cross-cancer analysis of copy number alterations and mutations in HOXB9 based on cBioPortal database.<sup>192,193</sup>

Notably, HOXB9 expression was increased by about 6.6 fold at 1 nM E2 and 3.7 fold and 9.4 fold at 10 and 100 nM BPA, respectively. Since HOXB9 is optimally induced in breast cancer cells by 1 nM E2 and 100 nM BPA, we used these concentrations of E2 and BPA for future biochemical experiments. The time-dependent analysis showed that HOXB9 induction in MCF7 cells was optimum at 6 h post-treatment with 1 nM E2 or 100 nM BPA (data not shown). The induction of HOXB9 expression by E2 and BPA in ER-positive breast cancer cells (MCF7) indicate that HOXB9 is transcriptionally regulated by E2 and is potentially misregulated upon exposure to estrogenic EDC like BPA.

To further evaluate the impacts of BPA on HOXB9 expression *in vivo*, we exposed overiectomized (OVX) Sprague Dawley rats with BPA as well as E2, and analyzed their impacts on HOXB9 expression in the mammary glands of OVX rats. In brief, female Sprague Dawley rats were subjected to ovariectomy to minimize the impacts of internal esrogens. We exposed the OVX rats to acute levels of E2 (5  $\mu$ g/kg) and BPA (25  $\mu$ g/kg) for 24 h. These doses of E2 and BPA treatment were previously used and shown to affect gene expression and impact behavioral traits and other neural functions.<sup>88,89,195</sup> The control OVX rats were exposed with the diluent peanut oil (vehicle). The mammary glands from control and E2/BPA treated female rats were harvested, RNA was isolated, reverse transcribed and the expression levels of HOXB9 were analyzed using qPCR and regular RT-PCR. These analyses showed that E2 and BPA treatments significantly increased the levels of HOXB9 expression by ~ 4 and ~ 5 folds, respectively, in the rat mammary glands (Figures 6E and 6F). GAPDH was used as the loading control. These



Figure 6. Effects of BPA on HOXB9 expression in vitro and in vivo.

(A-D) MCF7 cells grown in phenol red free DMEM-F-12 media were treated with varying concentrations of E2 and BPA. RNA from the control and E2 or BPA-treated cells was analyzed by RT-PCR (panels A and C) and RT-qPCR (panels B and D) using HOXB9 specific primers. GAPDH was used as the loading control. Panel A and B are RT-PCR and qPCR analyses of HOXB9 expression upon exposure to varying concentrations of E2, respectively. Panel C and D are RT-PCR and qPCR analyses of HOXB9 expression upon exposure to varying concentrations of BPA, respectively. (E-F) *In vivo* effect of E2 and BPA on HOXB9 expression. Ovariectomized adult female rats were administered with estradiol (5  $\mu$ g/kg) and BPA (25  $\mu$ g/kg) for 24 h and 4 h before sacrifice, separately. RNA from the control, E2 and BPA treated mammary glands were analyzed by regular RT-PCR (panel E) and qPCR (panel F). GAPDH was used as a loading control. Each qPCR experiment was repeated for three times with three parallel replicates (n = 3). Bars indicate standard errors (p ≤ 0.05). observations suggested that HOXB9 expression is transcriptionally regulated by E2 in the mammary glands and it is upregulated upon exposure to BPA, *in vivo*.

#### 2.3.3. HOXB9 promoter EREs are responsive to BPA

Since HOXB9 is an E2-responsive gene and is induced by BPA, we investigated the potential mechanism of BPA-induced expression of HOXB9. HOXB9 promoter contains several putative estrogen-response elements (EREs).<sup>194</sup> Notably, in the presence of E2, estrogen-receptors (ERs) are activated which in turn bind to EREs present in the promoters of E2-regulated genes and induce transcription.<sup>196,197,198,199</sup> ERs aid in the recruitment of various ER-coregulators and epigenetic modifiers to the gene promoters that facilitate histone modification and chromatin remodeling leading to target gene activation.<sup>199,200,201,202</sup> Promoter analysis revealed that there are three ERE1/2 sites (GGTCA) located at the -208 nt, -1201 nt and -1395 nt regions located upstream of the transcriptional start site (TSS) in the HOXB9 promoters (Figure 7A). There is also an imperfect ERE (GGTCAnnnTGTCC) located at the -1600 nt (Figure 7A) and that is 1 nt different from the consensus full ERE (GGTCAnnnTGACC). Presence of these putative imperfect EREs indicate its potential involvement in E2/BPA induced HOXB9 gene expression.

Irrespective of sequence homology with consensus full ERE, we examined the BPA (and E2) responsiveness of each EREs (ERE1-ERE4) sites using a luciferase based reporter assay.<sup>194</sup> Initially, we cloned each ERE along with ~ 150 nt flanking sequences on both sides into a luciferase expression construct, pGL3 (Figure 7A).<sup>194</sup> A promoter region containing no ERE (non-ERE) sequence was also cloned and used as a negative control. Each ERE-pGL3 construct was transfected into MCF7 cells separately, and the cells were exposed to E2 (1 nM) and BPA (100 nM) for 6 h. An empty pGL3 vector was also transfected as a negative control. The cell extracts from the control and (E2/BPA) treated MCF7 cells were subjected to luciferase analysis using a commercial luciferase detection kit

(normalized to renilla expression). Our results demonstrated that transfection with ERE4-pGL3 (which is the imperfect ERE) construct followed by E2 or BPA treatment induced the luciferase



Figure 7. HOXB9 promoter EREs are responsive to BPA treatment.

(A-B) HOXB9 gene promoter EREs, termed as ERE1, ERE2, ERE3 and ERE4 locations and the neighboring sequences are shown in panel A. The promoter regions spanning the EREs were cloned into luciferase based reporter construct, pGL3 and used for luciferase assay (cloned region for each ERE is shown in panel A. (B) Luciferase based reporter assay. ERE containing pGL3 constructs or empty pGL3 (control vector) constructs were co-transfected into MCF7 cells along with renilla luciferase construct (pRLTK; internal transfection control) for 24 h. Cells were then treated with 100 nM BPA and 1 nM E2 for 6 h and then subjected to luciferase assay by using dual-Glo Luciferase Assay kit. The luciferase activities (normalized to renilla activity) were plotted. The experiment was repeated thrice with four parallel replicates (n = 3). Bars indicate standard errors. P values  $\leq 0.05$  were considered to be significant.

activity by  $\sim 3$  and  $\sim 4$  folds, respectively in MCF7 cells (Figure 7B). Transfection with other EREpGL3 constructs or the empty pGL3 vector had no significant impacts on E2/BPA-induced luciferase inductions. These results suggest that ERE4 which is an imperfect full ERE, is likely an E2/BPA responsive ERE and may be also associated with BPA-mediated activation of HOXB9 transcription.

## 2.3.4. Estrogen-receptors (ERs) and ER-coregulators are enriched at the HOXB9 promoter upon treatment with BPA

As ERs are key players in transcriptional upregulation of estrogen-responsive genes, 198, 199 we examined if ERa participates in BPA-induced HOXB9 expression. We examined if BPA and E2 treatment results in recruitment of ERs in HOXB9 promoter regions especially in the ERE regions, using chromatin immunoprecipitation (ChIP) assay.<sup>194</sup> Notably, along with ER, ER-coregulators also play key roles in E2-induced gene regulation.<sup>199,200,201</sup> Therefore, along with ERa, we also examined if selected ER-coregulators (such as MLL3, CBP/p300 and N-CoR) are enriched at the HOXB9 promoter upon treatment with BPA or E2.<sup>196,197,203</sup> Notably, MLLs are well-recognized histone methyl-transferases that regulate specifically histone H3 lysine-4 (H3K4) methylations and introduce gene activation. 30,185,200,204,205,206,207,208,209,210,211,212 MLLs are recently implicated in estradiol/BPA induced gene activation. 30,88,89,185,206,211 In particular, our previous studies indicated involvement of MLL3 in HOXB9 gene regulation,<sup>30</sup> and therefore, here we investigated the potential involvement of MLL3 in BPA-induced HOXB9 regulation. CBP and p300 are well known histone acetyl-transferases that play crucial roles in NR-mediated gene activation.<sup>213,214</sup> N-CoR is a repressive NR-coregulator that maintains the repressive state of gene in the absence of activated or liganded ERs.<sup>215,216,217</sup> Here, we examined the E2/BPA-dependent recruitment of ERs and ER-coregulators (MLL3, CBP/p300 and N-CoR) at the ERE4-region of HOXB9 promoter (Figure 8A). We chose to analyze the ER and ER-coregulators binding in the ERE4-regions because it was the most responsive ERE to E2/BPA-treatment in luciferase

analysis (Figure 8B). In brief, MCF7 cells were treated with E2 (1 nM) and BPA (100 nM) for 6 h, fixed with formaldehyde, sonicated to shear the chromatin and then subjected to immunoprecipitation using ER $\alpha$ , MLL3, CBP, p300 and N-CoR specific antibodies.  $\beta$ -actin antibody was used as a non-specific antibody control. The immunoprecipitated DNA fragments were purified and PCR-amplified using primers spanning ERE4 region of HOXB9 promoter (Figures 8B and 8C). ChIP analysis showed that ER $\alpha$ , MLL3, CBP and p300 were enriched in the ERE4 region in the presence of either BPA or E2 (Figures 8B and 8C). No significant binding of  $\beta$ -actin was observed in the HOXB9 promoter (used as a non-specificity control, Figures 8B and 8C). These observations demonstrate that, along with ERs, ERcoregulators such as histone methylase MLL3 and histone acetylases, CBP and p300, are involved in the BPA induced HOXB9 expression. We also found that the occupancy levels of nuclear receptor corepressor; N-CoR was significantly reduced at the HOXB9 promoter upon treatment with either E2 or BPA.

MLLs are well known H3K4-specific methyl-transferases and CBP/p300 are histone acetylases.<sup>205,212,218,219,220,221</sup> Since MLL3, CBP and p300 are found to be enriched at the HOXB9 promoter in a BPA/E2-dependent manner, we examined the levels of histone acetylation and histone H3K4-tri-methylation in the HOXB9 promoter in the absence and presence of BPA, using ChIP assay. We also analyzed the recruitment of RNA Polymerase II (RNAP II) on to the HOXB9 promoter in the absence and presence of BPA. Our ChIP analyses demonstrated that the levels of histone H3K4-trimethylation, histone acetylation and the levels of RNA polymerase II were increased at the HOXB9 promoter (ERE4) in the presence of BPA or E2 (Figures 8B and 8C). The enrichment of histone methylases (MLL3) and histone acetylases (CBP/p300) and consequent increase in H3K4-trimethylation and histone acetylation at the HOXB9 promoter in presence of BPA, suggest the potential involvement of these ER-coregulators in the BPA mediated transcriptional activation of HOXB9. The BPA/E2-

53

induced dissociation of N-CoR from the HOXB9 promoter indicate its potential involvement in the maintenance of the basal transcription levels of HOXB9 especially in the absence of any stimuli such as E2 or BPA.



Figure 8. E2 and BPA-dependent recruitment of ER and ER-coregulators at the HOXB9 promoter.

(A-C) MCF7 cells were treated with 1 nM E2 and 100 nM BPA, separately for 6 h and subjected to ChIP assay using antibodies specific to MLL3, CBP, p300, H3K4me3, histone acetyl, RNAP II, N-CoR and  $\beta$ -actin (negative control). ChIP DNA fragments were PCR-amplified and analyzed by qPCR and regular PCR using primers specific to ERE4 region of the HOXB9 promoter. Panel A shows the position of the primer spanning ERE4 region in the HOXB9 promoter. Panels B-C show the ChIP analyses of MLL3, CBP, p300, H3K4-trimethyl marks, histone acetyl marks, RNAP II, N-CoR and  $\beta$ -actin on the ERE4 of the HOXB9 promoter. Each experiment was repeated at least thrice. Bars indicate standard errors. P values  $\leq$  0.05 were considered to be significant.

#### 2.4. Discussion

HOXB9 is a critical player in skeletal and mammary gland development.<sup>166</sup> Mice homozygous for HOXB9 mutation show developmental defects and a significant decline in newborn survival;<sup>222</sup> it also leads to abnormal breast epithelium branching and lobulo-alveolar development, eventually leading to the inability of the mother to nurse pups.<sup>166</sup> In addition to its critical role in mammary gland and skeletal development, HOXB9 is involved in regulation of renin and hence regulates blood pressure, fluid homeostasis, and electrolyte balance.<sup>173</sup> Recent studies demonstrate that HOXB9 is overexpressed in 42 % of human breast tumors.<sup>168</sup> Furthermore, HOXB9 is a homeodomain containing transcription factor, and is involved in regulation of tumor growth and angiogenic factors and hence plays critical roles in tumorigenesis and metastasis.<sup>35,168</sup> Studies from our laboratory demonstrated that HOXB9, through it homeodomain, binds to the promoters of tumor growth and angiogenic factors like NRG2 (neuregulin-2), VEGF (vascular endothelial growth factor), bFGF (basic fibroblast growth factor), TGF $\beta$ -1 (tumor growth factor  $\beta$ -1) and control 3D tumor colony formation.<sup>35</sup> Furthermore, we demonstrated that HOXB9 expression is transcriptionally induced by E2, in cultured breast cancer cells.<sup>30</sup> As HOXB9 is overexpressed in breast cancer, and is involved in mammary gland development and is transcriptionally regulated by estradiol in breast cancer cells, here, we investigated its potential endocrine disruption by estrogenic EDCs such as BPA, in vitro and in vivo. Additionally, we also analyzed the expression levels of HOXB9 in different types of cancers using publically available cancer genome database, using Cbioportal data analysis software.<sup>192,193</sup> This analysis demonstrated that HOXB9 gene is amplified, mutated and deleted in variety of cancer cells (Figure 5). Specifically, amplification of HOXB9 gene was observed in several analyzed cases of breast, ovarian and prostate cancer. The overexpression of HOXB9 in endocrine regulated tumors such as breast, prostate and ovarian cancers, indicates its potential regulation by endocrine hormones such as estrogens and

androgens and furthermore makes it a potential target of endocrine disruption upon exposure to hormone mimicking EDCs such as BPA. To investigate the potential endocrine disruption of HOXB9, we exposed both cultured breast cancer cells as well as OVX female Sprague Dawley rats with BPA (as well as E2 as control) and analyzed their impacts of HOXB9 expression. Our analysis demonstrated that HOXB9 expression is not induced by E2 but also by BPA both in vitro (cultured MCF7 cells) and in vivo (mammary glands of OVX rats), indicating its transcriptional regulation by E2 and its potential endocrine disruption upon exposure to estrogenic EDCs like BPA and others. Notably, ERs and ERcoregulators are integral components of estrogen-dependent gene activation and signaling. During estrogen-dependent gene activation, upon binding of the ligand to estrogen-receptors (ERs), ERs undergo conformational changes, and bind to estrogen-response-elements (EREs) present in the promoters of estrogen responsive genes, resulting in their transcriptional activation. Along with ERs, variety of ER-coactivators also coordinates with the estradiol-dependent gene activation and signaling.<sup>194,223,224,225</sup> These coregulators usually possess enzymatic activity, modify chromatin, and bridge ERs with transcription machinery.<sup>196,202</sup> Many ER-coactivators have been identified including SRC-1 family of protein, CREB binding protein (CBP/p300), p/CAF, ASCOM (activating signal cointegrator-2 that also contains MLLs).<sup>203,208,226,227</sup> Sequence analysis demonstrated that HOXB9 promoter contains multiple ERE1/2 sites (ERE1-3) and a potential imperfect full ERE (ERE4).<sup>199</sup> Based on our luciferase based reporter assay, we observed that not only E2 but also BPA response induces HOXB9 promoter activity. ERE4, which is an imperfect full ERE, showed significant induction of luciferase activity in response to both E2 and BPA exposure, indicating its potential involvement in estrogen-mediated gene expression and endocrine disruption by BPA.

ChIP analyses demonstrate that ERα and a variety of ER-coregulators such as histone methylase, MLL3, and histone acetylases, CBP and p300 are enriched at the HOXB9 promoters during E2 as well
as BPA-induced HOXB9 expression. Notably, MLL-family of histone methylases is a well-known family of H3K4-specific methyl-transferases that play key roles in gene activation. 205, 212, 218, 219, 220, 221 Studies from our laboratory and others have shown that MLLs functionally coordinate with ERs-during estrogen-dependent gene activation.<sup>33,88,89,185,206,211,213,228</sup> MLLs are a novel class of ER-coregulators. Here, our analysis further demonstrated that histone methylase, MLL3 coordinates with the E2 and BPA-induced HOXB9 gene activation. Notably, the involvement of MLL3 in E2-induced HOXB9 activation is in agreement with our previous observation.<sup>194</sup> ER-mediated recruitment of histone methylases and acetylases at the ER-target promoters, are anticipated to modify histone proteins, remodel the chromatin which ultimately contribute to gene activation. Indeed, our ChIP analysis also showed that BPA (as well as E2) treatment altered the epigenetic marks such as, increased histone H3K4-trimethylation, histone acetylation, enrichment of RNA polymerase II at the HOXB9 promoter region (ERE4). We also observed that NCoR, a nuclear receptor corepressor, is pre-occupied at the HOXB9 promoter in the absence of E2 or BPA-treatment and gets delocalized from the HOXB9 promoter upon exposure to either E2 or BPA, indicating the potential role of NCoR in maintenance of basal transcription of HOXB9.

Involvement of ERs and ER-coregulators, changes in histone modifications upon BPA-induced HOXB9 gene activation, indicate that the epigenetic mechanism of transcriptional activation of HOXB9 by BPA is similar to that of estradiol-mediated HOXB9 activation (a model showing the mechanism of BPA induced endocrine disruption of HOXB9 is shown in figure 9). These observations also further indicate that HOXB9 gene expression may be disrupted upon exposure to estrogenic EDCs like BPA and others both *in vitro* and *in vivo*, even in the absence of estradiol, and that may contribute towards abnormal HOXB9 expression and various human pathogenesis including breast cancer. Notably, EDCs are a class of molecules when exposed to our body, they interact with various hormone receptors at very

low concentrations and alter the hormone signaling pathways affecting various hormonally regulated processes including reproduction and development.<sup>229</sup> Chronic and/or acute exposure to EDCs results in harmful health effects including birth defects, diabetes, cancers, reproductive problems, early puberty, and obesity.<sup>179,180,181,182,183</sup> Exposure to EDCs results in alteration in the gene expression profiles. For example, exposure to estrogen mimicking EDCs such as bisphenol-A (BPA) alters uterine HOX gene expression and induces developmental changes in the female reproductive tract.<sup>184</sup> BPA is commonly found in plastics, metallic storage containers, and other routinely used consumables.<sup>182</sup> It is widely used since 1950 as a monomer that is polymerized to manufacture polycarbonate plastic and epoxy resins and found as an environmental contaminant.<sup>182</sup> The impacts of BPA exposure on human health have been extensively studied. Exposure to BPA leads to developmental and reproductive anomalies.<sup>184</sup> Perinatal exposure to BPA alters mammary gland development in vivo.<sup>184</sup> Thus, exposure to BPA is of serious health concern. In the present study, we demonstrated that breast cancer (as well as variety of other cancers) associated gene HOXB9, is upregulated upon exposure to BPA both in vitro and in vivo. Even in the absence of native hormone estradiol, BPA activates estrogen-receptors, that in turn, activates and recruits variety of ER-coregulators at the HOXB9 promoter, alters the promoter histone modification and other epigenetic features resulting in HOXB9 gene induction which is associated with breast and other carcinogenesis. Thus our studies demonstrate that BPA is an estrogenic EDC and therefore its exposure is capable of altering the epigenetic programming in cells causing unwanted gene activation and that may contribute towards increased risk of cancer and other human diseases. In summary, our studies demonstrated a novel epigenetic mechanism of estrogen-mediated regulation and BPA-induced endocrine disruption of a key homeobox containing gene, HOXB9, which is critical for development of reproductive organs and in progression of cancer.



Figure 9. Model showing the roles of ER, MLL and other ER-coregulators in E2 and BPA-mediated upregulation of HOXB9.

During classical E2-stimulated HOXB9 gene expression, ERs dimerizes upon binding to E2, dimerized ERs translocate into the nucleus and bind to the EREs present in the promoter region of HOXB9. ER-coregulators such as MLL3, CBP, p300, and other ER-coregulators are also recruited to the HOXB9 promoter. Promoter histones are methylated via MLL3 and acetylated via the catalytic activity of CBP/p300 and thus allowing access to RNA polymerase II (RNAP II) and other GTFs to the promoter,<sup>202</sup> ultimately leading to transcriptional activation of HOXB9. Exposure of cells to estrogen mimicking endocrine disrupting chemicals (EDCs) such as BPA that in turn competes with endogenous E2 and binds to ERs, leading to activation of ERs and associated ER-target gene activation, in a fashion very similar to E2. Thus, even in the absence of E2, BPA can induce ER-target genes such as HOXB9 leading to their misregulation.

# CHAPTER 3

#### HYPOXIA INDUCES EXPRESSION OF LONG NONCODING RNA HOTAIR

# 3.1. Introduction

Non-coding RNAs (ncRNAs) are an emerging class of transcripts that are coded by the genome, but are mostly not translated into proteins.<sup>114,230</sup> NcRNAs play key roles in gene expression, cell differentiation, and development. In particular, long non-coding RNAs (lncRNAs) appear to play major roles in the regulation of chromosome dynamics, gene activation, and silencing.<sup>114</sup> Misregulation and mutations in lncRNAs are widely associated with a variety of human diseases including cancer, <sup>130,231</sup> neurological disorders,<sup>147,232,233,234</sup> cardiovascular disease,<sup>89</sup> and diabetes.<sup>35</sup> HOTAIR (HOX Antisense Intergenic RNA) is a recently discovered (2.2 kb long) antisense lncRNA that is associated with gene silencing and chromatin condensation.<sup>235,236,237,238,239</sup> HOTAIR is located on HOXC gene locus in chromosome 12, flanked by HOXC11 and HOXC12.235 HOTAIR interacts with various chromatin modifying complexes such as PRC2 (polycomb repressive complex 2) and histone demethylases LSD1 (lysine specific demethylase 1).<sup>131,133,240,241</sup> PRC2 is a multiprotein complex containing subunit like EZH2 histone H3-lysine 27 (H3K27)-specific histone methylase), (a SUZ12, EED and RbAp48.<sup>242,243,244,245</sup> EZH2-mediated histone H3K27-methylation is associated with gene silencing.<sup>246,247</sup> Histone demethylase, LSD1 also interacts with transcription repressors such as REST (Repressor element-1 silencing transcription factor) and CoREST complexes.<sup>248,249,250</sup> Moreover, histone H3K4demethylation is associated with gene silencing as well.<sup>251,252</sup> HOTAIR interacts with PRC2 and LSD1 through its 5'- and 3'-ends, respectively<sup>133</sup> and recruits them into their target gene promoters, that induce H3K27-methylation and H3K4-demethylation which results in suppression in gene expression.<sup>131</sup> Beyond its biochemical roles in gene silencing, HOTAIR appears to be overexpressed in various cancers

including colorectal cancer,<sup>253</sup> hepatocellular carcinoma,<sup>254,255,256</sup> pancreatic cancer,<sup>257</sup> non-small cell lung cancer,<sup>258,259</sup> and others.<sup>260,261,262</sup> HOTAIR expression is linked with tumor metastases and tumor growth. Loss of HOTAIR has been linked with decrease in cancer invasiveness, and HOTAIR overexpression leads to augmentation in cancer invasiveness and tumor growth.<sup>263,264</sup> HOTAIR regulates the expression of various tumor suppressor genes that include homeobox genes (such as HOXD10, HOXD8), protocadherin gamma subfamily A-8 (PCDHGA8), PCDHB5, and others. Overexpression of HOTAIR results in downregulation of tumor suppressor expression leading to tumor cell proliferation. Studies from our laboratory demonstrated that HOTAIR is crucial for cell growth and viability of breast cancer cells and its knockdown induces apoptosis in breast cancer cells.<sup>130</sup> We also demonstrated that HOTAIR is transcriptionally induced by estradiol (E2) and is disrupted by Bisphenol A (BPA) and Diethylstilbesterol (DES) in cultured breast cancer cells and *in vivo*.<sup>88</sup>

Hypoxic (low oxygen environment) tumor microenvironment is a critical driver of tumor cell proliferation, angiogenesis, and metastasis.<sup>265,266,267</sup> Under hypoxic conditions, transcription factors like hypoxia inducible factors (HIFs) are stabilized due to their inhibition of degradation via inhibition of ubiquitination. HIFs control the expression of a large number of genes that play critical roles in various oncogenic pathways such as regulation of proliferation, apoptosis, tumor metabolism, epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition, invasiveness, and pH regulation.<sup>268,269,270,271,272</sup> As HOTAIR is closely associated with tumor growth and metastasis,<sup>131,273,274</sup> we explored if HOTAIR expression is transcriptionally regulated under hypoxic environment and if its expression is regulated by HIFs. Our studies indeed demonstrate that HOTAIR expression is induced upon hypoxia in different tumor cells and this is coordinated via HIFs and the MLL-family of histone methylases.

# 3.2. Experimental Procedure

# 3.2.1. Cell culture and hypoxia treatment

Human colon adenocarcinoma cells (CCL228), cervical cancer (HeLa), breast cancer (MCF7), neuroblastoma (SH-SY5Y) were obtained from American Type Cell Culture Collection (ATCC) and cultured in our laboratory as described in Chaper 2.<sup>267,271,29,30,32,33,35,89,275,276</sup> Cells were grown and maintained in Dulbecco's modified Eagle's media (DMEM; Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO) supplemented with 10% heat inactivated fetal bovine serum, 2 mM L-glutamine, 100 units/mL penicillin and 0.1 mg streptomycin/mL. All cell lines were maintained in a humidified incubator with 5% CO<sub>2</sub> and 95% air at 37 °C.

For hypoxia treatment, CCL228 cells were grown up to 70–80% confluency in 100 x 20 mm cell culture plates. CCL228 cells were incubated for varying amounts of time (0, 2, 4, and 8 h) in a hypoxia chamber (Stem Cell Technologies) in an atmosphere of hypoxia (low oxygen concentration) by using a combination of gases made up of 0.5%  $O_2$  and 5%  $CO_2$  balanced with  $N_2$  gas (94.5%). Plates were also incubated under normoxic conditions (normal oxygen concentration) in the presence of 21%  $O_2$  and 5%  $CO_2$ . At the indicated time points, the cell culture plates were immediately removed. The media was quickly aspirated from each cell culture dish and washed with PBS, and cells were harvested for RNA and protein extraction.

For hypoxia mimetic experiments, CCL228 cells were grown under standard conditions in DMEM. Cells were seeded in 60 x 15 mm plates and treated with varying concentrations of  $CoCl_2$  (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO) followed by incubation at 37 °C in the presence of 5%  $CO_2$  for varying time periods. Control cells were treated with equivalent amounts of DMSO (the vehicle for  $CoCl_2$  solution). The cells were harvested for total RNA extraction and subjected to RT-PCR and RT-qPCR analysis.

# 3.2.2. RNA extraction, cDNA synthesis, RT-PCR, and real-time PCR (qPCR)

For the RNA extraction, similar protocols were followed that were described in Chapter  $2.^{33,267,271,275}$  In brief, cells from normoxia and hypoxia environments were harvested, centrifuged at 1800 x g for 5 min at 4 °C, and then resuspended in diethyl pyrocarbonate (DEPC) treated buffer A [20 mM Tris-HCl (pH 7.9); 1.5 mM MgCl<sub>2</sub>, 10 mM KCl, 0.5 mM dithiothreitol (DTT), and 0.2 mM phenylmethylsulfonyl fluoride (PMSF)] for 10 min on ice. Cells were centrifuged at 8000 x g for 5 min at 4 °C, and the supernatant was subjected to phenol-chloroform (1: 1 phenol and chloroform saturated with 1X TE) extraction. The aqueous layer was mixed with 2.5 volumes of ethanol, incubated at -80 °C for 4 h and then centrifuged at 20000 x g for 30 min at 4 °C. The RNA pellets were air dried, dissolved in DEPC treated water containing 0.5 mM EDTA, and quantified using a nanodrop spectrophotometer.

For cDNA synthesis, 2.4  $\mu$ M of oligo dT (Promega) was mixed with 500 ng of the RNA extracted in a 12  $\mu$ L total volume and incubated at 70 °C for 10 min. The mix was then added to a cocktail of 100 units of MMLV reverse transcriptase (Promega), 1X first strand buffer (Promega), 100  $\mu$ M dNTPs (each), 1 mM DTT, and 20 units of RNaseOut (Invitrogen) and the volume was made up to 25  $\mu$ L (using DEPC treated water). This mixture was incubated at 37 °C for 1 h for the reverse transcription. Each cDNA product was diluted to 100  $\mu$ L, and 5  $\mu$ L of the diluted cDNA was subjected to PCR amplification using specific primer pairs described in Table 3.

In general, PCR reactions were carried out for 31 cycles (30 sec at 94 °C for denaturation, 30 sec at 60 °C for annealing, 45 sec at 72 °C for elongation) and finally PCR products were analyzed in 1.5% agarose gel electrophoresis. For the qPCR reactions, 5 µL of diluted cDNA were mixed with 5 µL Sso EvaGreen supermix (Bio-Rad) and 2 µM of each primer and final volume was made up to 12 µL. PCR reactions were carried out in CFX96 real-time detection system (Bio-Rad) for 40 cycles (5 sec at 95 °C for denaturation and 10 sec at 60 °C for both annealing and elongation). Data analysis was performed

using CFX manager software (Bio-Rad). Each experiment was repeated three times with three replicates each time.

#### 3.2.3. Protein extraction and Western blotting

For preparation of whole cell protein extracts, CCL228 cells were incubated in normoxic and hypoxic conditions for indicated time periods. The cells were harvested quickly and resuspended in whole extraction buffer Tris-HCl (pH 8.0), 150 mМ cell [50 mm NaCl, 1 mΜ ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid (EDTA), 0.05% NP-40, 0.2 mM PMSF, 0.5 mM DTT and 1X protease inhibitors cocktail followed by incubation on ice for 25 min and then centrifuged at 15000 x g for 20 min at 4 °C. The supernatant containing the protein extracts was analyzed by SDS-PAGE and subjected to Western blotting using the alkaline phosphatase method.

# 3.2.4. Dual-luciferase reporter assay

HOTAIR promoter (+5 to -2050 bases) encompassing the HRE region at (-1131 bases) was cloned into a luciferase-based reporter construct (pGL3; Promega). CCL228 cells were grown up to 50% confluency, in 6-well cell culture plates and co-transfected with 1500 ng of HOTAIR full promoter-pGL3 construct and 150 ng of a reporter plasmid containing renilla luciferase (pRLTk, as an internal transfection control; Promega) using iFECT transfection reagent as previously described. After 24 h of transfection, cells were incubated for indicated amounts of time in normoxic and hypoxic conditions separately and then subjected to luciferase assay using dual-luciferase reporter assay kit (Promega). Luciferase activities were normalized to the renilla expression and plotted. Each treatment was performed in four parallel replicates and the experiment was repeated at least three times.<sup>271</sup>

# 3.2.5. Chromatin immunoprecipitation assay (ChIP)

ChIP assays were performed using MCF7 cells and EZ Chip™ chromatin immuno-precipitation kit (Upstate) as described in Chapter 2.33,267,271,275 Briefly, CCL228 cells were incubated for indicated amount of time periods in normoxic (21% O<sub>2</sub>, 5% CO<sub>2</sub>) and hypoxic conditions (0.5% O<sub>2</sub>, 5% CO<sub>2</sub>, balanced with N2 gas, 94.5%), fixed with 1% formaldehyde, and then sonicated to shear the chromatins (~ 300 bp long DNA fragments). The fragmented chromatin was pre-cleaned with protein-G agarose beads and subjected to immunoprecipitation using antibodies specific to HIF1 $\alpha$ , HIF2 $\alpha$ , MLL, MLL2, MLL3, MLL4, H3K4-trimethyl, acetylated histone, H3K27-trimethyl, p300, RNA polymerase II (RNAPII) and  $\beta$ -actin (control). Immunoprecipitated chromatins were de-proteinized with proteinase K and purified DNA fragments were obtained. The purified immunoprecipitated DNA samples were PCR amplified using various primers corresponding to an HRE and a non-HRE region of HOTAIR promoter (Table 3). Antibodies were purchased from commercial sources that are as follows: MLL1 (Abgent, AP6182a), MLL2 (Abgent, AP6183a), MLL3 (Abgent, AP6184a), MLL4 (Sigma, AV33704), HIF1a (Novus Biologicals, NB100-134), HIF2 $\alpha$  (Novus Biologicals, NB100-122), H3K4-trimethyl (Upstate, 07-473), RNA pol II (RNAPII, Abcam, 8WG16), β-actin (Sigma, A2066), H3K27-trimethyl (EMD Millipore, 07-449) and p300 (N15, Santa Cruz Biotechnology, Sc584).

#### 3.2.6. Antisense-mediated knockdown of HIF1a and MLL1

# Antisense-mediated knockdown experiment:

**Materials:** 1X trypsin-EDTA solution (Sigma), DMEM without any supplements, DMEM media with 2X supplements (20% FBS, 2% L-glutamine, 2% penicillin and streptomycin), ER $\alpha$  and ER $\beta$ -specific antisense oligonucleotides (custom synthesized from IDT technologies), iFECT (K.D. medicals) were used for antisense mediated knockdown experiments.

# Antisense oligonucleotides design

Antisense oligonucleotides interfere with mRNA stability, cause mRNA degradation, and translational arrest and that ultimately reduced the levels of target mRNA in cells. The antisense approach relies on antisense oligonucleotides to efficiently bind to target sequences and depends on antisense oligonucleotides length, sequence content, secondary structure, thermodynamic properties, and target accessibility.<sup>277</sup> The secondary and tertiary structural folding of mRNA/ncRNA molecule may render the RNA inaccessible to an antisense oligonucleotide. Even the sequences that may bioinformatically appear to be accessible may be involved in intra-molecular hydrogen bonding or stacking interactions, which would disrupt hybridization of an antisense oligonucleotide. Therefore predicting the accessible binding sites on a RNA molecule is important, to which the antisense oligonucleotide may vary from 10-25 nt. Most of our antisense-oligonucleotides were in the range of ~ 22 nt and the *Tm* (melting point) is ~ 42 °C. Phosphorothioate antisense oligonucleotides against HIF1 $\alpha$  and MLL1 were designed using IDT DNA antisense design software.

# Analyze the efficacy of antisenses in knocking down respective genes such as HIF1a, MLLs etc:

- 1. 2 x  $10^5$  CCL228 cells were seeded in 60 mm cell culture plates, grown for 2 generations in DMEM-F12 media with appropriate supplements, with 5 mL of DMEM-F12 with 10% FBS. The plates were incubated in 5% CO<sub>2</sub> incubator at 37 °C until the confluency in the plates reached 55-65%.
- 2. On the day of transfection, following solutions were prepared, Solution A: For each transfection, 1  $\mu$ g 9  $\mu$ g of antisense oligonucleotides was diluted complementary to the HIF1 $\alpha$  and MLL1 mRNA into 100  $\mu$ L of FBS free DMEM-F12 without antibiotics or any supplements. Solution B: For each transfection, 6-8  $\mu$ L of iFECT transfection reagent was diluted into 100  $\mu$ L of FBS free DMEM-F12 without antibiotics and supplements. Solution A was added to solution B.

- 3. If more than one sample needs to be knocked down, using the same antisense oligonucleotide, one can prepare a master mix containing the components for all the knockdown plates at once.
- 4. The solution was mixed by pipetting and the mixture was incubated for 35 45 min at room temperature in dark.
- The cells were washed containing plates 3 times with DMEM-F12 without serum, antibiotics and supplements.
- 6. For each transfection, 0.8 mL of FBS free and antibiotic free DMEM-F12 media was added to each tube containing the antisense/iFECT transfection reagent complex. The diluted complex was gently spread all over plates containing the washed cells and gently swirled for 2 times.
- 7. The cells were incubated for 24 h at 37  $^{\circ}$ C in a CO<sub>2</sub> incubator with 5% CO<sub>2</sub>.
- 8. 1 mL of DMEM-F12 media containing 2 times the normal serum and antibiotic concentration was added without removing the transfection reagent.
- 9. The cells were incubated for an additional 24 48 h (varying time periods for the identifying the efficacy of the antisense mediated knockdown).
- 10. Cells were harvested (by trypsinization) and whole cell protein extracts were made to analyze the levels of HIF1 $\alpha$  knockdown levels using Western blot using HIF1 $\alpha$  -specific antibody.
- 11. The most efficient antisense was used for further studies in understanding the roles of HIF1α/MLLs in hypoxia-induced HOTAIR expression.
- 12. mRNA was isolated from the harvested cells, reverse-transcribed and analysed by PCR or qPCR using primers specific to HOTAIR and GAPDH (control) (Table 3).

# 3.2.7. Statistical analysis

Each experiment was performed in two to three replicates and then cells were pooled (and treated as one sample) and subjected to RNA extraction, RT-PCR, and ChIP analysis; each experiment was repeated at least thrice (n = 3). For luciferase assay, each treatment was performed in replicates of four and the experiment was repeated at least twice. The real-time PCR analysis of such samples was performed in three replicate reactions and repeated; thus, there are three independent experiments (n = 3) in all. Normally distributed data was analyzed using student t-tests (SPSS) to determine the level of significance between individual treatments. The treatments were considered significantly different at  $p \leq 0.05$ .

Gene	Forward Primer (5'-3')	Reverse Primer (5'-3')
PCR primers		
GAPDH	CAATGACCCCTTCATTGACC	GACAAGCTTCCCGTTCTCAG
HOTAIR	GGTAGAAAAAGCAACCACGAAGC	ACATAAACCTCTGTCTGTGAGTGCC
HIF-1a	CCACCTATGACCTGCTTGGT	TATCCAGGCTGTGTCGACTG
HIF-2a	AGCAGCTGGAGAGCAAGAAG	ATGGAAGAGAGAGGGGGTGCT
HOXD8	TCAAATGTTTCCGTGGATGA	CGGGAAATTTGTCCTTGTTG
HOXD10	GCTCCTTCACCACCAACATT	GAACCTCAGGGTTCTCAACG
PCDHB5	GCAAAAGACCTGGGTCTTGGG	AACTGCACTGGATTTTCTAGTAAG
PCDHGA8	ATCGCGGTTCCTGGAGCACGT	GTCTGCACGTCCAGGGAGA
ChIP primers		
HOTAIR HRE	CCTCCTGTTAGCTTGTCTACC	CAGGCTGAATTTACAATCCA
HOTAIR non- HRE	GTCACCAAAAACAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAA	GCGAGTCAGAGTTCCCCACTG
Cloning primers		
HOTAIR	GGTACCCTGTGAGGAGACAGCTG	AAGCTTAGGCTGGAACAGATCCCAA
promoter	CTGGAC <sup>a</sup>	ACAAA <sup>a</sup>
Antisense		
HIF-1a	GCCGGCGCCCTCCAT <sup>b</sup>	
MLL1	TGCCAGTCGTTCCTCTCCAC <sup>b</sup>	
Scramble	CGTTTGTCCCTCCAGCATCT <sup>b</sup>	
<sup>a</sup> cloning primers flanked by appropriate restriction sites.		
<sup>b</sup> nhosnhodiester linkages replaced by phosnhorothioate linkages		

# Table 3. Nucleotide sequence of antisense and primers

phosphodiester linkages replaced by phosphorothioate linkages.

#### 3.3. Results

#### 3.3.1. HOTAIR expression is upregulated under hypoxic environment

In an attempt to investigate if HOTAIR is transcriptionally regulated under hypoxic conditions, we exposed colon cancer cells (CCL228) to normoxic (21% O2, 5% CO2) or hypoxic (0.5% O2, 5% CO<sub>2</sub>, balanced with N<sub>2</sub> gas 94.5%) conditions, separately, for varying time intervals (0 - 24 h). RNA and proteins were isolated from the control and hypoxia-exposed CCL228 cells. RNA was reversetranscribed and analyzed by RT-PCR and qPCR, and proteins were analyzed by western blot. These analyses show that HIF1 $\alpha$  and HIF2 $\alpha$  expression (both RNA and protein levels), that are well-known markers for hypoxia, are upregulated under hypoxic conditions in comparison to normoxia (Figures 10 A-C). Interestingly, along with HIFs, the expression of HOTAIR is also induced upon hypoxia treatment in a time-dependent manner. HOTAIR expression level was highest (~ 4.5 fold) at 8 h which started squelching upon increase in time of exposure to hypoxia (Figures 10A and 10B). In order to demonstrate whether this phenomenon was a common feature of tumor cells, we exposed different types of tumor cells to hypoxic conditions and then analyzed the expression of HOTAIR using RT-PCR and RT-qPCR. These analyses also demonstrate that HOTAIR expression is induced significantly in most of the tumor cells including in colon cancer (CCL228, 4.5 fold), cervical cancer (HeLa, 2.2 fold), breast cancer (MCF7, 3.5 fold), neuroblastoma (SH-SY5Y, 1.7 fold) cell lines (Figures 10D and 10E). Here, we have used CCL228 cells for following biochemical experiments.

In order to further verify the hypoxia-induced expression of HOTAIR, we treated CCL228 cells with a widely used hypoxia mimetic compound  $CoCl_2$ ,<sup>235,278,279</sup>, 260,280,281</sup> and analyzed its impacts on HOTAIR expression. Briefly, CCL228 cells were treated with varying concentrations of CoCl<sub>2</sub> for 48 h and the RNA was analyzed for the expression of HOTAIR, HIF1 $\alpha$ , and HIF2 $\alpha$  using RT-PCR and qPCR. Our analysis shows that CoCl<sub>2</sub> treatment leads to an increase in expression of HOTAIR along

with induction of HIF1 $\alpha$  and HIF2 $\alpha$  in a dose-dependent manner (Figures 11A and 11B). The HOTAIR expression reached to an optimum at ~ 150  $\mu$ M. Time-dependent studies demonstrated that CoCl<sub>2</sub>induced transcriptional activation of HOTAIR reached to maxima at about 48 h post CoCl<sub>2</sub>-treatment (Figures 11C and 11D). Collectively, based on the hypoxia (low oxygen) treatment or hypoxia mimetic (CoCl<sub>2</sub>) treatment analysis, our studies demonstrate that HOTAIR expression is transcriptionally activated under hypoxic conditions.

HOTAIR is well-known to regulate several target genes associated with tumor suppression, cancer, and metastasis.<sup>131,231,239</sup> These include tumor suppressor homeobox genes (such as HOXD10, HOXD8), protocadherin gamma subfamily A-8 (PCDHGA8), PCDHB5, and others. HOXD10 functions as a tumor suppressor in variety of cancers that is inactivated through promoter hyper-methylation.<sup>282</sup> HOXD8 acts as a metastasis suppressor and loss of HOXD8 may give the colorectal cancer cells misinformation to recognize liver as an orthotopic organ.<sup>237</sup> PCDHB5 is involved in intercellular adhesion and signaling and is associated with breast carcinogenesis.238 We analyzed the expression of these HOTAIR target gene expression levels under hypoxia and our analysis revealed that while the level of HOTAIR was upregulated under hypoxia, the expressions of HOTAIR-target genes such as HOXD10, HOXD8, PCDHGA8, and PCDHB5 were significantly repressed (Figures 12A and 12B). Similar to hypoxic conditions, CoCl<sub>2</sub> treatment also resulted in downregulation of HOTAIR target genes such as HOXD10, HOXD8, PCDHGA8, and PCDHB5 expression in CCL228 cells while the expression of HOTAIR expression was augmented (Figures 12C and 12D). As HOTAIR is a repressor, its over expression may be linked with the down-regulation of its target genes under hypoxia (Figure 12), though there may also be HOTAIR-independent mechanism of gene expression involved in those target gene expression. Together, these results support our observation that HOTAIR expression is induced under





(A-C) CCL228 cells were grown in DMEM media and exposed to hypoxic conditions (0.5% O<sub>2</sub>, 5% CO<sub>2</sub>, balanced with N<sub>2</sub> gas, 94.5% ) for varying time periods (0- 24 h). RNA from the control and hypoxia treated cells were analyzed by regular RT-PCR using primers specific to HOTAIR, HIF1 $\alpha$  and HIF2 $\alpha$ . GAPDH was used as a loading control (panel A). qPCR analysis of HOTAIR, HIF1 $\alpha$  and HIF2 $\alpha$  expression, relative to GAPDH is in panel B. The expression of hypoxia induced HIF1 $\alpha$  and HIF2 $\alpha$  (protein levels) are analyzed by western blot ( $\beta$ -actin as loading control) and is shown in panel C. (D-E): CCL228, HeLa, MCF7 and SH-SY5Y cell lines were cultured under normoxic or hypoxic conditions (8 h). RNA was analyzed by RT-PCR (panel D) and qPCR (panel E) for HOTAIR gene expression. Each experiment was repeated for thrice with three parallel replicates (n = 3; P ≤ 0.05).





(A-B) CCL228 cells were treated varying concentration of CoCl<sub>2</sub> (hypoxia mimetic compound) for 48 h. RNA was reversetranscribed and analyzed by RT-PCR (panel A) and qPCR (panel B) with primers specific to HOTAIR, HIF1 $\alpha$ , HIF2 $\alpha$  and GAPDH (control). (C-D) CLL228 cells were treated with 150  $\mu$ M of CoCl<sub>2</sub> for varying time points. RNA was analyzed by RT-PCR (panel C) and qPCR (panel D) for the expression of HOTAIR, HIF1 $\alpha$ , HIF2 $\alpha$  and GAPDH (control). Each experiment was repeated for thrice with three parallel replicates (n = 3; P ≤ 0.05).



Figure 12. Hypoxia modulates the expression of HOTAIR-regulated target genes.

(A-D) CCL228 cells were cultured under normoxic or hypoxic conditions (8 h). RNA from the control and hypoxia-treated cells was reverse-transcribed and analyzed by regular RT-PCR (panel A) and RT-qPCR (panel B) using primers specific to HOTAIR, HIF1 $\alpha$ , HIF2 $\alpha$ , HOXD10, HOXD8, PCDHGA8, PCDHB5 and GAPDH (loading control). (C-D) CCL228 cells were treated with 150  $\mu$ M CoCl<sub>2</sub> for 48 h and then harvested for total RNA extraction. RNA was analyzed by RT-PCR (panel C) and qPCR (panel D) using specific primers specific to HOTAIR, HIF1 $\alpha$ , HIF2 $\alpha$ , HOXD10, HOXD8, PCDHGA8, PCDHAIR, HIF1 $\alpha$ , HIF2 $\alpha$ , HOXD10, HOXD8, PCDHGA8, PCDHAIR, HIF1 $\alpha$ , HIF2 $\alpha$ , HOXD10, HOXD8, PCDHGA8, PCDHGA8, PCDHAIR, HIF1 $\alpha$ , HIF2 $\alpha$ , HOXD10, HOXD8, PCDHGA8, PCDHGA8, PCDHAIR, HIF1 $\alpha$ , HIF2 $\alpha$ , HOXD10, HOXD8, PCDHGA8, PCDHGA8, PCDHAIR, HIF1 $\alpha$ , HIF2 $\alpha$ , HOXD10, HOXD8, PCDHGA8, PCDHAIR, HIF1 $\alpha$ , HIF2 $\alpha$ , HOXD10, HOXD8, PCDHGA8, PCDHAIR, PCDHAIR, HIF1 $\alpha$ , HIF2 $\alpha$ , HOXD10, HOXD8, PCDHGA8, PCDHAIR, PCDHAIR, HIF1 $\alpha$ , HIF2 $\alpha$ , HOXD10, HOXD8, PCDHAIR, PCDHAIR, PCDHAIR, HIF1 $\alpha$ , HIF2 $\alpha$ , HOXD10, HOXD8, PCDHAIR, PCDHAIR, PCDHAIR, HIF1 $\alpha$ , HIF2 $\alpha$ , HOXD10, HOXD8, PCDHAIR, PCDHAIR, PCDHAIR, HIF1 $\alpha$ , HIF2 $\alpha$ , HOXD10, HOXD8, PCDHAIR, PCD

hypoxia and HOTAIR overexpression may lead to its target gene silencing which may contribute to tumorigenesis.

# 3.3.2. HOTAIR promoter contains functional hypoxia response element

Hypoxia-inducible factors (HIFs) are known to stabilize under hypoxic condition. HIFs are transcription factors and regulate the expression of a variety of target genes under hypoxia and that contribute to the tumor growth and metastasis. Generally, HIFs binds to the hypoxia-response elements (HRE) present in promoters of target genes, recruits variety of activators and co-activators, that induces chromatin modification (histone methylation, acetylation, etc.) and chromatin remodeling, and that ultimately results in target gene activation.<sup>133,240,241,261,262,263,264</sup> To find out if the HOTAIR promoter contains potential hypoxia regulatory elements, we analyzed its promoter sequences and identified a potential HRE (hypoxia regulatory element, ATCGTG) located at 1135 nt position and an HIF ancillary site (HAS; CACAG) located at 1110 nt upstream of the transcription start site (Figure 13A).<sup>31,266,268,283,284,285</sup> The HAS is located 16 nt downstream of the potential HRE and is an imperfect inverted repeat that recruits transcription factor complexes other than HIFs (Figure 13A).<sup>286</sup> The region containing both elements is considered as the typical HRE sequence.<sup>287</sup> The presence of the putative HRE motif at the HOTAIR promoter indicates its potential role in HIF-mediated HOTAIR gene regulation under hypoxic condition.

To functionally characterize the HRE motif, we cloned the HOTAIR promoter containing HRE region (+5 to -2050) into a luciferase based reporter construct, pGL3 (Figure 13A) and tested for its hypoxia responsiveness using luciferase-based reporter assay. Briefly, CCL228 cells were transfected with the HOTAIR promoter- pGL3 construct or with the empty pGL3 vector (with no promoter insert) and then exposed to hypoxia for 8 h. Cells were then harvested and luciferase activity driven by the HOTAIR promoter was measured. Notably, along with HOTAIR promoter-pGL3 constructs, a renilla



#### Figure 13. HOTAIR promoter HREs are responsive to hypoxia treatment.

(A-B) Schematic representation of HOTAIR promoter showing a potential HRE (hypoxia response element) sequence 5'-ATCGTG -3' spanning nucleotides -1141 to -1135 and an HIF ancillary site (HAS) 5'- CACAG -3' spanning nucleotides -1115 to -1110. HOTAIR promoter (spanning from +5 to -2050nt) containing HRE and HAS sequences was cloned into a luciferase-based reporter construct, pGL3, used for transfection into CCL228 cells and subjected to the luciferase assay (panel A) (B) HOTAIR promoter activity under both normoxic and hypoxic conditions were analyzed by luciferase assay. HOTAIR promoter-pGL3 or empty pGL3 (vector control) constructs were co-transfected into CCL228 cells separately for 24 h along with renilla luciferase construct (an internal transfection control) (panel B). Cells were then incubated for normoxic and hypoxic conditions separately and then subjected to luciferase assay using dual-Glo luciferase assay kit. The luciferase activities (normalized to renilla activity) were plotted. The experiment was repeated thrice with four parallel replicate. Bars indicate standard errors (n = 3; P ≤ 0.05). Note: This experiment was performed by Dr. Arunoday Bhan in Dr. Mandal's lab at UT Arlington).<sup>288</sup> luciferase vector was also co-transfected as an internal transfection control. As seen in Figure 13B, there was a strong transcriptional induction activity (~ 4.25 fold induction by hypoxia) from the plasmid containing the HOTAIR promoter (HOTAIR - pGL3), in comparison to empty pGL3-construct transfection (Figure 13B). These observations indicate that the HOTAIR promoter containing the HRE region is regulated by hypoxic condition.

# 3.3.3. HIF1a is essential for hypoxia-mediated upregulation of HOTAIR

To understand if HIFs are associated with transcription activation of HOTAIR expression in hypoxic cells, we examined the recruitment of HIFs (HIF1 $\alpha$  or HIF2 $\alpha$ ) to the putative HRE region of the HOTAIR promoter under hypoxia using ChIP assay. In brief, CCL228 cells were exposed to hypoxic and normoxic (control) conditions for 8 h, separately. Cells were fixed with formaldehyde and chromatins were sonicated and immunoprecipitated using antibody against HIF1 $\alpha$ , HIF2 $\alpha$ , and  $\beta$ -actin (negative control). Immunoprecipitated DNA was analyzed by qPCRs using primers specific to an HRE and a non-HRE region, present in the HOTAIR promoter (Figure 14B and 14C). These analyses showed that there is a significant enrichment of HIF1 $\alpha$  (~ 4 fold) in the HRE region of the HOTAIR promoter under hypoxic conditions. No significant enrichment of recruitment of HIF2 $\alpha$  or  $\beta$ -actin (negative) was observed in the HRE region. Additionally, there was also no significant enrichment of HIF1 $\alpha$  and HIF2 $\alpha$  in non-HRE region of the HOTAIR promoter. These observations suggest that HIF1 $\alpha$  specifically binds to the HRE region of the HOTAIR promoter under hypoxic conditions to induce HOTAIR gene activation under hypoxia.

To further explore potential roles of HIF1 $\alpha$  in HOTAIR expression, we knocked down HIF1 $\alpha$  in CCL228 cells and then anlyzed the hypoxia-induced expression of HOTAIR. Briefly, cells were transfected with varying concentrations of HIF1 $\alpha$ -specific antisense oligonucleotide or a scramble antisense (control) for 48 h and then exposed to hypoxic conditions for 8 h. RNA and proteins from the

control and treated cells were analyzed by RT-PCR and western blot (Figures 15 A - C). HIF1 $\alpha$ antisense treatment knocked down HIF1 $\alpha$  at both RNA and protein levels, without affecting expression of HIF2 $\alpha$  (Figures 15 A - C). Interestingly, antisense-mediated knockdown of HIF1 $\alpha$  suppressed the hypoxia-induced expression of HOTAIR levels (4 and 8 folds reduction in case of 2 µg and 5 µg antisense treatment respectively, Figure 15 A and 15B). HIF2 $\alpha$  (as well as GAPDH and  $\beta$ -actin) was used as specificity control (Figures 15 A - C). The scramble antisense had no significant impact on HIF1 $\alpha$  and HOTAIR expression. These analyses demonstrate that HIF1 $\alpha$  plays key roles in hypoxiainduced expression of HOTAIR in CCL228 cells.





(A-B) Schematic representation of the putative binding sites of hypoxia-responsive elements (HREs) in the HOTAIR promoter (panel A). (B-C) CCL228 cells treated with normoxia and hypoxia (8 h) were analyzed by ChIP using antibodies specific to HIF1 $\alpha$ , HIF2 $\alpha$  and  $\beta$ -actin (control). ChIP DNA fragments were PCR amplified using primers specific to HRE and non-HRE regions in the HOTAIR promoter. Panels B and C shows the regular PCR (agarose gel analysis) and qPCR analysis. The experiment was repeated thrice with four parallel replicate. Bars indicate standard errors (n = 3; P ≤ 0.05).



#### Figure 15. Effect of HIFs on the expression of HOTAIR in CCL228 cells under hypoxia.

(A-B) CCL228 cells were transfected with antisense oligonucleotide specific to HIF1 $\alpha$  (2 µg and 5 µg) or scramble antisense (5 µg) separately for 48 h and treated with hypoxia (0.5% O<sub>2</sub>) for additional 8 h. RNA was reverse-transcribed and analyzed by regular RT-PCR (panel A) and qPCR (panel B) using primers specific to HIF1 $\alpha$ , HIF2 $\alpha$ , HOTAIR and GAPDH (control). Bars indicate standard error (n = 3; P ≤ 0.05). (C) HIF1 $\alpha$  protein levels were analyzed by Western blotting after HIF1 $\alpha$ knockdown upon treatment with normoxic and hypoxic conditions (panel C).  $\beta$ -Actin was used as control.

# 3.3.4. Histone H3K4-methylases, and histone acetyl-transferases are enriched at the HOTAIR promoter under hypoxia.

HIFs are well known regulators of hypoxia-related genes.<sup>269,270</sup> Along with HIFs, various other transcriptional activators and coactivators are associated with hypoxia associated transcription activation. These include histone acetyl-transferases such as CREB-binding protein (CBP/p300), and other p160 steroid receptor coactivator (SRC) gene family homologs, SRC-1 and SRC-3, TIP60 and TIF-2.<sup>275,289,290,291,292</sup> Notably, along with histone acetylation, histone H3K4-trimethylation is also critical to gene activation. Mixed lineage leukemia (MLL) family of histone H3K4-specific methyltransferases are well known players in basal gene regulation as well as in gene activation.<sup>31,207,228,242,284,293,294</sup> Recent studies from our laboratory demonstrated that MLL histone methylases are associated with hypoxia signaling, angiogenesis, and tumor growth.<sup>228</sup> In particular, MLL1 is enriched in hypoxic tumor tissue in the region where HIF1 $\alpha$  is stablized and enriched.<sup>228,295</sup> MLL1 is also enriched in the basement membranes of blood vessels, indicating potential role of MLLs in hypoxia signaling and angiogenesis.<sup>247,295</sup> Therefore, to explore futher, we examined if MLLs are also invoved in hypoxia-induced activation of HOTAIR. Additionally, histone acetyltransferase, CBP/p300 have also been identified as interaction partners of MLL and p300 is known to be a transcriptional coactivator for HIFs.<sup>289,296,297,298,299</sup> Notably, MLL1 is shown to interact with CBP and this capacity is essential for its ability to activate transcription.<sup>296</sup> Therefore, to explore futher, we examined if MLLs and p300 are also invoved in hypoxia-induced activation of HOTAIR using ChIP assay. In brief, CCL228 cells were exposed to hypoxia (0.5% O<sub>2</sub>) or normoxia, for 8 h and subjected to ChIP analysis using MLL1, MLL2, MLL3, MLL4, p300, and  $\beta$ -actin (control). The ChIP analyses showed that histone methylase, MLL1 and histone acetylase p300 are enriched in the HRE region of the HOTAIR promoter in a hypoxia-dependent manner (Figure 16B and 16C). Other MLLs (MLL2, MLL3 and MLL4) and  $\beta$ - actin were not significantly enriched. These observations indicate that histone methylase, MLL1 and histone acetylase p300 are involved in hypoxia-mediated induction of HOTAIR via binding to its promoter in a hypoxia dependent manner.

H3K4-trimethylation and histone acetylation are key epigenetic modifications associated with transcriptional activation.<sup>287,300,301,302,303</sup> As MLL1 is a H3K4-methylase and p300 is a histone acetyl-transferase<sup>286,304,305,306,307</sup> and both are involved hypoxia-induced HOTAIR expression, we assessed the levels of histone H3K4-trimethylation and histone acetylation at the HOTAIR promoter under normixa and hypoxia using ChIP assay. Interestingly, we observed an elevation in the levels of H3K4 trimethyl and histone acetylation at the HOTAIR promoter (HRE region) under hypoxia while the levels of H3K27-methylation was decreased (Figure 16D and 16E). Notably, H3K27- methylation is critical roles to gene sielncing and a decrease in histone H3K27-methylation is associated with gene activation.<sup>308</sup> These findings suggest that hypoxia-induced H3K4-trimethylation and histone acetylation marks at the HOTAIR promoter which are introduced via associated histone methylases and acetylases respectively coordinate the process of hypoxic induction of HOTAIR expression.



#### Figure 16. Hypoxia-induced recruitment of MLL-histone methylases and p300 at the promoter of HOTAIR.

(A-E) HOTAIR promoter showing the HRE location (panel A). (B-E) CCL228 cells were treated with normoxia and hypoxia (8 h) conditions separately and subjected to ChIP assay using antibodies specific to MLLs (MLL1–MLL4), p300, H3K4-trimethyl, histone acetyl, H3K27-trimethyl, RNAP II and  $\beta$ -actin (control). ChIP DNA fragments were PCR amplified using primers specific to the HRE region in the HOTAIR promoter. Panels B and C shows the agarose gel analysis and qPCR analysis of the ChIP DNA. (D-E) ChIP analysis of H3K4-trimethyl, histone acetyl, H3K27-trimethyl, RNAP II, and  $\beta$ -actin in the HOTAIR-HRE region (D: agarose gel analysis, E: qPCR analysis). Bars indicate standard errors (n = 3; P ≤ 0.05).

# 3.3.5. MLL1 knockdown down-regulated hypoxia dependent HOTAIR expression

Since MLL1 was found to be recruited to the HOTAIR promoter, we examined if MLL1 is essential for HOTAIR expression in the presence of hypoxia. Therefore, we knocked down MLL1 in CCL228 cells using MLL1 specific antisense oligonucleotides (Table 3). MLL1-knocked-down cells were exposed to hypoxic or normoxic conditions independently for 8 h. RNA and proteins from the control and treated cells were analyzed by qPCR and western blot. These analyses demonstrated that application of MLL1 antisense (MLL1-AS) specifically knocked down MLL1 (Figure 17A). The knockdown of MLL1 decreased hypoxia induced expression of HOTAIR (Figure 17B). MLL1 knockdown shows minimal impact of the basal expression of HOTAIR under normoxia. These observations suggest that histone methylase MLL1 is essential player in hypoxia induced HOTAIR expression.



#### Figure 17. Roles of MLL1 in hypoxia-induced expression of HOTAIR.

(A-B) CCL228 cells were transfected with MLL1 or scramble antisense (5  $\mu$ g each) separately for 48 h and exposed to hypoxic environment for 8 h. Whole cell proteins were isolated and subjected to western blot using MLL1 and beta-actin (control) antibodies (panel A). RNA was isolated and subjected to qPCR analysis using primers specific to HOTAIR and GAPDH. The levels of HOTAIR expression (relative to GAPDH) under normoxia and hypoxia is plotted in panel B (qPCR). Each experiment was repeated at least thrice (n = 3). Bars indicate standard errors (n = 3; P ≤ 0.05).

# 3.4. Discussion

Hypoxic tumor microenvironment is a critical driver of tumor growth and metastasis.<sup>309,310,311,312,313</sup> Hypoxia inducible factors (HIFs) are a family of transcription factors which are stabilized under hypoxic tumor microenvironment due to their inhibition of degradation.<sup>300</sup> Under normoxia, alpha subunits of HIFs are hydroxylated by proline hydroxylase (PHD), which facilitate their polyubiquitination and subsequent degradation.<sup>148,301,314,315</sup> However, under hypoxic conditions, HIFs are not hydroxylated and therefore not degraded. The stabilized HIFs translocate to the nucleus, bind to hypoxia response elements (HREs) and initiate transcription of hypoxia-regulated genes including tumor growth and angiogenic factors.<sup>291,316,317</sup> HIF activation, in turn, leads to increased cell proliferation, angiogenesis, and tumor growth.<sup>228,270,295</sup> Recent studies suggest that, along with protein coding genes, noncoding RNA appears to be closely associated with tumorigenesis. Many ncRNAs especially lncRNA expressions are influenced by hypoxia. Examples of hypoxia-regulated lncRNA include H19, lncRNAp21, noncoding ultra-conserved transcripts, lnc-RoR, urothelial carcinoma-associated-1 (UCA1) etc which are key players in variety of cancers.<sup>296,297,318,319</sup> Here, we have investigated the transcriptional regulation of an oncogenic lncRNA, HOTAIR which is overexpressed in multiple types of human carcinomas such as colorectal carcinomas, breast carcinomas, etc.<sup>114,123,131,320</sup>

HOTAIR lncRNA gene is located on chromosome 12 within the HOXC locus and regulates the expression of HOXD cluster genes present in the chromosome 2, in a *trans* regulatory fashion.<sup>114,131,235,321</sup> HOTAIR carries out the transcriptional repression of HOXD cluster of genes by interacting and guiding the gene silencing chromatin modifying complexes of PRC2 and LSD1 complexes to the target loci, leading to epigenetic modifications that are in turn associated with the process of transcriptional repression.<sup>236,321</sup> Recent studies from our lab demonstrate that HOTAIR is transcriptionally upregulated by estradiol (E2) and other endocrine disruptors such as bisphenol-A

(BPA) and diethylstilbestrol (DES) *in vitro* and *in vivo*.<sup>88,130</sup> The E2- mediated upregulation of HOTAIR is coordinated via ERs (estrogen receptors) and various ER-coregulators including MLL histone methylases. HOTAIR also regulates various tumor suppressor genes including PCDH10 (Protocadherin-10), PCDHB5 (Protocadherin  $\beta$ -5), JAM2 (Junction adhesion molecule 2) etc and thus is closely associated with the initiation and progression of tumors.<sup>130,239,322,323</sup> Here, our studies demonstrate that HOTAIR is transcriptionally induced upon hypoxic conditions in different types of tumor cells including colon cancer, breast cancer, cervical cancer, and neuroblastoma cells. HOTAIR induction was also observed under hypoxia mimetic condition such as under treatment with CoCl<sub>2</sub> (in CCL228 cells). Additionally, we also observed that while HOTAIR expression is induced upon hypoxia, several HOTAIR target genes and tumor suppressors such as HOXD10, HOXD8, PCDHGA8, and PCDHB5 were down-regulated under hypoxic conditions as well as under CoCl<sub>2</sub> treatment conditions. This could be due to the fact that HOTAIR recruits PRC2 and LSD1 complexes which introduce H3K27trimethylation and H3K4-demethylation respectively at the above target gene promoters resulting in their gene silencing.

Normally, many hypoxia regulated gene expression are coordinated via the recruitment of HIF transcription factors which bind to the hypoxia response element (HRE) present in the target gene promoters. Promoter analysis show that HOTAIR promoter contains a putative hypoxia response element (HRE) within close proximity of the transcription start site (within -2000 nt) which indicates potential hypoxic regulation of HOTAIR expression. Luciferase-based reporter assay indeed shows that HOTAIR promoter is functionally activated upon hypoxia. Interestingly, CHIP analysis showed that HIF1 $\alpha$ , which is a key regulator of hypoxia driven target gene expression, binds to the HRE region of the HOTAIR promoter. Furthermore, knockdown of HIF1 $\alpha$  leads to downregulation of the hypoxia-

induced expression of HOTAIR. These observations demonstrated that hypoxia-induced HOTAIR expression is coordinated via HIF1α.

Notably, along with HIFs, a variety of other factors such as histone acetyl transferases and other coactivators play crucial roles in the hypoxia-dependent gene activation.<sup>32,302,303</sup> Many of these transcription activators and coactivators interact with HIFs, get recruited to the promoters of hypoxia regulated genes and remodel the chromatins leading to gene activation.<sup>282,283,291,307,318,319</sup> ChIP analysis indeed demonstrated histone acetyl-transferase p300 as well as the levels of histone acetylation are enriched at the HOTAIR promoter in a hypoxia-dependent manner. Similar to histone acetylation, histone H3K4-trimethylation is also associated with gene activation. MLLs are well known as human histone H3K4-specific histone methyl-transferases that are integral component of eukaryotic gene activation.<sup>31,207,307</sup> Here, our results demonstrated that along with HIF1 $\alpha$  and p300, histone methylase, MLL1 is also enriched at the HOTAIR promoter under hypoxic condition. Histone H3K4-trimethylation and RNAPII levels are also increased at the HOTAIR promoter upon exposure to hypoxia. Knockdown of MLL1 also down regulated the level of hypoxia-induced HOTAIR expression. Notably, involvement of MLL1 in hypoxic tumor microenvironment is previously observed in our laboratory.<sup>247,295</sup> Therefore, the current observation that MLL1 play key roles in regulation of HOTAIR expression under hypoxia further strengthens our findings and hypothesis that MLL1 is a critical player in hypoxia signaling and especially in regulation of hypoxia-driven gene expression and tumorigenesis.

Overall, our studies demonstrated that HOTAIR is a hypoxia responsive gene and its expression is augmented under hypoxia in tumor cells. We demonstrate that along with HIFs, histone methyl-transferase (MLL1), and histone acetyl-transferase (p300) coordinate to induce hypoxia-dependent activation of HOTAIR. Notably, hypoxia-mediated activation of HOTAIR was recently observed in non-small cell lung cancer cells (NSCLC)<sup>306</sup> and thus, our observations about the hypoxia-induced

HOTAIR expression in colon cancer, breast cancer, cervical cancer and neuroblastoma are in agreement with the previous observation in lung cancer cells. Furthermore our observation demonstrate that histone methylase MLL1, which is enriched in hypoxic tumor tissue and associated with angiogenesis,<sup>247,295</sup> coordinates with HIF1 $\alpha$  and plays a critical role in regulation of hypoxia-induced expression of HOTAIR. Thus, our studies further strengthen the significance HOTAIR and MLL1 in hypoxia signaling and tumor growth and they are potential targets for novel cancer therapy. A model showing the hypoxia-induced HOTAIR expression, roles of MLL1 and HIFs is shown in figure 18. Notably, HOTAIR is an antisense transcript and an lncRNA. Therefore, our studies also demonstrate that hypoxia coordination of HIFs and other transcription factors. As HOTAIR is a key player in a variety of cancers and hypoxia and it plays a major role in tumor growth, our studies showing the hypoxia-induced HOTAIR expression via coordination of HIFs, histone methylases and acetylases shed light on understanding the mechanism of HOTAIR expression in tumor cells, especially under the hypoxic tumor microenvironment.



#### Figure 18. Mechanism of regulation of HOTAIR gene expression under hypoxia.

HIFs are stabilized under hypoxia, translocate to the nucleus, heterodimerise (HIF1 $\alpha/\beta$ ) and bind to HRE regions present in the HOTAIR promoter. Along HIFs, histone acetyl-transferase (CBP/p300), histone methylase MLL1 and other coactivators are enriched at the HOTAIR promoter. Promoter histones are methylated at H3K4 via MLL1 and acetylated via HATs such as p300 associated with HIFs, allowing access of RNA Polymerase II and other General Transcription Factors (GTFs) to the HOTAIR promoter, ultimately resulting in HOTAIR gene activation.

# CHAPTER 4

# TRANSCRIPTIONAL REGULATION OF BRAIN DERIVED NEUROTROPHIC FACTOR (BDNF) VIA LNCRNA HOTAIR AND ESTRADIOL

# 4.1. Introduction

Brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) is a critical player in neurogenesis and neuroprotection.<sup>159</sup> BDNF has survival and growth promoting actions on a variety of neurons, including dorsal root ganglion cells, hippocampal, and cortical neurons.<sup>324,325,326</sup> BDNF is a member of the neurotrophin family of growth factors along with nerve growth factor (NGF), neurotrophins-3 (NT-3), NT4/5 and NT-6. BDNF is synthesized in the endoplasmic reticulum (ER) as a 32-35 kDa precursor protein (pro BDNF) that moves through the Golgi apparatus and trans-Golgi network (TGN).<sup>159</sup> In the presence of lipid raft associated sorting receptor carboxy peptidase E (CPE), pro-BDNF is sorted by vesicles and subsequently transported into activity-dependent secretion by post-synaptic dendrites.<sup>327</sup> The terminal domain of pro-BDNF is cleaved by a distinct protein convertase enzyme to form 13 kDa biologically active mature BDNF (mBDNF).<sup>328,329,330</sup> The BDNF gene consists of nine 5' noncoding exons each linked to individual promoter regions, and a 3' coding exon (IX), which codes for the BDNF preprotein amino acid sequence.<sup>331,332</sup> The neuronal activity-dependent regulation of specific promoter regions within the BDNF gene dictates the spatial and temporal expression of specific BDNF transcript isoforms which determine tissue-specific expression of the BDNF transcript.<sup>333,334</sup> Human BDNF structure is closely related to rat and mouse BDNF. Eight distinct mRNAs are transcribed, with transcripts containing exons I-III expressed predominantly in brain and exon IV found in lung and heart. In situ hybridization experiments have revealed that BDNF mRNA is strongly expressed in the brain. The BDNF expression levels are low during fetal development, markedly increase after birth, and then decrease in adults. There are two types of receptors for neurotrophins, either tropomyosin-kinases (trk) or the p75 receptor.<sup>335</sup> BDNF and NT-4 bind to trk $\beta$ , whereas all neurotrophins bind to p75. Full-length trk $\beta$  receptors autophosphorylate in response to ligand activation, and this, in turn, activates numerous signal cascades.

Several factors regulate the expression of BDNF gene. Significantly, compounds that influence or alter neural development exert a profound effect on the expression of this gene and protein. These include teratogens such as cocaine, alcohol and nicotine, <sup>336,337,338</sup> steroid hormones such as glucocorticoids and estrogen, calcium and other signaling molecules such as cAMP.<sup>339,340,341,342,343</sup> BDNF expression is also influenced by other factors that include light, osmotic stimuli, electrical stimuli, and estrous cycle hormones.<sup>344,345,346,347</sup> Hormonal status can greatly influence the expression of BDNF and/or trk $\beta$  expression.<sup>348</sup> Estrogen replacement in young adult, ovariectomized, female rats increases BDNF expression in the olfactory bulb, hippocampus, cortex, amygdala, septum, dorsolateral area of the bed nucleus terminalis and the lateral habenular nucleus.<sup>349,350</sup> The mouse BDNF gene contains a sequence, GGACACAAGTGACC with close homology to the estrogen response element, GGTCAnnnTGACC and estrogen-ligand complexes are capable of binding this sequence and mediate transcriptional regulation.<sup>351</sup> Abnormal levels of BDNF expression causes a variety of neurological disorders.326 For example, decreased BDNF expression is associated with Alzheimer's disease, Parkinson's disease, and Huntington's disease (HD).<sup>157,352,353,354,355</sup> Increased expression of BDNF is linked with seizure and epilepsy.356,357 However, investigations into the transcription-regulating mechanisms mediating changes in BDNF gene expression in neurological disorders are lacking, partly because of the complex structure of the BDNF gene. Here, we have investigated the epigenetic mechanisms of BDNF gene regulation. Our study shows that BDNF expression is repressed by a long non-coding RNA HOTAIR (HOX antisense intergenic RNA). HOTAIR that interacts with histone methylase PRC2 (polycomb repressive complex 2) and histone demethylase LSD1 (lysine specific demethylase 1, that interacts with REST), recruits them to target gene promoters leading to gene silencing.<sup>129,133</sup> We also observed that knockdown of HOTAIR- upregulates BDNF expression in hippocampal neuronal cells (HT22). Alternatively, BDNF expression is also induced by estradiol (E2) which is known to stimulate neuronal repair and regeneration.

# 4.2. Experimental procedure

#### 4.2.1. Cell culture

HT 22 cells, a subclone of the original clone HT4,<sup>358</sup> are immortalized hippocampal cells that have been characterized previously.<sup>359,360</sup> HT22 cells were cultured in cell culture plates (100 x 20 mm<sup>2</sup>) with Dulbecco's modified Eagle's media (DMEM; Sigma–Aldrich) supplemented with 10% heat-inactivated fetal bovine serum (FBS; Sigma–Aldrich), 2 mM L-glutamine and penicillin–streptomycin (100 units and 0.1 mg/ml, respectively). Cells were cultured and maintained at 37 °C in a humidified incubator (5% CO<sub>2</sub> in 95% air).

# 4.2.2. Treatment with 17β-estradiol

Treatment of HT22 with E2 was carried out as previously described by our laboratory.<sup>88,185,361,362</sup> In brief, HT22 cells were grown in phenol red-free DMEM-F12 media containing 10% charcoal stripped FBS, 2 mM L-glutamine and 100 units/mL penicillin and 0.1 mg/mL streptomycin for at least three generations. Cells were then grown in 60 mm cell culture plates overnight (60-70% confluency), then HT22 cells were treated with varying concentrations of E2 (0 - 1000 nM) for 6 h. The control (treated with diluent DMSO) and treated HT22 cells were harvested for RNA/protein extraction as well as for ChIP assays as needed.<sup>35,194,228,293,363,364</sup>

#### 4.2.3. Treatment with EZH2 Inhibitor

HT22 cells were plated in 6-well plates at an initial seeding density (~ 50%) to ensure cell densities were within linear log phase growth upto day 4 of the time course. Cells were treated with either DMSO or varying concentrations of EPZ005687 (Chemietek).<sup>365</sup> Cells were harvested after 4 days and assayed for RNA/protein extraction.

# 4.2.4. RNA extraction, cDNA synthesis, RT-PCR and RT-qPCR

For the RNA extraction, similar protocols were followed that have been described in Chapter 3 and 4.<sup>33,267,271,275</sup> In brief, HT22 cells were either treated with antisense-oligonucleotides for 48 h or with E2 for 6 h and harvested, centrifuged at 1800 x g for 5 min at 4 °C, and then resuspended in diethyl pyrocarbonate (DEPC) treated buffer A [20 mM Tris-HCl (pH 7.9); 1.5 mM MgCl<sub>2</sub>, 10 mM KCl, 0.5 mM dithiothreitol (DTT), and 0.2 mM PMSF] for 10 min on ice. Cells were centrifuged at 8000 x g for 5 min at 4 °C, and the supernatant was subjected to phenol-chloroform (1:1 phenol and chloroform saturated with 1X TE) extraction. The aqueous layer was mixed with 2.5 volumes of ethanol, incubated at -80 °C for 4 h and then centrifuged at 20000 x g for 30 min at 4 °C. The RNA pellets were air dried, dissolved in DEPC treated water containing 0.5 mM EDTA, and quantified using a nanodrop spectrophotometer.

For cDNA synthesis, 2.4  $\mu$ M of oligo dT (Promega) was mixed with 500 ng of the RNA extracted in a 12  $\mu$ L total volume and incubated at 70 °C for 10 min. The mix was then added to a cocktail of 100 units of MMLV reverse transcriptase (Promega), 1X first strand buffer (Promega), 100  $\mu$ M dNTPs (each), 1 mM DTT, and 20 units of RNaseOut (Invitrogen) and the volume was made up to 25  $\mu$ L (using DEPC treated water). This mixture was incubated at 37 °C for 1 h for the reverse transcription. Each cDNA product was diluted to 100  $\mu$ L, and 5  $\mu$ L of the diluted cDNA was subjected to PCR amplification using specific primer pairs described in Table 4.
In general, PCR reactions were carried out for 31 cycles (30 sec at 94 °C for denaturation, 30 sec at 60 °C for annealing, 45 sec at 72 °C for elongation) and finally PCR products were analyzed in 1.5% agarose gel electrophoresis. For the qPCR reactions, 5 µL of diluted cDNA were mixed with 5 µL Sso EvaGreen supermix (Bio-Rad) and 2 µM of each primer and final volume was made up to 12 µL. PCR reactions were carried out in CFX96 real-time detection system (Bio-Rad) for 40 cycles (5 sec at 95 °C for denaturation and 10 sec at 60 °C for both annealing and elongation). Data analysis was performed using CFX manager software (Bio-Rad). Each experiment was repeated three times with three replicates each time.

# 4.2.5. Whole cell protein/histone extraction and Western blotting

For preparation of whole cell protein extracts, HT22 cells were either treated with antisenseoligonucleotides for 48 h or with E2 for 6 h. The cells were harvested quickly and resuspended in whole cell extraction buffer [50 mm Tris–HCl (pH 8.0), 150 mM NaCl, 1 mM ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid (EDTA), 0.05% NP-40, 0.2 mM PMSF, 0.5 mM DTT and 1X protease inhibitors cocktail] followed by incubation on ice for 25 min and then centrifuged at 15000 x g for 20 min at 4 °C. The supernatant containing the protein extracts was analyzed by SDS-PAGE and subjected to Western blotting using the alkaline phosphatase method.

For histone extraction, HT22 cells were harvested and resuspended in extraction buffer [TEB: PBS containing 0.5% Triton X 100 (v/v), 2 mM phenylmethylsulfonyl fluoride (PMSF)] at a cell density of 10<sup>7</sup> cells/ml (5 mL). Cells were lysed on ice for 10 minutes with gentle stirring or by slow rotation at 4 °C and centrifuged at 2000 rpm for 10 min at 4 °C. The supernatant was removed and discarded. The pellet was resuspended in 0.2 N HCl (1.25 mL). The histones were acid extracted over night at 4 °C by slow rotation. Samples were centrifuged at 2000 rpm for 10 min at 4 °C. The supernatant containing histones was transferred into a fresh 1.5 ml tube and quantified for western blot analysis.<sup>366</sup>

## 4.2.6. Chromatin Immunoprecipitation Assay

For ChIP analyses, HT22 cells were either transfected with HOTAIR/scramble antisense oligonucleotide or treated with 10 nM/100 nM E2 for 6 h as described in Chapter 3. ChIP assays were performed using HT22 cells and EZ Chip<sup>TM</sup> chromatin immuno-precipitation kit (Upstate) as described in Chapter 3 and 4.<sup>33,267,271,275</sup> In brief, post-treatment, cells were crosslinked with 1 % formaldehyde for 10 min at 37 °C, washed twice in ice-cold PBS containing 1 mM PMSF; and 1 X protease inhibitor cocktail (Sigma-Aldrich) and harvested using SDS lysis buffer (1% SDS, 10 mM EDTA, 50 mM Tris, pH 8.1). The harvested cells were subjected to sonication to shear the chromatin (~150-450 bp in length). The fragmented chromatin was precleared with protein-G agarose beads and subjected to immunoprecipitation using antibodies specific to EZH2 (Active Motif; 39875), LSD1 (Active Motif; 61607), ERα (Santa cruz; 2Q418), ERβ (Santa Cruz; SC-8974), H3K4-trimethyl (EMD-Millipore; 07-473), RNAPII (Abcam; ab5408), MLL1 (Abgent; AO1146a), MLL2 (Bethyl laboratories; A300-113A), MLL3 (Abgent; AP6184a), MLL4 (Sigma; AV33704), CBP (Santa Cruz, sc-369), p300 (Santa Cruz; sc-585), histone-acetylation (EMD-Millipore; 06–599) and  $\beta$ -actin (Sigma, A2066). Immunoprecipitated chromatin was washed, decrosslinked and deproteinized at 65 °C in presence of 5 M NaCl, followed by incubation with proteinase K (Sigma) at 45 °C for 1 h. The ChIP chromatin was purified. Purified ChIP DNA was PCR amplified using primers spanning the different regions present in the BDNF promoter (Table 4). The analysis of ChIP DNA was carried out via regular PCR and qPCR amplifications.

#### 4.2.7. Antisense-mediated knockdown of HOTAIR

For HOTAIR knockdown experiments, initially, a synthetic oligonucleotide DNA that is complementary to antisense HOTAIR transcript was designed using the IDT-DNA antisense design software and was named as small interfering sense (siSENSE) oligonucleotide. HOTAIR siSENSE sequence was selected based on about 50% GC content and a melting temperature of 40 °C and were modified synthetically by replacement of regular phosphodiester bonds with phosphorothioate linkages. Approximately, 24 h before transfection, HT22 cells were plated in 2.5 ml complete growth medium per well in a 6-well plate. HT22 cells were grown up to  $\geq$ 80% confluent prior to transfection confluency and transfected with mouse HOTAIR and scramble sISENSE (no homology to HOTAIR) antisense oligonucleotides independently (Table 4) using TransIT-Oligo Transfection Reagent reagent (Mirus Bio).<sup>367,368</sup> Prior to transfection, a transfection reagent mix was made by adding Opti-MEM Reduced-Serum Medium and warm TransIT-Oligo Reagent in a sterile tube according to manufacturer's instruction. The mixture was pipetted gently to mix completely. 5-7 µL of antisense oligonucleotide (1µg/µl stock) was added in separate tubes for a final concentration of 5-7 µg per reaction mix. The mixture was pipetted again to mix completely and incubated at room temperature for 5-20 min. The TransIT-Oligo Reagent: oligo complexes was then added drop-wise to different areas of the wells and incubated for 48 h and cells were either fixed for chromatin immunoprecipitation or harvested for RNA/protein extraction.

# 4.2.8. Statistical analysis

Each experiment was performed in two to three replicates and then cells were pooled (and treated as one sample) and subjected to RNA extraction, RT-PCR, and ChIP analysis; each experiment was repeated at least thrice (n = 3). For luciferase assay, each treatment was performed in replicates of four and the experiment was repeated at least twice. The real-time PCR analysis of such samples was performed in three replicate reactions and repeated; thus, there are three independent experiments (n = 3) in all. Normally distributed data was analyzed using student t-tests (SPSS) to determine the level of significance between individual treatments. The treatments were considered significantly different at  $p \leq 0.05$ .

Gene	Forward Primer (5'-3')	Reverse Primer (5'-3')
PCR primers		
I		
mGAPDH	ACCCAGAAGACTGTGGATGG	CACATTGGGGGGTAGGAACAC
mBDNF	CAGGTGAGAAGAGTGATGACC	ATTCACGCTCTCCAGAGTCCC
mHOXD10	GACATGGGGACCTATGGAATGC	CGGATCTGTCCAACTGTCTACT
mHOTAIR	TCCAGATGGAAGGAACTCCAGACA	ATAGATGTGCGTGGTCAGATCGCT
mHOXD3	GAGACCTGGCACTGGGAATA	TGAGTCCACCCTTGGTCTTC
ChIP primers		
DDNE HOT I		
mbdnf-h01-l		
mbdnf-h015		
IIIBDNF-EKEI	TACCOUTCATCATOTCCAA	
Anticanca		
Anuscuse		
mHOTAIR	C*C*T*T*C*C*T*T*C*C*G*C*T*C*T*T	
	*A*C*T*C*T	

 Table 4. Nucleotide sequence of primers

\*phosphodiester linkages replaced by phosphorothioate linkages.

#### 4.3. Results

#### 4.3.1. HOTAIR knockdown leads to increased BDNF expression

In order to understand the mechanism of BDNF expression, we examined its transcription regulatory mechanism under the basal condition in the absence of any external stimuli. In particular, we examined the function of a long non-coding RNA, HOTAIR and its interacting partner histone methylase EZH2 which are known players in gene silencing. As BDNF expression is known to be expressed in hippocampal neurons, we chose to use a mouse hippocampal neuronal cell line HT22 for our in vitro study. Initially, we knocked down HOTAIR in HT22 cells by transfecting a HOTAIRspecific antisense (HOTAIR-AS) followed by analyzing its impacts on BDNF expression.<sup>185</sup> Briefly, HT22 cells were transfected with varying concentrations of the HOTAIR- siSENSE oligonucleotide for 48 h. Cells were also transfected in parallel with a scramble-antisense that has no complementarity to HOTAIR RNA. RNA from the control, siSENSE/ scramble antisense-treated cells were isolated, reverse-transcribed and subjected to PCR-amplification and qPCR using primers specific to HOTAIR, BDNF and GAPDH (non-specific control) (Figure 18, Table 4). Our results showed that application of HOTAIR siSENSE knocked down effectively (~ 70% knockdown) HOTAIR transcript levels in a dose dependent manner, 9 µg siSENSE being the most effective in HOTAIR knockdown (Figure 19A and 19B). Interestingly, HOTAIR knockdown also resulted in increased BDNF mRNA (~ 3 fold). The induction of BDNF expression was also observed at the protein level under HOTAIR knockdown These observations indicate that lncRNA HOTAIR represses the BDNF condition (Figure 19C). transcription. Notably, HOTAIR is known to repress several target genes such as HOXD10 and HOXD3 that are associated neuronal differentiation.<sup>369</sup> Our RT-PCR and qPCR analysis also show that expression of HOXD3 and HOXD10 are augmented under HOTAIR knockdown conditions in HT22

cells. These observations further support that in addition to well known target genes of HOTAIR, BDNF expression is also regulated by HOTAIR in HT22 cells.



#### Figure 19. HOTAIR knockdown increases BDNF expression.

(A-C) HT22 cells were transiently transfected with antisense oligonucleotide specific to HOTAIR (7 µg and 9 µg) or scramble antisense (7 µg) separately for 48 h. RNA was reverse-transcribed and analyzed by regular RT-PCR (panel A) and qPCR (panel B) using primers specific to BDNF, HOTAIR, HOXD3 and HOXD10. GAPDH was used as an internal control. Western blot analysis was used to evaluate the expression of BDNF protein levels after HOTAIR knockdown (panel C).  $\beta$ -Actin was used as the internal control. Each experiment was repeated for thrice with three parallel replicates (n = 3; P ≤ 0.05).

# 4.3.2. Inhibition of EZH2 induces BDNF expression

HOTAIR is a scaffold lncRNA that interacts with gene silencing factors PRC2 and LSD1 and aid their recruitment in target gene promoter inducing transcriptional repression. EZH2, an interacting component of PRC2, is a histone H3K27 specific methyl-transferase that plays key roles in gene silencing. To further understand the roles of HOTAIR in BDNF gene silencing, we inhibited HOTAIR interacting EZH2 using a commercial EZH2 inhibitor and then analyzed its impacts on BDNF and other HOTAIR target gene expression in HT22 cells. Briefly, we treated HT22 cells for 96 h with various concentrations of a potent and selective small-molecule inhibitor of EZH2, EPZ005687.<sup>365</sup> RNA and proteins were isolated from HT22 cells post-treatment with EPZ005687 targeting EZH2. RNA was reverse-transcribed and analyzed by RT-PCR and qPCR using specific primers such as GAPDH (control), BDNF and known HOTAIR target genes such as HOXD3 and HOXD10 (Table 4). These analysis demonstrate that the level of BDNF expression and HOTAIR target genes such as HOXD3 and HOXD10 are increased significantly (~ 5 fold) upon treatment with EZH2-inhbitor in a dose-dependent manner (Figures 20 A-D). Western blot analysis of histone protein from the EZH2-inhbitor treated cell demonstrates that EZH2 inhibitor application reduced the level of histone H3K27-trimethylation (Figure 20E). These observations suggest that similar to HOTAIR, EZH2 also plays key roles in BDNF gene silencing.





(A-E) HT22 cells were treated with varying concentrations of EZH2-inhibitor (EPZ005687) for 96 h. RNA from the control and treated (96 h) cells was reverse transcribed and analyzed by regular PCR and qPCR for expression using primers specific to BDNF, HOXD3, and HOXD10. GAPDH was used as loading control. Panels A and C show the agarose gel analysis wheras Panel B and D shows RT–qPCR analysis of gene expression following 96 h treatment with EPZ005687. Histones proteins were acid-extracted from HT22 cells after treatment with EPZ005687 for 96 h and were examined by Western blotting. HT22 cells show a dose-dependent decrease in H3K27me3 levels with increasing concentrations of EPZ005687 (panel E). Histone was used as a loading control. Each experiment was repeated for thrice with three parallel replicates (n = 3;  $P \le 0.05$ ).

#### 4.3.3. PRC2 and LSD1 bind to the BDNF promoter in an HOTAIR dependent manner

In order to further understand the mechanism of HOTAIR/PRC2/LSD1-mediated BDNF gene expression, we analyzed the promoter of BDNF for the presence of putative binding sites of PRC2 and LSD1 subunits. Notably, SUZ12 is known to recognize a consensus 9 bp enriched motif of "NNGGANANN" termed as "HOT-S sites" for short whereas LSD1 is known to specifically bind to CG-rich motifs- "NCCNGN" termed as "HOT-L sites" at the promoter of target genes.

We analyzed the BDNF promoter sequences for the presence of potential HOT-S and HOT-L sites. This analysis revealed that along with various other transcription factor binding sites, BDNF promoter contains multiple putative HOT-S and HOT-L sites (Figure 21A). The presence of the multiple HOT-L and HOT-S sites at the BDNF promoter indicates potential roles of PRC2, LSD1 in BDNF gene regulation.

As HOTAIR is a common interacting and guiding partner for PRC2 and LSD1 complexes, we tested if silencing HOTAIR affects the binding of SUZ12 and LSD1 at the HOT-S and HOT-L sites at the BDNF promoter. In brief, we knocked down HOTAIR in HT22 by using a HOTAIR specific antisense (HOTAIR-AS) oligonucleotide and cells were subjected to ChIP assay using antibodies against EZH2, LSD1 and and  $\beta$ -actin (negative control). Immunoprecipitated DNA was analyzed by RT-PCR and qPCR using primers specific to HOT-L (located at 491 bp) and HOT-S site (located at 3394 bp) present in the BDNF promoter. These analysis showed that application of HOTAIR-AS knocked down the HOTAIR RNA level (~ 70%) in HT22 cells. Interestingly, we observed that EZH2 and LSD1 were bound at the BDNF promoter in the normal cells (in the absence of HOTAIR-AS) and their levels were significantly reduced at the BDNF promoter upon HOTAIR-knockdown (Figure 21B and 21C).

Notably, histone H3K4-methylation and histone acetylations are linked with gene activation while H3K27-methylation (which is introcued by EZH2) is linked with gene silencing. As BDNF expression is induced upon HOTAIR knockdown, we also examined the levels of H3K4-and H3K27-methylation and level of RNA polymerase II (RNAP II) enrichments at the BDNF promoter in the absence and presence of HOTAIR knockdowns using ChIP assay. These analsyis demonstrate that along with EZH2, H3K27-methylation levels is decreased at the BDNF promoter upon HOTAIR –knockdown while the levels of H3K4-trimethylation and RNAPII were enriched upon HOTAIR –knockdown (Figure 21B and 21C). These observations indicate that HOTAIR aids in recruitment of EZH2 and LSD1, which induces H3K27-methylation and H3K4-demthylation respectively at the BDNF promoter leading to BDNF repression. However, HOTAIR knockdown derecruits EZH2 and LSD1, which results in increased H3K4-trimethylation and RNAP II recruitment at the BDNF promoter resting in BDNF gene induction.



Figure 21. Derecruitment of LSD1 and EZH2 levels and other associated histone marks at the BDNF promoter upon HOTAIR knockdown.

(A-C) Schematic representation of BDNF promoter showing potential PRC/ Suz 12-binding (HOT-S) and LSD1-binding (HOT-L) sequence located at 491 nt and 3394 nt upstream of the transcription start site at the BDNF promoter (panel A) HT22 cells were transfected with antisense oligonucleotide specific to HOTAIR (7 µg) or scramble antisense (7 µg) separately for 48 h, fixed, sonicated and DNA fragments were subjected to ChIP assay using antibodies specific to EZH2, LSD1, H3K4-trimethyl, H3K27-trimethyl, RNAP II and  $\beta$ -actin (control). ChIP DNA fragments were PCR amplified (qPCR) using primers specific to HOT-S and HOT-L regions in the BDNF promoter (panels B and C). Panel B shows agarose gel analysis of EZH2, LSD1, H3K4-trimethyl, histone acetyl, H3K27-trimethyl, RNAP II, and  $\beta$ -actin recruitment in the HOT-S and HOT-L regions. Panel C shows qPCR data analysis. The experiment was repeated thrice. Bars indicate standard errors (n = 3; P ≤ 0.05).

# 4.3.4. Estradiol induces BDNF expression in HT22 cells

Neuronal growth and maintenance is well known to be influenced by steroid hormones such as estradiol. of differentiation and plasticity hippocampal Estradiol regulates the process of neurons.<sup>370,371,372,373,374</sup> Studies indicate that the effects of estrogen are linked to the effects of BDNF. For instance, ovariectomy reduces BDNF mRNA and estradiol replacement restores it both in vitro and in vivo.339,350,351,375,376,377 Therefore, in addition to investigating BDNF gene regulatory mechanism via IncRNA HOTAIR, we also examined if BDNF expression is transcriptionally regulated by estradiol in HT22 cells and also its mechanism of regulation. Briefly, we treated HT22 cells with various doses (0 to 1000 nM) of estradiol (E2) for 6 h. Cells were then harvested, RNA was isolated, reverse-transcribed and analyzed by qPCR for the expression of BDNF. Our results demonstrated that BDNF expression was stimulated by E2-treatment in a dose-dependent manner which peaked at 10 - 100 nM estrogen exposure (~ 2 folds each) (Figure 22A and 22B). Higher doses (1000 nM) of estradiol resulted in squelching (Figure 22A and 22B). Time course analysis demonstrated that E2-induced BDNF expression increases with time with a maximum at around 6 h, and this induction was decreased at longer incubation time, indicating squelching (Figure 22C and 22D). These results demonstrate that BDNF expression is transcriptionally regulated by estradiol in hippocampal cells.

# 4.3.5. ERs, MLL-histone methylases, and histone acetylases are enriched at the BDNF promoter upon E2-mediated BDNF gene activation

As BDNF is found to be an E2-responsive gene, we investigated the potential mechanism of E2induced expression of HOTAIR. Initially, we examined the BDNF promoter for the presence of putative estrogen response elements (EREs) close to the transcription start site. Indeed, we found that BDNF promoter contains a putative ERE which is located at -1892bp upstream of the



#### Figure 22. Effects of E2 on BDNF expression in vitro.

(A-D) HT22 cells (grown in phenol-red free media) were treated with varying concentrations of E2 (Panel A and B). RNA was isolated, reverse transcribed, and subjected to regular PCR (panel A) and real-time PCR (panel B) using primers specific to BDNF. GAPDH was used as the loading control. HT22 were treated with 100 nM E2 for varying time periods (0-10 h), and RNA was reverse transcribed and analyzed by regular PCR (panel C) and real-time PCR (panel D) using BDNF and GAPDH primers.  $\beta$ -actin was used as the loading control. Each experiment was repeated at least thrice (n = 3). Bars indicate standard errors (n = 3; P ≤ 0.05).

transcription start site. This ERE appear to be an imperfect (GGACACAAGTGACC) ERE with one base pair mismatch in comparison to typical full ERE (GGTCAnnnTGACC). Presence of multiple potential ERE at the BDNF promoter indicates that its potential regulation via estrogen-receptors in presence of estradiol. Hippocampal pyramidal neurons express mRNA for both isoforms of the estrogen receptor, ER $\alpha$  and ER $\beta$  in adult rats.<sup>378</sup> HT22 cells also express ER $\alpha$  and ER $\beta$ . Therefore, we examined if ER $\alpha$  and ER $\beta$  participate in E2-induced expression of BDNF in HT22 cells using chromatin immunoprecipitation (ChIP) assay using antibodies against ER $\alpha$ , ER $\beta$  and  $\beta$ -actin (control).<sup>32,33,194</sup> In brief, HT22 cells were exposed to 10 nM and 100 nM E2 for 6 h, separately. Cells were fixed with formaldehyde and chromatins were sonicated and immunoprecipitated using antibodies against ER $\alpha$ , ER $\beta$  and  $\beta$ -actin (control). ChIP DNA was analyzed by regular PCR and qPCRs using primers specific to the BDNF promoter ERE region. ChIP analyses demonstrated that both ER $\alpha$  and ER $\beta$  are enriched at the ERE region of the BDNF promoter (Figure 23B and 23C).

Notably, along with ERs, ER-coregulators are also integral components of estrogen-mediated gene activation.<sup>198,379</sup> ER-coregulators interact with ERs, bind to the promoter of ER-target genes, modify and remodel chromatins and interact with general transcription machineries and all these contributes to gene activation.<sup>380</sup> Examples of ER-coregulators include SRC1-family of coactivators, CREB-binding protein (CBP/p300), p/CAF, and ASCOM [activating signal cointegrator-2 (ASC2) complexes].<sup>200,226,381,382,383,384,385</sup> CBP/p300 are histone acetylases and out of all the four core histones (H2A, H2B, H3, and H4), acetylation of H3 is particularly important in regulating hippocampal learning and memory,<sup>386</sup> as well as in estrogenic modulation of learning and memory. Also, histone acetylation regulates hippocampal memory and the genes necessary for synaptic plasticity.<sup>387,388</sup> Therefore, along with ERs, we also examined if ER-coregulators (such as CBP/p300) are enriched at the BDNF promoter

upon treatment with E2 using ChIP assay. <sup>196,197,203</sup> ChIP analyses demonstrated significant binding of ER coregulators, CBP and p300 in the BDNF promoter (Figure 24B and 24C).

Studies from our laboratory and others also demonstrate that mixed lineage leukemia (MLL) ER-coregulators family of histone methylases act as during E2-mediated gene activation.<sup>29,30,31,32,33,88,89,130,143,207,212,294,307,389</sup> MLLs are well-recognized histone methyl-transferases that specifically introduce histone H3 lysine-4 (H3K4) methylations that play key roles during gene activation.31,205,212,218,219,220,221,390 MLLs interact with ERs via their LXXLL domains and participate in E2-mediated gene activation.<sup>31</sup> Recent studies from our laboratory demonstrated that MLLs regulate various E2-responsive genes.<sup>30,185,200,204,205,206,207,208,209,210,211,212</sup> Therefore, we determined if MLLs also participiate in E2-dependent BDNF gene activation. We examined the recruitments of MLLs (MLL1-4) at the BDNF promoter in the absence and presence of E2 in HT22 cells using ChIP assay using antibodies against MLL1-4. ChIP DNA were PCR-amplified using BDNF promoter primers (ERE regions). These analyses demonstrated histone methylase MLL3 is significantly enriched at BDNF promoter in the presence of E2 (Figure 24B and 24C).

Since MLL3 is histone H3K4-methylase and p300 is histone acetyl-transferase and are found to be enriched at the BDNF promoter in an E2-dependent manner, we analyzed the levels of histone acetylation and histone H3K4-trimethylation in the BDNF promoter in the absence and presence of E2, using ChIP assay. As, expected, E2-treatment significantly increased H3K4-trimethylation, histone acetylation and the levels of RNA polymerase II at the ERE1 in the BDNF promoter (Figure 24D and 24E). The enrichment of histone methylases (MLL3) and histone acetylases (CBP/p300) and consequent increase in H3K4-trimethylation and histone acetylation at the BDNF promoter in presence of E2, suggest the potential involvement of these ER-coregulators in the E2 mediated transcriptional activation of BDNF.



Figure 23. E2 -dependent recruitment of ERs at the BDNF promoter.

(A-C) MCF7 cells were treated with 10 nM E2 and 100 nM E2, separately for 6 h and subjected to ChIP assay using antibodies specific to ER $\alpha$  and ER $\beta$ . ChIP DNA fragments were PCR-amplified and analyzed by qPCR and regular PCR using primers specific to ERE1 region of the BDNF promoter. Panel A shows the position of the primer spanning ERE1 region in the BDNF promoter. Panels B-C shows the ChIP analyses of ER $\alpha$  and ER $\beta$  on the ERE1 of the BDNF promoter. Each experiment was repeated at least thrice. Bars indicate standard errors. P values  $\leq 0.05$  were considered to be significant.



Figure 24. Recruitment of MLL-histone methylase, CBP/ p300 and associated histone marks at the promoter of BDNF upon exposure to E2.

(A-E) HT22 cells were treated with 0nM, 10nM E2 and 100 nM E2 for 6 h and analyzed by ChIP assay using MLL1, MLL2, MLL3, MLL4, CBP, p300, RNAPII, H3K4-trimethyl, histone acetylation, NCoR and  $\beta$ -actin (negative control) antibodies. The ChIP DNA was PCR-amplified using primers specific to ERE1 region of BDNF promoter. The recruitment of MLL3, CBP, p300 in the BDNF promoter are shown in the panel B (RT-PCR) and panel C (qPCR). Panel D-E (qPCR and regular RT-PCR data respectively) shows the levels of RNAPII, N-CoR, H3K4-trimethyl and histone acetylation at the BDNF promoter. Bars indicate standard errors (p  $\leq$  0.05).

# 4.3.6. E2 facilitates the sequestration of silencing machienary by derecruiting EZH2, LSD1 and altering histone methylation and acetylation levels

Our previous observations (as in figure 21B and 21C) showed that in the absence any stimuli (such as E2), BDNF gene is repressed via recruitment of EZH2, LSD1 and HOTAIR. In the presence of E2, BDNF gene expression is induced via recruitment of ERs and ER-coregulators (MLL3, CBP/p300). Does this mean this mean that gene silencing factors (EZH2, LSD1 and HOTAIR) which were bound to promoter in the absence of E2, are dissociated upon treatment with E2 and relieve gene repression? To address this, we further examined the levels of EZH2 and LSD1 binding at HOT-L and HOT-S sites in BDNF promoter upon treatment with E2 using ChIP assay. Briefly, HT22 cells were treated with 10 nM E2 for 6h and and subjected to ChIP assay using antibodies specific to EZH2 and LSD1 and  $\beta$ -actin (negative control). ChIP DNA fragments were PCR amplified using primers specific to the HOT-L (-3394 bp) and HOT-S (-491 bp) sites region in the BDNF promoter. These analysis showed that levels of EZH2 and LSD1 were reduced at both HOT-L and HOT-S sites (2 and 2.5 folds respectively) in the BDNF promoter upon treatment with E2 (Figure 25B and 25C). No significant impacts on  $\beta$ -actin levels were observed at the BDNF promoter upon treatment with E2. Our results suggest that E2 induces a transcriptionally permissive state at the BDNF promoter by derecruiting EZH2 and LSD1 at both HOT-L and HOT-S sites (2 and 2.5 folds respectively) (Figure 25B and 25C).

EZH2 which confers methyl transferase activity to PRC2,<sup>135,136</sup> which introduces mono-, di- and tri-methyl groups at the H3K27 which is associated with heterochromatin.<sup>137,138,139</sup> Lysine specific demethylase 1 (LSD1) confers demethylase activity to the REST/CoREST complex,<sup>133,140</sup> which demethylates di- and mono- methylated H3K4 mark which is associated with an active state of chromatin.<sup>141,142,143,144</sup> Therefore, we investigated the levels of H3K27-trimehyl, H3K4 trimethyl and RNA Polymerase II using ChIP assay in the presence and absence of E2. Our ChIP analysis

demonstrated that E2 treatment significantly reduces H3K27 trimethyl levels whereas increases H3K4 trimethyl levels and also recruits RNA polymerase to the BDNF promoter indicating active gene transcription (Figure 25B and 25C). These data suggest that E2 facilitates the reversal of repression caused by the silencing machinery at the BDNF promoter via abolishing EZH2/LSD1 recruitment, reducing H3K27 trimethyl marks and enhancing H3K4 trimethylation.



Figure 25. E2 derecruits EZH2 and LSD1 and alters and associated histone marks at the promoter of BDNF.

(A-C) HT22 cells were treated with 0nM and 10nM E2 E2 for 6 h and analyzed by ChIP assay using EZH2, LSD1,H3K27trimethyl and H3K4-trimethyl,p300, RNAPII, NCoR and  $\beta$ -actin (negative control) antibodies. The ChIP DNA was PCRamplified using primers specific to HOT-L and HOT-S regions of BDNF promoter. The derecruitment of EZH2 and LSD1 in the BDNF promoter is shown in the panel B (RT-PCR) and panel C (qPCR). The levels of RNAPII, NCoR, H3K4-trimethyl and histone acetylation at the HOT-L and HOT-S sites in the BDNF promoter upon E2 treatment are shown in panels B and C. Bars indicate standard errors (p  $\leq$  0.05).

### 4.4. Discussion

BDNF is a well-known pro-survival factor for the striatal neurons. It is mostly of cortical origin and anterogradely transported to the striatal targets.<sup>391</sup> BDNF levels significantly increase in mice on regimens of dietary restriction,<sup>392</sup> or physical exercise favored by environmental enrichment.<sup>393</sup> A prevailing current theory posits that multiple genetic and environmental factors contribute to the development of most neurological and psychiatric disorders.<sup>394,395</sup> In particular, diverse environmental stressors have been shown to modulate BDNF availability and function in rodents.<sup>396,397,398</sup> Indeed, some risk factors may cause persisting changes in BDNF gene regulation, underlying a lasting epigenetic imprint on the genome, thereby increasing susceptibility to neurological disorders. In this study, we aim to investigate the epigenetic regulation of BDNF in the neuronal cells.

Epigenetic modifications can be mediated by long non-coding RNAs (lncRNAs) which play major roles in regulation of gene transcription, chromatin structure, and mRNA stability during cell development and diseases.<sup>114,399,400</sup> One such lncRNA, HOTAIR, is transcribed from the HOXC locus that acts as a scaffold for histone modification complexes to coordinately interact with PRC2 and lysine-specific demethylase 1 (LSD1).<sup>129,401</sup> HOTAIR carries out the transcriptional repression of HOXD cluster of genes by interacting and guiding the gene silencing chromatin modifying complexes of PRC2 and LSD1 complexes to the target loci, leading to epigenetic modifications that are in turn associated with the process of transcriptional repression.<sup>236,321</sup> Here, we explored the potential roles of HOTAIR in BDNF gene regulations in neuronal cells. Initially to understand the epigenetic mechanism of BDNF gene regulation, we knocked down HOTAIR using an antisense oligonucleotide. We observed that the expression of BDNF mRNA (as well as protein level) is induced upon HOTAIR knockdown in hippocampal neuronal cells (HT22 cell). These observations suggest that HOTAIR plays a significant role in the regulation of BDNF expression. Notably, the expression of several HOTAIR-target genes,

such as HOXD3 and HOXD10,<sup>402,403</sup> were upregulated upon HOTAIR-knockdown, which further confirms the target specificity of HOTAIR-antisense.

To further understand the mechanism of BDNF gene regulation via HOTAIR, we inhibited (small molecule inhibitor) the enzymatic activity of HOTAIR-interacting histone methyl-transferase EZH2 (member of the PRC2-complex). Interstingly, we observed that inhibition of EZH2 also resulted in increased BDNF expression in HTT22 cells. Inhibition of EZH2 indeed reduced the levels of H3K27 trimethyl marks at the BDNF promoter. Additionally, HOTAIR target genes HOXD3 and HOXD10 expression were significantly increased upon inhibition of EZH2. These ovservation demonstrates that EZH2 is also actively involved in transcriptional silencing of BDNF. Analysis of H3K27 trimethylation marks introduced by EZH2 at the promoter of BDNF in HT22 may shed light on how the HOTAIR/EZH2 regulates knockdown-induced BDNF gene activation.

The BDNF gene promoter analysis shows that there are putative binding sites for PRC2 (HOT-S) and LSD1 (HOT-L) in the BDNF promoter.<sup>133</sup> The presence of these sites indicates potential roles of PRC2 and LSD1 in BDNF gene regulation. To further address how HOTAIR regulates BDNF gene expression, we performed ChIP-assay in HT22 cell lines in the presence of HOTAIR knockdown. Results show that HOTAIR silencing decreased the binding of EZH2 and LSD1 within the HOT-S and HOT-L sites at the BDNF promoter in HT22 cells. We also observed significant decrease in enrichment of H3K27 trimethylation marks and increase in H3K4-trimethylation and RNA Polymerase II levels at the BDNF promoter upon HOTAIR-knockdown, suggesting that HOTAIR represses BDNF expression partly by associating with EZH2 and LSD1.

On the other hand, studies in the past have shown that hormonal status can greatly influence the expression of BDNF expression. For instance, estrogen (a potential neuroprotective hormone) replacement in young adult, ovariectomized, female rats increases BDNF expression in the

hippocampus.<sup>339,350,404,405,406,407,408,409,410,411,412</sup> Infact, BDNF-synthesizing neurons co-localize with the estrogen receptors in the forebrain, indicating its role as a biological substrate for the regulation of this gene by estrogen hormone.<sup>413</sup> Hence, we have further analyzed the mechanism of regulation of E2-induced BDNF expression. Our studies demonstrate that treatment with estradiol significantly increased mRNA levels of BDNF in HT22 cells. The sequence corresponding to an ERE-like motif (ERE) in the BDNF promoter differs from the canonical ERE principally with respect to the spacer size between the two pentameric palindrome sequences. Since estrogen action is mainly controlled through ERs and ER-co-regulator molecules, it seems likely some of these may be implicated in E2-mediated BDNF gene activation.

Indeed our ChIP analyses demonstrates that estrogen receptors (ERa, ERB) and a variety of ERcoregulators such as histone methylase, MLL3, and histone acetylases, CBP and p300 are enriched at the BDNF promoters during E2 -induced BDNF expression. Notably, studies from our laboratory and others functionally coordinate with ERs-during estrogen-dependent have shown that MLLs gene activation. 33,88,89,185,206,211,213,228 Here we demonstrate that MLL3 specially is associated with E2mediated regulation of BDNF expression in neuronal cells. ER-mediated recruitment of histone methylases and acetylases at the ER-target promoters, are anticipated to modify histone proteins, remodel the chromatin which ultimately contribute to gene activation. Our ChIP analysis showed that E2 treatment resulted in increased histone H3K4-trimethylation, histone acetylation, and enrichment of RNA polymerase II at the BDNF promoter region (ERE). This analysis further demonstrates that BDNF expression is transcriptionally regulated by estradiol in hippocampal cells and this is mediated via coordination of ERs and ER-coregulators like histone methylase MLL3, histone acetylases CBP and p300. These results corroborate with previous findings and demonstrate that estrogen significantly upregulates BDNF expression in hippocampal cells.

So far our studies established that BFNF expression is repressed via coordination HOTAIR/EZH2/LSD1 complexes. Additionally, we find that BDNF expression is transcriptionally induced by estradiol in neuronal cells. Based on these observations, we hypothesize that BDNF gene is repressed via binding of the repressors, HOTAIR/EZH2/LSD1 complexes at the BDNF promoter and consequent H3K27-methylation. In the presence of inducer stimuli such as E2, the repressor proteins dissociate from the BDNF promoter and that allows the binding of the transcription activation factors, activated receptors (such as ERs), activators/coactivators (ER-coregulators MLL3-histone H3K4methylase, CBP/p300 histone actylase), consequent alteration in increased H3K4-methylation and increased histone acetylation and chromatin remodeling leading to gene activation. Our ChIP analysis at HOT-S and HOT-L site present in BDNF promoter reveals that the enrichment of EZH2, LSD1 and H3K27-methylation levels are significantly decreased upon treatment with E2, while the levels of E2associated activation factors such as ERs, MLL3, CBP/p300 and H3K4-trimethy levels were augmented at the BDNF indicating gene activation. Therefore, we propose a model showing positive regulators such as E2 can restore BDNF levels and rescue cells from neuronal damage by displacing silencing machienary from the BDNF promoter and reinforcing active transcription of BDNF gene (Figure 26). This finding may be of particular interest as E2 aids the neuronal regeneration and repair.

Our observations are also in agreement with previous reports which show that loss of the neuronal lncRNAs leads to alteration of neuronal cellular differentiation, and suggests that the lncRNAs play indispensable roles in neurogenesis/ neural cell fate specification, and subsequently brain development.<sup>146</sup> In addition, a similar report describes dramatic changes in expression of lncRNA genes in differentiating neurons, one of which is HOTAIRM1, a cis-acting regulator of the HOXA cluster during myelopoiesis, suggesting a novel role of lncRNAs in neural differentiation.<sup>145,414</sup> Additional evidence suggesting functional roles of lncRNAs in the brain includes a computational analysis of in situ

116

hybridization data from the Allen Brain Atlas, which identified 849 lncRNAs showing specific expression in the mouse brain.<sup>415</sup> Although lncRNAs have been previously linked to neurogenesis,<sup>416</sup> but little evidence has been presented for functional roles of lncRNAs in the human nervous system. Here, we report that lncRNAs directly regulate the expression of neurotrophic factors. The data presented in this study represent the direct demonstration that lncRNAs are important regulatory units of necessary human nervous system, and imply that deregulation of lncRNA expression may indeed impact the expression of downstream targets like neurotrophic factors thus contributing to neurological disorders. observation is in line with a report that showed that there is a strong concordance between the Our expression pattern of neurotrophins and the estrogen-synthesizing enzyme aromatase in the developing midbrain.417 These findings may contribute to our understanding of the mechanisms by which steroid hormones influence the differentiation of developing neurons. The relevance of this work may open up a new area of investigation into regulation of BDNF, a neuropeptide that plays crucial roles in neuronal growth, maintenance, and repair. BDNF expression is reduced in Alzheimer's, Parkinson's, and Huntington's diseases and low BDNF level contributes to neuro-degeneration, affects cognitive abilities, and causes dementia.<sup>157,158,159</sup> The mechanisms by which BDNF expression is regulated in healthy brain and misregulated in neurological disorders are still not clear and need further effort to resolve.



#### Figure 26. Mechanism of regulation of lncRNA and E2-mediated BDNF gene expression.

BDNF expression is repressed by a long non-coding RNA HOTAIR. HOTAIR interacts with histone methylase PRC2 and histone demethylase LSD1, recruits them to BDNF promoters leading to silencing of BDNF expression. E2, on the other hand, may induce BDNF-gene expression by displacing HOTAIR/EZH2/LSD1 complex at BDNF promoter containing putative cofactor binding sites which in turn may recruit active transcription machienary leading to the induction of BDNF gene.

#### REFERENCES

- Lemons, D., and McGinnis, W. (2006) Genomic evolution of Hox gene clusters, *Science*, *313*, 1918-1922.
- 2. Daftary, G. S., and Taylor, H. S. (2006) Endocrine regulation of HOX genes, *Endocr. Rev.*, 27, 331-355.
- 3. Kmita, M., Tarchini, B., Zakany, J., Logan, M., Tabin, C. J., and Duboule, D. (2005) Early developmental arrest of mammalian limbs lacking HoxA/HoxD gene function, *Nature*, 435, 1113-1116.
- Yahagi, N., Kosaki, R., Ito, T., Mitsuhashi, T., Shimada, H., Tomita, M., Takahashi, T., and Kosaki, K. (2004) Position-specific expression of Hox genes along the gastrointestinal tract, *Congenit. Anom.*, 44, 18-26.
- Volpe, M. V., Chung, E., Ulm, J. P., Gilchrist, B. F., Ralston, S., Wang, K. T., and Nielsen, H. C. (2009) Aberrant cell adhesion molecule expression in human bronchopulmonary sequestration and congenital cystic adenomatoid malformation, *Am. J. Physiol. Lung Cell Mol. Physiol.*, 297, L143-152.
- 6. Mallo, M., Wellik, D. M., and Deschamps, J. (2010) Hox genes and regional patterning of the vertebrate body plan, *Dev. Biol.*, *344*, 7-15.
- McGinnis, W., and Krumlauf, R. (1992) Homeobox genes and axial patterning, *Cell*, 68, 283-302.
- 8. Gehring, W. J. (1987) Homeo Boxes in the Study of Development, *Science*, 236, 1245-1252.
- 9. Lewis, E. B. (1978) A gene complex controlling segmentation in Drosophila, *Nature*, 276, 565-570.

- 10. Maconochie, M., Nonchev, S., Morrison, A., and Krumlauf, R. (1996) Paralogous Hox genes: Function and regulation, *Annu. Rev. Genet.*, *30*, 529-556.
- Akam, M. (1989) Hox and Hom Homologous Gene Clusters in Insects and Vertebrates, *Cell*, 57, 347-349.
- Kaufman, T. C., Lewis, R., and Wakimoto, B. (1980) Cytogenetic Analysis of Chromosome-3 in Drosophila-Melanogaster - the Homoeotic Gene-Complex in Polytene Chromosome Interval 84a-B, *Genetics*, 94, 115-133.
- 13. Kaufman, T. C., Seeger, M. A., and Olsen, G. (1990) Molecular and genetic organization of the antennapedia gene complex of Drosophila melanogaster, *Adv. Genet.*, 27, 309-362.
- 14. Krumlauf, R. (1994) Hox genes in vertebrate development, Cell, 78, 191-201.
- 15. Hurley, I., Hale, M. E., and Prince, V. E. (2005) Duplication events and the evolution of segmental identity, *Evol. Dev.*, 7, 556-567.
- 16. Kessel, M., and Gruss, P. (1990) Murine Developmental Control Genes, Science, 249, 374-379.
- Dolle, P., Izpisuabelmonte, J. C., Falkenstein, H., Renucci, A., and Duboule, D. (1989)
   Coordinate Expression of the Murine Hox-5 Complex Homoeobox-Containing Genes during
   Limb Pattern-Formation, *Nature*, 342, 767-772.
- 18. Yokouchi, Y., Sasaki, H., and Kuroiwa, A. (1991) Homeobox Gene-Expression Correlated with the Bifurcation Process of Limb Cartilage Development, *Nature*, *353*, 443-445.
- 19. Davis, A. P., Witte, D. P., Hsiehli, H. M., Potter, S. S., and Capecchi, M. R. (1995) Absence of Radius and Ulna in Mice Lacking Hoxa-11 and Hoxd-11, *Nature*, *375*, 791-795.
- 20. Favier, B., and Dolle, P. (1997) Developmental functions of mammalian Hox genes, *Mol. Hum. Reprod.*, *3*, 115-131.

- 21. Daikoku, T., Song, H., Guo, Y., Riesewijk, A., Mosselman, S., Das, S. K., and Dey, S. K. (2004) Uterine Msx-1 and Wnt4 signaling becomes aberrant in mice with the loss of leukemia inhibitory factor or Hoxa-10: Evidence for a novel cytokine-homeobox-Wnt signaling in implantation, *Mol. Endocrinol.*, 18, 1238-1250.
- 22. Miller, C., and Sassoon, D. A. (1998) Wnt-7a maintains appropriate uterine patterning during the development of the mouse female reproductive tract, *Development*, *125*, 3201-3211.
- 23. Bagot, C. N., Troy, P. J., and Taylor, H. S. (2000) Alteration of maternal Hoxa10 expression by in vivo gene transfection affects implantation, *Gene Ther.*, 7, 1378-1384.
- 24. Guillomot, M., Betteridge, K. J., Harvey, D., and Goff, A. K. (1986) Endocytotic Activity in the Endometrium during Conceptus Attachment in the Cow, *J. Reprod. Fertil.*, 78, 27-36.
- 25. Edwards, R. G. (1994) Implantation, Interception and Contraception, Hum. Reprod., 9, 73-87.
- 26. Nikas, G., Drakakis, P., Loutradis, D., Maraskoufari, C., Koumantakis, E., Michalas, S., and Psychoyos, A. (1995) Uterine Pinopodes as Markers of the Nidation Window in Cycling Women Receiving Exogenous Estradiol and Progesterone, *Hum. Reprod.*, *10*, 1208-1213.
- 27. Bhatlekar, S., Fields, J. Z., and Boman, B. M. (2014) HOX genes and their role in the development of human cancers, *J. Mol. Med.*, *92*, 811-823.
- 28. Abate-Shen, C. (2002) Deregulated homeobox gene expression in cancer: cause or consequence?, *Nat. Rev. Cancer*, *2*, 777-785.
- Ansari, K. I., Hussain, I., Kasiri, S., and Mandal, S. S. (2012) HOXC10 is overexpressed in breast cancer and transcriptionally regulated by estrogen via involvement of histone methylases MLL3 and MLL4, *J. Mol. Endocrinol.*, 48, 61-75.

- 30. Ansari, K. I., Hussain, I., Shrestha, B., Kasiri, S., and Mandal, S. S. (2011) HOXC6 Is transcriptionally regulated via coordination of MLL histone methylase and estrogen receptor in an estrogen environment, *J. Mol. Biol.*, *411*, 334-349.
- Ansari, K. I., Kasiri, S., Hussain, I., and Mandal, S. S. (2009) Mixed lineage leukemia histone methylases play critical roles in estrogen-mediated regulation of HOXC13, *FEBS J.*, 276, 7400-7411.
- 32. Deb, P., Bhan, A., Hussain, I., Ansari, K. I., Bobzean, S. A., Pandita, T. K., Perrotti, L. I., and Mandal, S. S. (2016) Endocrine disrupting chemical, bisphenol-A, induces breast cancer associated gene HOXB9 expression in vitro and in vivo, *Gene*, 590, 234-243.
- 33. Hussain, I., Bhan, A., Ansari, K. I., Deb, P., Bobzean, S. A., Perrotti, L. I., and Mandal, S. S. (2015) Bisphenol-A induces expression of HOXC6, an estrogen-regulated homeobox-containing gene associated with breast cancer, *Biochim. Biophys. Acta*, 1849, 697-708.
- 34. Manohar, C. F., Salwen, H. R., Furtado, M. R., and Cohn, S. L. (1996) Up-regulation of HOXC6, HOXD1, and HOXD8 homeobox gene expression in human neuroblastoma cells following chemical induction of differentiation, *Tumour Biol.*, 17, 34-47.
- 35. Shrestha, B., Ansari, K. I., Bhan, A., Kasiri, S., Hussain, I., and Mandal, S. S. (2012) Homeodomain-containing protein HOXB9 regulates expression of growth and angiogenic factors, facilitates tumor growth in vitro and is overexpressed in breast cancer tissue, *FEBS J.*, 279, 3715-3726.
- 36. Hayashida, T., Takahashi, F., Chiba, N., Brachtel, E., Takahashi, M., Godin-Heymann, N., Gross, K. W., Vivanco, M., Wijendran, V., Shioda, T., Sgroi, D., Donahoe, P. K., and Maheswaran, S. (2010) HOXB9, a gene overexpressed in breast cancer, promotes tumorigenicity and lung metastasis, *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA.*, 107, 1100-1105.

- 37. Javed, S., and Langley, S. E. (2014) Importance of HOX genes in normal prostate gland formation, prostate cancer development and its early detection, *BJU Int.*, *113*, 535-540.
- 38. Miller, G. J., Miller, H. L., van Bokhoven, A., Lambert, J. R., Werahera, P. N., Schirripa, O., Lucia, M. S., and Nordeen, S. K. (2003) Aberrant HOXC expression accompanies the malignant phenotype in human prostate, *Cancer Res.*, 63, 5879-5888.
- 39. Hur, H., Lee, J. Y., Yun, H. J., Park, B. W., and Kim, M. H. (2014) Analysis of HOX gene expression patterns in human breast cancer, *Mol. Biotechnol.*, *56*, 64-71.
- 40. Hall, J. M., Couse, J. F., and Korach, K. S. (2001) The multifaceted mechanisms of estradiol and estrogen receptor signaling, *J. Biol. Chem.*, 276, 36869-36872.
- 41. Cheng, W. J., Liu, J. S., Yoshida, H., Rosen, D., and Naora, H. (2005) Lineage infidelity of epithelial ovarian cancers is controlled by HOX genes that specify regional identity in the reproductive tract, *Nat. Med.*, *11*, 531-537.
- 42. Jin, K., Kong, X., Shah, T., Penet, M. F., Wildes, F., Sgroi, D. C., Ma, X. J., Huang, Y., Kallioniemi, A., Landberg, G., Bieche, I., Wu, X., Lobie, P. E., Davidson, N. E., Bhujwalla, Z. M., Zhu, T., and Sukumar, S. (2012) The HOXB7 protein renders breast cancer cells resistant to tamoxifen through activation of the EGFR pathway, *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA., 109*, 2736-2741.
- 43. Chu, M. C., Selam, F. B., and Taylor, H. S. (2004) HOXA10 regulates p53 expression and matrigel invasion in human breast cancer cells, *Cancer Biol. Ther.*, *3*, 568-572.
- Diamanti-Kandarakis, E., Bourguignon, J. P., Giudice, L. C., Hauser, R., Prins, G. S., Soto, A. M., Zoeller, R. T., and Gore, A. C. (2009) Endocrine-disrupting chemicals: an Endocrine Society scientific statement, *Endocr. Rev.*, 30, 293-342.

- 45. Colborn T, C. C. (1992) Chemically Induced Alterations in Sexual and Functional Development: the Wildlife/Human Connection.
- 46. Cheek, A. O., and McLachlan, J. A. (1998) Environmental hormones and the male reproductive system, *J. Androl.*, *19*, 5-10.
- Diamanti-Kandarakis, E., Bourguignon, J. P., Giudice, L. C., Hauser, R., Prins, G. S., Soto, A. M., Zoeller, R. T., and Gore, A. C. (2009) Endocrine-Disrupting Chemicals: An Endocrine Society Scientific Statement, *Endocr. Rev.*, 30, 293-342.
- 48. Chung, A. C., and Cooney, A. J. (2003) The varied roles of nuclear receptors during vertebrate embryonic development, *Nuclear Rec. Signal.*, *1*, e007.
- 49. Bolli, A., Bulzomi, P., Galluzzo, P., Acconcia, F., and Marino, M. (2010) Bisphenol A impairs estradiol-induced protective effects against DLD-1 colon cancer cell growth, *IUBMB life*, 62, 684-687.
- 50. Honma, S., Suzuki, A., Buchanan, D. L., Katsu, Y., Watanabe, H., and Iguchi, T. (2002) Low dose effect of in utero exposure to bisphenol A and diethylstilbestrol on female mouse reproduction, *Reprod. Toxicol.*, *16*, 117-122.
- 51. Dieckmann, W. J., Davis, M. E., Rynkiewicz, L. M., and Pottinger, R. E. (1999) Does the administration of diethylstilbestrol during pregnancy have therapeutic value? (Reprinted from Am J Obstet Gynecol, vol 66, pg 1062-81, 1953), Am. J. Obstet. Gynecol., 181, 1572-1573.
- 52. Smith, O. W., Smith, G. V., and Hurwitz, D. (1946) Increased excretion of pregnanediol in pregnancy from diethylstilbestrol with special reference to the prevention of late pregnancy accidents, *Am. J. Obstet. Gynecol.*, *51*, 411-415.
- 53. Smith, O. W., and Gabbe, S. G. (1999) Diethylstilbestrol in the prevention and treatment of complications of pregnancy. 1948, *Am. J. Obstet. Gynecol.*, *181*, 1570-1571.

- 54. Kelce, W. R., Stone, C. R., Laws, S. C., Gray, L. E., Kemppainen, J. A., and Wilson, E. M. (1995) Persistent Ddt Metabolite P,P'-Dde Is a Potent Androgen Receptor Antagonist, *Nature*, *375*, 581-585.
- 55. Meeker, J. D., and Hauser, R. (2010) Exposure to polychlorinated biphenyls (PCBs) and male reproduction, *Syst. Biol. Reprod. Med.*, *56*, 122-131.
- 56. Bonde, J. P., Toft, G., Rylander, L., Rignell-Hydbom, A., Giwercman, A., Spano, M., Manicardi, G. C., Bizzaro, D., Ludwicki, J. K., Zvyezday, V., Bonefeld-Jorgensen, E. C., Pedersen, H. S., Jonsson, B. A., Thulstrup, A. M., and Inuendo. (2008) Fertility and markers of male reproductive function in Inuit and European populations spanning large contrasts in blood levels of persistent organochlorines, *Enviro. Health Perspect.*, 116, 269-277.
- 57. Cummings, A. M. (1997) Methoxychlor as a model for environmental estrogens, *Crit. Rev. Toxicol.*, 27, 367-379.
- 58. (1979) Methoxychlor, IARC Monogr Eval Carcinog Risk Chem Hum, 20, 259-281.
- 59. Kapoor, I. P., Metcalf, R. L., Nystrom, R. F., and Sangha, G. K. (1970) Comparative metabolism of methoxychlor, methiochlor, and DDT in mouse, insects, and in a model ecosystem, *J Agric Food Chem.*, 18, 1145-1152.
- 60. Cos, P., De Bruyne, T., Apers, S., Vanden Berghe, D., Pieters, L., and Vlietinck, A. J. (2003) Phytoestrogens: recent developments, *Planta Medica*, *69*, 589-599.
- 61. Unfer, V., Casini, M. L., Costabile, L., Mignosa, M., Gerli, S., and Di Renzo, G. C. (2004) Endometrial effects of long-term treatment with phytoestrogens: a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled study, *Fertil. Steril.*, 82, 145-148, quiz 265.
- 62. Baird, D. D., Umbach, D. M., Lansdell, L., Hughes, C. L., Setchell, K. D., Weinberg, C. R., Haney, A. F., Wilcox, A. J., and McLachlan, J. A. (1995) Dietary intervention study to assess

estrogenicity of dietary soy among postmenopausal women, J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab., 80, 1685-1690.

- 63. Heudorf, U., Mersch-Sundermann, V., and Angerer, J. (2007) Phthalates: toxicology and exposure, *Int. J. Hyg. Environ. Health*, 210, 623-634.
- 64. Lehmann, K. P., Phillips, S., Sar, M., Foster, P. M., and Gaido, K. W. (2004) Dose-dependent alterations in gene expression and testosterone synthesis in the fetal testes of male rats exposed to di (n-butyl) phthalate, *Toxicol. Sci.*, *81*, 60-68.
- Duty, S. M., Silva, M. J., Barr, D. B., Brock, J. W., Ryan, L., Chen, Z., Herrick, R. F., Christiani,
   D. C., and Hauser, R. (2003) Phthalate exposure and human semen parameters, *Epidemiology*, 14, 269-277.
- 66. Gray, L. E., Jr., Ostby, J., Monosson, E., and Kelce, W. R. (1999) Environmental antiandrogens: low doses of the fungicide vinclozolin alter sexual differentiation of the male rat, *Toxicol. Ind. Health*, *15*, 48-64.
- 67. Kelce, W. R., Monosson, E., Gamcsik, M. P., Laws, S. C., and Gray, L. E. (1994) Environmental Hormone Disruptors - Evidence That Vinclozolin Developmental Toxicity Is Mediated by Antiandrogenic Metabolites, *Toxicol. Appl. Pharm.*, *126*, 276-285.
- 68. Anway, M. D., Cupp, A. S., Uzumcu, M., and Skinner, M. K. (2005) Epigenetic transgenerational actions of endocrine disruptors and male fertility, *Science*, *308*, 1466-1469.
- 69. Bock, K. W. (1994) Aryl hydrocarbon or dioxin receptor: biologic and toxic responses, *Rev. Physiol. Bochem. Pharmacol.*, *125*, 1-42.
- 70. Wang, Q., Chen, J., Ko, C. I., Fan, Y., Carreira, V., Chen, Y., Xia, Y., Medvedovic, M., and Puga, A. (2013) Disruption of aryl hydrocarbon receptor homeostatic levels during embryonic

stem cell differentiation alters expression of homeobox transcription factors that control cardiomyogenesis, *Environ. Health Perspect.*, *121*, 1334-1343.

- 71. Wang, Y., Fan, Y., and Puga, A. (2010) Dioxin exposure disrupts the differentiation of mouse embryonic stem cells into cardiomyocytes, *Toxicol. Sci.*, *115*, 225-237.
- Vadhana, M. S., Carloni, M., Nasuti, C., Fedeli, D., and Gabbianelli, R. (2011) Early life permethrin insecticide treatment leads to heart damage in adult rats, *Exp. Geerontol.*, 46, 731-738.
- Carloni, M., Nasuti, C., Fedeli, D., Montani, M., Amici, A., Vadhana, M. S., and Gabbianelli, R.
   (2012) The impact of early life permethrin exposure on development of neurodegeneration in adulthood, *Exp. Geerontol.*, 47, 60-66.
- 74. Fedeli, D., Montani, M., Carloni, M., Nasuti, C., Amici, A., and Gabbianelli, R. (2012) Leukocyte Nurr1 as peripheral biomarker of early-life environmental exposure to permethrin insecticide, *Biomarkers*, 17, 604-609.
- 75. Hayes, T., Haston, K., Tsui, M., Hoang, A., Haeffele, C., and Vonk, A. (2002) Herbicides: feminization of male frogs in the wild, *Nature*, *419*, 895-896.
- 76. Rinsky, J. L., Hopenhayn, C., Golla, V., Browning, S., and Bush, H. M. (2012) Atrazine exposure in public drinking water and preterm birth, *Public Health Rep.*, *127*, 72-80.
- 77. Barr, D. B., Panuwet, P., Nguyen, J. V., Udunka, S., and Needham, L. L. (2007) Assessing exposure to atrazine and its metabolites using biomonitoring, *Environ. Health Perspect.*, 115, 1474-1478.
- 78. Pike, A. C., Brzozowski, A. M., Hubbard, R. E., Bonn, T., Thorsell, A. G., Engstrom, O., Ljunggren, J., Gustafsson, J. A., and Carlquist, M. (1999) Structure of the ligand-binding domain

127

of oestrogen receptor beta in the presence of a partial agonist and a full antagonist, *EMBO J.*, 18, 4608-4618.

- 79. Brunnberg, S., Pettersson, K., Rydin, E., Matthews, J., Hanberg, A., and Pongratz, I. (2003) The basic helix-loop-helix-PAS protein ARNT functions as a potent coactivator of estrogen receptor-dependent transcription, *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U S A.*, *100*, 6517-6522.
- 80. Ruegg, J. (2007) The transcription factor ARNT functions as an estrogen receptor beta, *Mol Endocrinol*, 22, 304-316.
- 81. Vandenberg, L. N., Hauser, R., Marcus, M., Olea, N., and Welshons, W. V. (2007) Human exposure to bisphenol A (BPA), *Reprod. Toxicol.*, 24, 139-177.
- 82. Gertz, J., Reddy, T. E., Varley, K. E., Garabedian, M. J., and Myers, R. M. (2012) Genistein and bisphenol A exposure cause estrogen receptor 1 to bind thousands of sites in a cell type-specific manner, *Genome Res.*, 22, 2153-2162.
- Krishnan, A. V., Stathis, P., Permuth, S. F., Tokes, L., and Feldman, D. (1993) Bisphenol-a an Estrogenic Substance Is Released from Polycarbonate Flasks during Autoclaving, *Endocrinology*, 132, 2279-2286.
- 84. Coldham, N. G., Dave, M., Sivapathasundaram, S., McDonnell, D. P., Connor, C., and Sauer, M. J. (1997) Evaluation of a recombinant yeast cell estrogen screening assay, *Environ. Health Perspect.*, 105, 734-742.
- 85. Singleton, D. W., Feng, Y., Yang, J., Puga, A., Lee, A. V., and Khan, S. A. (2006) Gene expression profiling reveals novel regulation by bisphenol-A in estrogen receptor-alpha-positive human cells, *Environ. Res.*, *100*, 86-92.
- 86. Chariot, A., and Gielen, J. (1998) The HOXC6 homeodomain-containing proteins, *Int. J. Biochem. Cell Biol.*, 30, 651-655.
- 87. Deb, P., and Mandal, S. S. (2017) Endocrine Disruptors, In *Gene Regulation, Epigenetics and Horm. Signal.*, pp 607-638, Wiley-VCH Verlag GmbH & Co. KGaA.
- 88. Bhan, A., Hussain, I., Ansari, K. I., Bobzean, S. A., Perrotti, L. I., and Mandal, S. S. (2014) Bisphenol-A and diethylstilbestrol exposure induces the expression of breast cancer associated long noncoding RNA HOTAIR in vitro and in vivo, *J. Steroid Biochem. Mol. Biol.*, 141, 160-170.
- 89. Bhan, A., Hussain, I., Ansari, K. I., Bobzean, S. A., Perrotti, L. I., and Mandal, S. S. (2014) Histone methyltransferase EZH2 is transcriptionally induced by estradiol as well as estrogenic endocrine disruptors bisphenol-A and diethylstilbestrol, *J. Mol. Biol.*, 426, 3426-3441.
- 90. Taylor, H. S. (2000) The role of HOX genes in the development and function of the female reproductive tract, *Semin. Reprod. Med.*, 18, 81-89.
- 91. Hagg, T. (2009) From neurotransmitters to neurotrophic factors to neurogenesis, *Neuroscientist*, 15, 20-27.
- 92. Zhao, C., Deng, W., and Gage, F. H. (2008) Mechanisms and functional implications of adult neurogenesis, *Cell*, 132, 645-660.
- 93. Lledo, P. M., Merkle, F. T., and Alvarez-Buylla, A. (2008) Origin and function of olfactory bulb interneuron diversity, *Trends Neurosci.*, *31*, 392-400.
- 94. Bath, K. G., Mandairon, N., Jing, D., Rajagopal, R., Kapoor, R., Chen, Z. Y., Khan, T., Proenca, C. C., Kraemer, R., Cleland, T. A., Hempstead, B. L., Chao, M. V., and Lee, F. S. (2008) Variant brain-derived neurotrophic factor (Val66Met) alters adult olfactory bulb neurogenesis and spontaneous olfactory discrimination, *J. Neurosci.*, 28, 2383-2393.

- 95. Young, K. M., Merson, T. D., Sotthibundhu, A., Coulson, E. J., and Bartlett, P. F. (2007) p75 neurotrophin receptor expression defines a population of BDNF-responsive neurogenic precursor cells, *J. Neurosci.*, *27*, 5146-5155.
- 96. Frielingsdorf, H., Simpson, D. R., Thal, L. J., and Pizzo, D. P. (2007) Nerve growth factor promotes survival of new neurons in the adult hippocampus, *Neurobiol. Dis.*, 26, 47-55.
- 97. Rossi, C., Angelucci, A., Costantin, L., Braschi, C., Mazzantini, M., Babbini, F., Fabbri, M. E., Tessarollo, L., Maffei, L., Berardi, N., and Caleo, M. (2006) Brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) is required for the enhancement of hippocampal neurogenesis following environmental enrichment, *Eur. J. Neurosci.*, 24, 1850-1856.
- 98. Shimazu, K., Zhao, M. R., Sakata, K., Akbarian, S., Bates, B., Jaenisch, R., and Lu, B. (2006) NT-3 facilitates hippocampal plasticity and learning and memory by regulating neurogenesis, *Learn Memory*, 13, 307-315.
- 99. Zhao, M. R., Li, D., Shimazu, K., Zhou, Y. X., Lu, B., and Deng, C. X. (2007) Fibroblast growth factor receptor-1 is required for long-term potentiation, memory consolidation, and neurogenesis, *Biol. Psychiatry*, 62, 381-390.
- 100. Kobayashi, T., Ahlenius, H., Thored, P., Kobayashi, R., Kokaia, Z., and Lindvall, O. (2006) Intracerebral infusion of glial cell line-derived neurotrophic factor promotes striatal neurogenesis after stroke in adult rats, *Stroke*, 37, 2361-2367.
- 101. Ohab, J. J., and Carmichael, S. T. (2008) Poststroke neurogenesis: emerging principles of migration and localization of immature neurons, *Neuroscientist*, 14, 369-380.
- 102. Encinas, J. M., Vaahtokari, A., and Enikolopov, G. (2006) Fluoxetine targets early progenitor cells in the adult brain, *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.*, *103*, 8233-8238.

- Borta, A., and Hoglinger, G. U. (2007) Dopamine and adult neurogenesis, J. Neurochem., 100, 587-595.
- 104. Yang, P., Arnold, S. A., Habas, A., Hetman, M., and Hagg, T. (2008) Ciliary neurotrophic factor mediates dopamine D2 receptor-induced CNS neurogenesis in adult mice, J. Neurosci., 28, 2231-2241.
- 105. Leuner, B., Caponiti, J. M., and Gould, E. (2012) Oxytocin stimulates adult neurogenesis even under conditions of stress and elevated glucocorticoids, *Hippocampus*, 22, 861-868.
- 106. Hattori, M. (2005) [Finishing the euchromatic sequence of the human genome], *Tanpakushitsu Kakusan Koso*, 50, 162-168.
- 107. (2004) Finishing the euchromatic sequence of the human genome, *Nature*, 431, 931-945.
- 108. Palazzo, A. F., and Gregory, T. R. (2014) The case for junk DNA, PLoS Genet., 10, e1004351.
- Lander, E. S., Linton, L. M., Birren, B., Nusbaum, C., Zody, M. C., Baldwin, J., Devon, K., Dewar, K., Doyle, M., FitzHugh, W., Funke, R., Gage, D., Harris, K., Heaford, A., Howland, J., Kann, L., Lehoczky, J., LeVine, R., McEwan, P., McKernan, K., Meldrim, J., Mesirov, J. P., Miranda, C., Morris, W., Naylor, J., Raymond, C., Rosetti, M., Santos, R., Sheridan, A., Sougnez, C., Stange-Thomann, N., Stojanovic, N., Subramanian, A., Wyman, D., Rogers, J., Sulston, J., Ainscough, R., Beck, S., Bentley, D., Burton, J., Clee, C., Carter, N., Coulson, A., Deadman, R., Deloukas, P., Dunham, A., Dunham, I., Durbin, R., French, L., Grafham, D., Gregory, S., Hubbard, T., Humphray, S., Hunt, A., Jones, M., Lloyd, C., McMurray, A., Matthews, L., Mercer, S., Milne, S., Mullikin, J. C., Mungall, A., Plumb, R., Ross, M., Shownkeen, R., Sims, S., Waterston, R. H., Wilson, R. K., Hillier, L. W., McPherson, J. D., Marra, M. A., Mardis, E. R., Fulton, L. A., Chinwalla, A. T., Pepin, K. H., Gish, W. R., Chissoe, S. L., Wendl, M. C., Delehaunty, K. D., Miner, T. L., Delehaunty, A., Kramer, J. B., Cook, L. L.,

Fulton, R. S., Johnson, D. L., Minx, P. J., Clifton, S. W., Hawkins, T., Branscomb, E., Predki, P., Richardson, P., Wenning, S., Slezak, T., Doggett, N., Cheng, J. F., Olsen, A., Lucas, S., Elkin, C., Uberbacher, E., Frazier, M., Gibbs, R. A., Muzny, D. M., Scherer, S. E., Bouck, J. B., Sodergren, E. J., Worley, K. C., Rives, C. M., Gorrell, J. H., Metzker, M. L., Naylor, S. L., Kucherlapati, R. S., Nelson, D. L., Weinstock, G. M., Sakaki, Y., Fujiyama, A., Hattori, M., Yada, T., Toyoda, A., Itoh, T., Kawagoe, C., Watanabe, H., Totoki, Y., Taylor, T., Weissenbach, J., Heilig, R., Saurin, W., Artiguenave, F., Brottier, P., Bruls, T., Pelletier, E., Robert, C., Wincker, P., Smith, D. R., Doucette-Stamm, L., Rubenfield, M., Weinstock, K., Lee, H. M., Dubois, J., Rosenthal, A., Platzer, M., Nyakatura, G., Taudien, S., Rump, A., Yang, H., Yu, J., Wang, J., Huang, G., Gu, J., Hood, L., Rowen, L., Madan, A., Qin, S., Davis, R. W., Federspiel, N. A., Abola, A. P., Proctor, M. J., Myers, R. M., Schmutz, J., Dickson, M., Grimwood, J., Cox, D. R., Olson, M. V., Kaul, R., Shimizu, N., Kawasaki, K., Minoshima, S., Evans, G. A., Athanasiou, M., Schultz, R., Roe, B. A., Chen, F., Pan, H., Ramser, J., Lehrach, H., Reinhardt, R., McCombie, W. R., de la Bastide, M., Dedhia, N., Blocker, H., Hornischer, K., Nordsiek, G., Agarwala, R., Aravind, L., Bailey, J. A., Bateman, A., Batzoglou, S., Birney, E., Bork, P., Brown, D. G., Burge, C. B., Cerutti, L., Chen, H. C., Church, D., Clamp, M., Copley, R. R., Doerks, T., Eddy, S. R., Eichler, E. E., Furey, T. S., Galagan, J., Gilbert, J. G., Harmon, C., Hayashizaki, Y., Haussler, D., Hermjakob, H., Hokamp, K., Jang, W., Johnson, L. S., Jones, T. A., Kasif, S., Kaspryzk, A., Kennedy, S., Kent, W. J., Kitts, P., Koonin, E. V., Korf, I., Kulp, D., Lancet, D., Lowe, T. M., McLysaght, A., Mikkelsen, T., Moran, J. V., Mulder, N., Pollara, V. J., Ponting, C. P., Schuler, G., Schultz, J., Slater, G., Smit, A. F., Stupka, E., Szustakowski, J., Thierry-Mieg, D., Thierry-Mieg, J., Wagner, L., Wallis, J., Wheeler, R., Williams, A., Wolf, Y. I., Wolfe, K. H., Yang, S. P., Yeh, R. F., Collins, F., Guyer, M. S., Peterson, J., Felsenfeld, A., Wetterstrand, K. A., Patrinos, A., Morgan, M. J., de Jong, P., Catanese, J. J., Osoegawa, K., Shizuya, H., Choi, S., and Chen, Y. J. (2001) Initial sequencing and analysis of the human genome, *Nature*, 409, 860-921.

- 110. Pennisi, E. (2012) Genomics. ENCODE project writes eulogy for junk DNA, *Science*, 337, 1159, 1161.
- 111. Rosenbloom, K. R., Dreszer, T. R., Long, J. C., Malladi, V. S., Sloan, C. A., Raney, B. J., Cline, M. S., Karokhik, D., Barber, G. P., Clawson, H., Diekhans, M., Fujita, P. A., Goldman, M., Gravell, R. C., Harte, R. A., Hinrichs, A. S., Kirkup, V. M., Kuhn, R. M., Learned, K., Maddren, M., Meyer, L. R., Pohl, A., Rhead, B., Wong, M. C., Zweig, A. S., Haussler, D., and Kent, W. J. (2012) ENCODE whole-genome data in the UCSC Genome Browser: update 2012, *Nucleic Acids Res.*, 40, D912-917.
- 112. Raney, B. J., Cline, M. S., Rosenbloom, K. R., Dreszer, T. R., Learned, K., Barber, G. P., Meyer, L. R., Sloan, C. A., Malladi, V. S., Roskin, K. M., Suh, B. B., Hinrichs, A. S., Clawson, H., Zweig, A. S., Kirkup, V., Fujita, P. A., Rhead, B., Smith, K. E., Pohl, A., Kuhn, R. M., Karolchik, D., Haussler, D., and Kent, W. J. (2011) ENCODE whole-genome data in the UCSC genome browser (2011 update), *Nucleic Acids Res.*, *39*, D871-875.
- Rosenbloom, K. R., Dreszer, T. R., Pheasant, M., Barber, G. P., Meyer, L. R., Pohl, A., Raney, B. J., Wang, T., Hinrichs, A. S., Zweig, A. S., Fujita, P. A., Learned, K., Rhead, B., Smith, K. E., Kuhn, R. M., Karolchik, D., Haussler, D., and Kent, W. J. (2010) ENCODE whole-genome data in the UCSC Genome Browser, *Nucleic Acids Res.*, 38, D620-625.
- 114. Bhan, A., and Mandal, S. S. (2014) Long noncoding RNAs: emerging stars in gene regulation, epigenetics and human disease, *ChemMedChem.*, 9, 1932-1956.

- 115. Mattick, J. S., and Makunin, I. V. (2006) Non-coding RNA, Hum. Mol. Genet., 15 Spec No 1, R17-29.
- 116. Liu, J. F., Gough, J., and Rost, B. (2006) Distinguishing protein-coding from non-coding RNAs through support vector machines, *Plos Genet.*, *2*, 529-536.
- 117. Nie, L., Wu, H. J., Hsu, J. M., Chang, S. S., Labaff, A. M., Li, C. W., Wang, Y., Hsu, J. L., and Hung, M. C. (2012) Long non-coding RNAs: versatile master regulators of gene expression and crucial players in cancer, *Am. J. Transl. Res.*, *4*, 127-150.
- 118. Okazaki, Y., Furuno, M., Kasukawa, T., Adachi, J., Bono, H., Kondo, S., Nikaido, I., Osato, N., Saito, R., Suzuki, H., Yamanaka, I., Kiyosawa, H., Yagi, K., Tomaru, Y., Hasegawa, Y., Nogami, A., Schonbach, C., Gojobori, T., Baldarelli, R., Hill, D. P., Bult, C., Hume, D. A., Quackenbush, J., Schriml, L. M., Kanapin, A., Matsuda, H., Batalov, S., Beisel, K. W., Blake, J. A., Bradt, D., Brusic, V., Chothia, C., Corbani, L. E., Cousins, S., Dalla, E., Dragani, T. A., Fletcher, C. F., Forrest, A., Frazer, K. S., Gaasterland, T., Gariboldi, M., Gissi, C., Godzik, A., Gough, J., Grimmond, S., Gustincich, S., Hirokawa, N., Jackson, I. J., Jarvis, E. D., Kanai, A., Kawaji, H., Kawasawa, Y., Kedzierski, R. M., King, B. L., Konagaya, A., Kurochkin, I. V., Lee, Y., Lenhard, B., Lyons, P. A., Maglott, D. R., Maltais, L., Marchionni, L., McKenzie, L., Miki, H., Nagashima, T., Numata, K., Okido, T., Pavan, W. J., Pertea, G., Pesole, G., Petrovsky, N., Pillai, R., Pontius, J. U., Qi, D., Ramachandran, S., Ravasi, T., Reed, J. C., Reed, D. J., Reid, J., Ring, B. Z., Ringwald, M., Sandelin, A., Schneider, C., Semple, C. A., Setou, M., Shimada, K., Sultana, R., Takenaka, Y., Taylor, M. S., Teasdale, R. D., Tomita, M., Verardo, R., Wagner, L., Wahlestedt, C., Wang, Y., Watanabe, Y., Wells, C., Wilming, L. G., Wynshaw-Boris, A., Yanagisawa, M., Yang, I., Yang, L., Yuan, Z., Zavolan, M., Zhu, Y., Zimmer, A., Carninci, P., Hayatsu, N., Hirozane-Kishikawa, T., Konno, H., Nakamura, M., Sakazume, N., Sato, K.,

Shiraki, T., Waki, K., Kawai, J., Aizawa, K., Arakawa, T., Fukuda, S., Hara, A., Hashizume, W., Imotani, K., Ishii, Y., Itoh, M., Kagawa, I., Miyazaki, A., Sakai, K., Sasaki, D., Shibata, K., Shinagawa, A., Yasunishi, A., Yoshino, M., Waterston, R., Lander, E. S., Rogers, J., Birney, E., and Hayashizaki, Y. (2002) Analysis of the mouse transcriptome based on functional annotation of 60,770 full-length cDNAs, *Nature*, *420*, 563-573.

- 119. Maeda, N., Kasukawa, T., Oyama, R., Gough, J., Frith, M., Engstrom, P. G., Lenhard, B., Aturaliya, R. N., Batalov, S., Beisel, K. W., Bult, C. J., Fletcher, C. F., Forrest, A. R. R., Furuno, M., Hill, D., Itoh, M., Kanamori-Katayama, M., Katayama, S., Katoh, M., Kawashima, T., Quackenbush, J., Ravasi, T., Ring, B. Z., Shibata, K., Sugiura, K., Takenaka, Y., Teasdale, R. D., Wells, C. A., Zhu, Y. X., Kai, C., Kawai, J., Hume, D. A., Carninci, P., and Hayashizaki, Y. (2006) Transcript annotation in FANTOM3: Mouse gene catalog based on physical cDNAs, *Plos Genet.*, 2, 498-503.
- 120. Bertone, P., Stolc, V., Royce, T. E., Rozowsky, J. S., Urban, A. E., Zhu, X., Rinn, J. L., Tongprasit, W., Samanta, M., Weissman, S., Gerstein, M., and Snyder, M. (2004) Global identification of human transcribed sequences with genome tiling arrays, *Science*, 306, 2242-2246.
- 121. Kapranov, P., Cheng, J., Dike, S., Nix, D. A., Duttagupta, R., Willingham, A. T., Stadler, P. F., Hertel, J., Hackermuller, J., Hofacker, I. L., Bell, I., Cheung, E., Drenkow, J., Dumais, E., Patel, S., Helt, G., Ganesh, M., Ghosh, S., Piccolboni, A., Sementchenko, V., Tammana, H., and Gingeras, T. R. (2007) RNA maps reveal new RNA classes and a possible function for pervasive transcription, *Science*, *316*, 1484-1488.
- 122. Guttman, M., Amit, I., Garber, M., French, C., Lin, M. F., Feldser, D., Huarte, M., Zuk, O., Carey, B. W., Cassady, J. P., Cabili, M. N., Jaenisch, R., Mikkelsen, T. S., Jacks, T., Hacohen,

N., Bernstein, B. E., Kellis, M., Regev, A., Rinn, J. L., and Lander, E. S. (2009) Chromatin signature reveals over a thousand highly conserved large non-coding RNAs in mammals, *Nature*, 458, 223-227.

- 123. Esteller, M. (2011) Non-coding RNAs in human disease, Nat. Rev. Genet., 12, 861-874.
- 124. Harries, L. W. (2012) Long non-coding RNAs and human disease, *Biochem. Soc. Trans.*, 40, 902-906.
- 125. Ning, S., Zhao, Z., Ye, J., Wang, P., Zhi, H., Li, R., Wang, T., and Li, X. (2014) LincSNP: a database of linking disease-associated SNPs to human large intergenic non-coding RNAs, *BMC Bioinformatics*, 15, 152.
- Wapinski, O., and Chang, H. Y. (2011) Long noncoding RNAs and human disease, *Trends Cell Biol.*, 21, 354-361.
- 127. Bernstein, E., Duncan, E. M., Masui, O., Gil, J., Heard, E., and Allis, C. D. (2006) Mouse polycomb proteins bind differentially to methylated histone H3 and RNA and are enriched in facultative heterochromatin, *Mol. Cell. Biol.*, *26*, 2560-2569.
- 128. Whitehead, J., Pandey, G. K., and Kanduri, C. (2009) Regulation of the mammalian epigenome by long noncoding RNAs, *Biochim. Biophys. Acta*, *1790*, 936-947.
- 129. Rinn, J. L., Kertesz, M., Wang, J. K., Squazzo, S. L., Xu, X., Brugmann, S. A., Goodnough, L. H., Helms, J. A., Farnham, P. J., Segal, E., and Chang, H. Y. (2007) Functional demarcation of active and silent chromatin domains in human HOX loci by noncoding RNAs, *Cell*, *129*, 1311-1323.
- 130. Bhan, A., Hussain, I., Ansari, K. I., Kasiri, S., Bashyal, A., and Mandal, S. S. (2013) Antisense transcript long noncoding RNA (lncRNA) HOTAIR is transcriptionally induced by estradiol, J Mol. Biol., 425, 3707-3722.

- 131. Bhan, A., and Mandal, S. S. (2015) LncRNA HOTAIR: A master regulator of chromatin dynamics and cancer, *Biochim. Biophys. Acta*, 1856, 151-164.
- 132. Li, L., Liu, B., Wapinski, O. L., Tsai, M. C., Qu, K., Zhang, J., Carlson, J. C., Lin, M., Fang, F., Gupta, R. A., Helms, J. A., and Chang, H. Y. (2013) Targeted disruption of Hotair leads to homeotic transformation and gene derepression, *Cell Rep.*, *5*, 3-12.
- 133. Tsai, M. C., Manor, O., Wan, Y., Mosammaparast, N., Wang, J. K., Lan, F., Shi, Y., Segal, E., and Chang, H. Y. (2010) Long Noncoding RNA as Modular Scaffold of Histone Modification Complexes, *Science*, 329, 689-693.
- 134. Yoon, J. H., Abdelmohsen, K., Kim, J., Yang, X., Martindale, J. L., Tominaga-Yamanaka, K., White, E. J., Orjalo, A. V., Rinn, J. L., Kreft, S. G., Wilson, G. M., and Gorospe, M. (2013) Scaffold function of long non-coding RNA HOTAIR in protein ubiquitination, *Nat. Commun.*, 4, 2939.
- 135. Sparmann, A., van Lohuizen, Maarten. (2006) Polycomb silencers control cell fate, development and cancer, *Nat. Rev. Cancer*, *6*, 846-856.
- 136. Margueron, R., Reinberg, Danny. (2011) The Polycomb complex PRC2 and its mark in life, *Nature*, 469, 343-349.
- Cao, R., Wang, L., Wang, H., Xia, L., Erdjument-Bromage, H., Tempst, P., Jones, R. S., and Zhang, Y. (2002) Role of histone H3 lysine 27 methylation in Polycomb-group silencing, *Science*, 298, 1039-1043.
- 138. Margueron, R., Justin, Neil, Ohno, Katsuhito, Sharpe, Miriam L., Son, Jinsook., Drury III, William J., Voigt, Philipp., Martin, Stephen R., Taylor, William R., De Marco, Valeria, Pirrotta, Vincenzo., Reinberg, Danny., Gamblin, Steven J. . (2009) Role of the polycomb protein EED in the propagation of repressive histone marks, *Nature*, 461, 762-767.

- 139. Xu, C., Bian, C., Yang, W., Galka, M., Ouyang, H., Chen, C., Qiu, W., Liu, H., Jones, A. E., MacKenzie, F., Pan, P., Li, S. S.-C., Wang, H., and Min, J. (2010) Binding of different histone marks differentially regulates the activity and specificity of polycomb repressive complex 2 (PRC2), *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci., 107*, 19266-19271.
- Lee, M. G., Wynder, C., Cooch, N., and Shiekhattar, R. (2005) An essential role for CoREST in nucleosomal histone 3 lysine 4 demethylation, *Nature*, 437, 432-435.
- 141. Culhane, J. C., and Cole, P. A. (2007) LSD1 and the chemistry of histone demethylation, *Curr* Opin. Chem. Biol., 11, 561-568.
- 142. Shi, Y., Lan, F., Matson, C., Mulligan, P., Whetstine, J. R., Cole, P. A., and Casero, R. A. (2004) Histone demethylation mediated by the nuclear amine oxidase homolog LSD1, *Cell*, 119, 941-953.
- 143. Ansari, K. I., and Mandal, S. S. (2010) Mixed lineage leukemia: roles in gene expression, hormone signaling and mRNA processing, *FEBS J.*, 277, 1790-1804.
- 144. Metzger, E., Wissmann, M., Yin, N., Muller, J. M., Schneider, R., Peters, A. H., Gunther, T., Buettner, R., and Schule, R. (2005) LSD1 demethylates repressive histone marks to promote androgen-receptor-dependent transcription, *Nature*, 437, 436-439.
- 145. Lin, M., Pedrosa, E., Shah, A., Hrabovsky, A., Maqbool, S., Zheng, D., and Lachman, H. M. (2011) RNA-Seq of human neurons derived from iPS cells reveals candidate long non-coding RNAs involved in neurogenesis and neuropsychiatric disorders, *PloS one*, 6, e23356.
- 146. Ng, S. Y., Johnson, R., and Stanton, L. W. (2012) Human long non-coding RNAs promote pluripotency and neuronal differentiation by association with chromatin modifiers and transcription factors, *EMBO J.*, *31*, 522-533.

- 147. Roberts, T. C., Morris, K. V., and Wood, M. J. (2014) The role of long non-coding RNAs in neurodevelopment, brain function and neurological disease, *Philos. Trans. R. Soc. Lond. B Biol. Sci.*, 369.
- Schofield, C. J., and Ratcliffe, P. J. (2004) Oxygen sensing by HIF hydroxylases, *Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol.*, 5, 343-354.
- 149. Wang, G. L., Jiang, B. H., Rue, E. A., and Semenza, G. L. (1995) Hypoxia-Inducible Factor-1 Is a Basic-Helix-Loop-Helix-Pas Heterodimer Regulated by Cellular O-2 Tension, *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.*, 92, 5510-5514.
- 150. Semenza, G. L. (2012) Hypoxia-inducible factors in physiology and medicine, *Cell*, 148, 399-408.
- 151. Kaelin, W. G., Jr., and Ratcliffe, P. J. (2008) Oxygen sensing by metazoans: the central role of the HIF hydroxylase pathway, *Mol. Cell, 30*, 393-402.
- 152. Semenza, G. L. (2010) Defining the role of hypoxia-inducible factor 1 in cancer biology and therapeutics, *Oncogene*, 29, 625-634.
- 153. Yang, F., Huo, X. S., Yuan, S. X., Zhang, L., Zhou, W. P., Wang, F., and Sun, S. H. (2013) Repression of the long noncoding RNA-LET by histone deacetylase 3 contributes to hypoxiamediated metastasis, *Mol. Cell*, 49, 1083-1096.
- 154. Matouk, I. J., Mezan, S., Mizrahi, A., Ohana, P., Abu-Lail, R., Fellig, Y., Degroot, N., Galun, E., and Hochberg, A. (2010) The oncofetal H19 RNA connection: hypoxia, p53 and cancer, *Biochim. Biophys. Acta, 1803*, 443-451.
- 155. Yang, F., Zhang, H., Mei, Y., and Wu, M. (2014) Reciprocal regulation of HIF-1alpha and lincRNA-p21 modulates the Warburg effect, *Mol. Cell*, 53, 88-100.

- 156. Xue, M., Li, X., Li, Z. K., and Chen, W. (2014) Urothelial carcinoma associated 1 is a hypoxiainducible factor-1 alpha-targeted long noncoding RNA that enhances hypoxic bladder cancer cell proliferation, migration, and invasion, *Tumor Biol.*, *35*, 6901-6912.
- 157. Ferrer, I., Marin, C., Rey, M. J., Ribalta, T., Goutan, E., Blanco, R., Tolosa, E., and Marti, E. (1999) BDNF and full-length and truncated TrkB expression in Alzheimer disease. Implications in therapeutic strategies, *J. Neuropathol. Exp. Neurol.*, 58, 729-739.
- 158. Phillips, H. S., Hains, J. M., Armanini, M., Laramee, G. R., Johnson, S. A., and Winslow, J. W. BDNF mRNA is decreased in the hippocampus of individuals with Alzheimer's disease, *Neuron*, 7, 695-702.
- 159. Binder, D. K., and Scharfman, H. E. (2004) Brain-derived neurotrophic factor, *Growth Factors*, 22, 123-131.
- 160. Yu, B. D., Hess, J. L., Horning, S. E., Brown, G. A. J., and Korsmeyer, S. J. (1995) Altered Hox Expression and Segmental Identity in Mll-Mutant Mice, *Nature*, *378*, 505-508.
- 161. Lappin, T. R., Grier, D. G., Thompson, A., and Halliday, H. L. (2006) HOX genes: seductive science, mysterious mechanisms, *Ulster Med. J.*, 75, 23-31.
- 162. Takahashi, Y., Hamada, J., Murakawa, K., Takada, M., Tada, M., Nogami, I., Hayashi, N., Nakamori, S., Monden, M., Miyamoto, M., Katoh, H., and Moriuchi, T. (2004) Expression profiles of 39 HOX genes in normal human adult organs and anaplastic thyroid cancer cell lines by quantitative real-time RT-PCR system, *Exp. Cell Res.*, 293, 144-153.
- Mallo, M., and Alonso, C. R. (2013) The regulation of Hox gene expression during animal development, *Development*, 140, 3951-3963.
- 164. Hueber, S. D., and Lohmann, I. (2008) Shaping segments: Hox gene function in the genomic age, *Bioessays*, *30*, 965-979.

- 165. Alexander, T., Nolte, C., and Krumlauf, R. (2009) Hox Genes and Segmentation of the Hindbrain and Axial Skeleton, *Annu. Rev. Cell Dev. Biol.*, 25, 431-456.
- 166. Chen, F., and Capecchi, M. R. (1999) Paralogous mouse Hox genes, Hoxa9, Hoxb9, and Hoxd9, function together to control development of the mammary gland in response to pregnancy, *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA.*, 96, 541-546.
- 167. Nguyen, D. X., Chiang, A. C., Zhang, X. H. F., Kim, J. Y., Kris, M. G., Ladanyi, M., Gerald, W. L., and Massague, J. (2009) WNT/TCF Signaling through LEF1 and HOXB9 Mediates Lung Adenocarcinoma Metastasis, *Cell*, 138, 51-62.
- 168. Hayashida, T., Takahashi, F., Chiba, N., Brachtel, E., Takahashi, M., Godin-Heymann, N., Gross, K. W., Vivanco, M. D. M., Wijendran, V., Shioda, T., Sgroi, D., Donahoe, P. K., and Maheswaran, S. (2010) HOXB9, a gene overexpressed in breast cancer, promotes tumorigenicity and lung metastasis, *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA.*, 107, 1100-1105.
- 169. Chiba, N., Comaills, V., Shiotani, B., Takahashi, F., Shimada, T., Tajima, K., Winokur, D., Hayashida, T., Willers, H., Brachtel, E., Vivanco, M. D., Haber, D. A., Zou, L., and Maheswaran, S. (2012) Homeobox B9 induces epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition-associated radioresistance by accelerating DNA damage responses, *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA.*, 109, 2760-2765.
- Maeda, K., Hamada, J., Takahashi, Y., Tada, M., Yamamoto, Y., Sugihara, T., and Moriuchi, T.
   (2005) Altered expressions of HOX genes in human cutaneous malignant melanoma, *Int. J. Cancer*, *114*, 436-441.
- 171. Tomioka, N., Morita, K., Kobayashi, N., Tada, M., Itoh, T., Saitoh, S., Kondo, M., Takahashi, N., Kataoka, A., Nakanishi, K., Takahashi, M., Kamiyama, T., Ozaki, M., Hirano, T., and Todo,

S. (2010) Array comparative genomic hybridization analysis revealed four genomic prognostic biomarkers for primary gastric cancers, *Cancer Genet. Cytogenet.*, 201, 6-14.

- 172. Hatzis, P., van der Flier, L. G., van Driel, M. A., Guryev, V., Nielsen, F., Denissov, S., Nijman, I. J., Koster, J., Santo, E. E., Welboren, W., Versteeg, R., Cuppen, E., van de Wetering, M., Clevers, H., and Stunnenberg, H. G. (2008) Genome-wide pattern of TCF7L2/TCF4 chromatin occupancy in colorectal cancer cells, *Mol. Cell Biol.*, 28, 2732-2744.
- 173. Pan, L., Xie, Y. H., Black, T. A., Jones, C. A., Pruitt, S. C., and Gross, K. W. (2001) An Abd-B class HOX center dot PBX recognition sequence is required for expression from the mouse Ren-1(c) gene, *J. Biol. Chem.*, 276, 32489-32494.
- 174. Sha, L., Dong, L., Lv, L., Bai, L., and Ji, X. (2015) HOXB9 promotes epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition via transforming growth factor-beta1 pathway in hepatocellular carcinoma cells, *Clin. Exp. Med.*, *15*, 55-64.
- 175. Zhan, J., Wang, P., Niu, M., Wang, Y., Zhu, X., Guo, Y., and Zhang, H. (2015) High expression of transcriptional factor HoxB9 predicts poor prognosis in patients with lung adenocarcinoma, *Histopathology*, 66, 955-965.
- 176. Darda, L., Hakami, F., Morgan, R., Murdoch, C., Lambert, D. W., and Hunter, K. D. (2015) The role of HOXB9 and miR-196a in head and neck squamous cell carcinoma, *Plos One, 10*, e0122285.
- 177. Fang, L., Xu, Y., and Zou, L. (2014) Overexpressed homeobox B9 regulates oncogenic activities by transforming growth factor-beta1 in gliomas, *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.*, 446, 272-279.
- 178. Seki, H., Hayashida, T., Jinno, H., Hirose, S., Sakata, M., Takahashi, M., Maheswaran, S., Mukai, M., and Kitagawa, Y. (2012) HOXB9 Expression Promoting Tumor Cell Proliferation

and Angiogenesis Is Associated with Clinical Outcomes in Breast Cancer Patients, Ann. Surg. Oncol., 19, 1831-1840.

- 179. Abdel-Rahman, W. M., Moustafa, Y. M., Ahmed, B. O., and Mostafa, R. M. (2012) Endocrine Disruptors and Breast Cancer Risk - Time to Consider the Environment, Asian Pac. J. Cancer Prev., 13, 5937-5946.
- 180. Singh, S., and Li, S. S. L. (2012) Epigenetic Effects of Environmental Chemicals Bisphenol A and Phthalates, *Int. J. Mol. Sci.*, *13*, 10143-10153.
- 181. Sengupta, S., Obiorah, I., Maximov, P. Y., Curpan, R., and Jordan, V. C. (2013) Molecular mechanism of action of bisphenol and bisphenol A mediated by oestrogen receptor alpha in growth and apoptosis of breast cancer cells, *Brit. J. Pharmacol.*, 169, 167-178.
- Fernandez, S. V., and Russo, J. (2010) Estrogen and Xenoestrogens in Breast Cancer, *Toxicol. Pathol.*, 38, 110-122.
- 183. Fucic, A., Gamulin, M., Ferencic, Z., Katic, J., von Krauss, M. K., Bartonova, A., and Merlo, D. F. (2012) Environmental exposure to xenoestrogens and oestrogen related cancers: reproductive system, breast, lung, kidney, pancreas, and brain, *Environ. Health-Glob.*, 11.
- 184. Schonfelder, G., Wittfoht, W., Hopp, H., Talsness, C. E., Paul, M., and Chahoud, I. (2002) Parent bisphenol A accumulation in the human maternal-fetal-placental unit, *Environ. Health Persp.*, 110, A703-A707.
- 185. Bhan, A., Hussain, I., Ansari, K. I., Kasiri, S., Bashyal, A., and Mandal, S. S. (2013) Antisense Transcript Long Noncoding RNA (lncRNA) HOTAIR is Transcriptionally Induced by Estradiol, *J. Mol. Biol.*, 425, 3707-3722.

- 186. Bobzean, S. A., Dennis, T. S., and Perrotti, L. I. (2014) Acute estradiol treatment affects the expression of cocaine-induced conditioned place preference in ovariectomized female rats, *Brain Res. Bull.*, *103*, 49-53.
- 187. Bobzean, S. A., DeNobrega, A. K., and Perrotti, L. I. (2014) Sex differences in the neurobiology of drug addiction, *Exp. Neurol.*, 259, 64-74.
- 188. Bobzean, S. A., Dennis, T. S., Addison, B. D., and Perrotti, L. I. (2010) Influence of sex on reinstatement of cocaine-conditioned place preference, *Brain Res. Bull.*, *83*, 331-336.
- 189. Maclusky, H., Leranth. (2005) The environmental estrogen bisphenol A inhibits estradiolinduced hippocampal synaptogenesis. 2005 *Environ. Health Perspect.*, *11*, 675-679.
- 190. Eilam-Stock, T., Serrano, P., Frankfurt, M., and Luine, V. (2012) Bisphenol-A impairs memory and reduces dendritic spine density in adult male rats, *Behav. Neurosci.*, *126*, 175-185.
- 191. Betancourt AM, E. I., Desmont RA, Russo J, Lamartiniere CA. (2010) In-utero exposure to bisphenol A shifts the window of susceptibility for mammary carcinogenesis in the rat. , *Environ. Health Perspect.*, 118, 1614-1619.
- 192. Gao, J. J., Aksoy, B. A., Dogrusoz, U., Dresdner, G., Gross, B., Sumer, S. O., Sun, Y. C., Jacobsen, A., Sinha, R., Larsson, E., Cerami, E., Sander, C., and Schultz, N. (2013) Integrative Analysis of Complex Cancer Genomics and Clinical Profiles Using the cBioPortal, *Sci. Signal*, 6.
- 193. Cerami, E., Gao, J. J., Dogrusoz, U., Gross, B. E., Sumer, S. O., Aksoy, B. A., Jacobsen, A., Byrne, C. J., Heuer, M. L., Larsson, E., Antipin, Y., Reva, B., Goldberg, A. P., Sander, C., and Schultz, N. (2012) The cBio Cancer Genomics Portal: An Open Platform for Exploring Multidimensional Cancer Genomics Data, *Cancer Discov.*, 2, 401-404.

- 194. Ansari, K. I., Shrestha, B., Hussain, I., Kasiri, S., and Mandal, S. S. (2011) Histone methylases MLL1 and MLL3 coordinate with estrogen receptors in estrogen-mediated HOXB9 expression, *Biochemistry*, 50, 3517-3527.
- 195. Bobzean, S. A. M., Dennis, T. S., and Perrotti, L. I. (2014) Acute estradiol treatment affects the expression of cocaine-induced conditioned place preference in ovariectomized female rats, *Brain Res. Bull.*, 103, 49-53.
- 196. Mo, R., Rao, S. M., and Zhu, Y. J. (2006) Identification of the MLL2 complex as a coactivator for estrogen receptor alpha, *J. Biol. Chem.*, 281, 15714-15720.
- 197. Lee, S., Lee, D. K., Dou, Y. L., Lee, J., Lee, B., Kwak, E., Kong, Y. Y., Lee, S. K., Roeder, R. G., and Lee, J. W. (2006) Coactivator as a target gene specificity determinant for histone H3 lysine 4 methyltransferases, *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA.*, 103, 15392-15397.
- Nilsson, S., and Gustafsson, J. A. (2000) Estrogen receptor transcription and transactivation: Basic aspects of estrogen action, *Breast Cancer Res.*, 2, 360-366.
- 199. Nilsson, S., and Gustafsson, J. A. (2002) Estrogen receptor action, *Crit. Rev. Eukar. Gene, 12*, 237-257.
- 200. Barkhem, T., Nilsson, S., and Gustafsson, J. A. (2004) Molecular mechanisms, physiological consequences and pharmacological implications of estrogen receptor action, *Am. J. Pharmacogenomics*, *4*, 19-28.
- 201. Nilsson, S., Makela, S., Treuter, E., Tujague, M., Thomsen, J., Andersson, G., Enmark, E., Pettersson, K., Warner, M., and Gustafsson, J. A. (2001) Mechanisms of estrogen action, *Physiol. Rev.*, 81, 1535-1565.

- 202. Chen, B. S., Mandal, S. S., and Hampsey, M. (2004) High-resolution protein-DNA contacts for the yeast RNA polymerase II general transcription machinery, *Biochemistry-Us*, 43, 12741-12749.
- 203. Dreijerink, K. M., Mulder, K. W., Winkler, G. S., Hoppener, J. W., Lips, C. J., and Timmers, H. T. (2006) Menin links estrogen receptor activation to histone H3K4 trimethylation, *Cancer Res.*, 66, 4929-4935.
- 204. Ernst, P., Mabon, M., Davidson, A. J., Zon, L. I., and Korsmeyer, S. J. (2004) An Mll-dependent Hox program drives hematopoietic progenitor expansion, *Curr. Biol.*, *14*, 2063-2069.
- 205. Hess, J. L. (2004) MLL: a histone methyltransferase disrupted in leukemia, *Trends Mol. Med.*, 10, 500-507.
- 206. Ansari, K. I., Kasiri, S., Hussain, I., and Mandal, S. S. (2009) Mixed lineage leukemia histone methylases play critical roles in estrogen-mediated regulation of HOXC13, *FEBS J.*, 276, 7400-7411.
- 207. Ansari, K. I., Mishra, B. P., and Mandal, S. S. (2009) MLL histone methylases in gene expression, hormone signaling and cell cycle, *Front. Biosci.*, *14*, 3483-3495.
- 208. Lee, S., Kim, D. H., Goo, Y. H., Lee, Y. C., Lee, S. K., and Lee, J. W. (2009) Crucial Roles for Interactions between MLL3/4 and INI1 in Nuclear Receptor Transactivation, *Mol. Endocrinol.*, 23, 610-619.
- 209. Ansari, K. I., and Mandal, S. S. (2010) Mixed lineage leukemia: roles in gene expression, hormone signaling and mRNA processing, *FEBS J.*, 277, 1790-1804.
- 210. Mandal, S. S., Ansari, K. I., Hussain, I., Kasiri, S., and Shrestha, B. (2010) MLL histone methylases in estrogen-mediated regulation of HOX genes involved in hair follicle development and leukemia, *FASEB J.*, 24.

- 211. Ansari, K. I., Hussain, I., Shrestha, B., Kasiri, S., and Mandal, S. S. (2011) HOXC6 Is Transcriptionally Regulated via Coordination of MLL Histone Methylase and Estrogen Receptor in an Estrogen Environment, J. Mol. Biol., 411, 334-349.
- 212. Guenther, M. G., Jenner, R. G., Chevalier, B., Nakamura, T., Croce, C. M., Canaani, E., and Young, R. A. (2005) Global and Hox-specific roles for the MLL1 methyltransferase, *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA.*, 102, 8603-8608.
- 213. Ansari, K. I., Kasiri, S., Hussain, I., Bobzean, S. A., Perrotti, L. I., and Mandal, S. S. (2013) MLL histone methylases regulate expression of HDLR-SR-B1 in presence of estrogen and control plasma cholesterol in vivo, *Mol. Endocrinol.*, 27, 92-105.
- 214. Bulynko, Y. A., and O'Malley, B. W. (2011) Nuclear Receptor Coactivators: Structural and Functional Biochemistry, *Biochemistry-Us*, 50, 313-328.
- 215. Jiang, S. M., Meyer, R., Kang, K. Y., Osborne, C. K., Wong, J. M., and Oesterreich, S. (2006) Scaffold attachment factor SAFB1 suppresses estrogen receptor alpha-mediated transcription in part via interaction with nuclear receptor corepressor, *Mol. Endocrinol.*, 20, 311-320.
- 216. Oesterreich, S., Zhang, Q. P., Hopp, T., Fuqua, S. A. W., Michaelis, M., Zhao, H. H., Davie, J. R., Osborne, C. K., and Lee, A. V. (2000) Tamoxifen-bound estrogen receptor (ER) strongly interacts with the nuclear matrix protein HET/SAF-B, a novel inhibitor of ER-mediated transactivation, *Mol. Endocrinol.*, 14, 369-381.
- 217. Shibata, H., Spencer, T. E., Onate, S. A., Jenster, G., Tsai, S. Y., Tsai, M. J., and O'Malley, B.
  W. (1997) Role of co-activators and co-repressors in the mechanism of steroid/thyroid receptor action, *Recent Prog. Horm. Res.*, 52, 141-165.
- 218. Crawford, B. D., and Hess, J. L. (2006) MLL core components give the green light to histone methylation, *ACS Chem. Biol.*, *1*, 495-498.

- 219. Bannister, A. J., and Kouzarides, T. (2004) Histone methylation: Recognizing the methyl mark, *Method Enzymol.*, 376, 269-288.
- Martin, M. E., Milne, T. A., Bloyer, S., Galoian, K., Shen, W., Gibbs, D., Brock, H. W., Slany, R., and Hess, J. L. (2003) Dimerization of MLL fusion proteins immortalizes hematopoietic cells, *Cancer Cell*, 4, 197-207.
- 221. Strahl, B. D., and Allis, C. D. (2000) The language of covalent histone modifications, *Nature*, 403, 41-45.
- 222. Chen, F., and Capecchi, M. R. (1997) Targeted mutations in hoxa-9 and hoxb-9 reveal synergistic interactions, *Dev. Biol.*, 181, 186-196.
- 223. Brzozowski, A. M., Pike, A. C., Dauter, Z., Hubbard, R. E., Bonn, T., Engstrom, O., Ohman, L., Greene, G. L., Gustafsson, J. A., and Carlquist, M. (1997) Molecular basis of agonism and antagonism in the oestrogen receptor, *Nature*, 389, 753-758.
- 224. Feng, W., Ribeiro, R. C., Wagner, R. L., Nguyen, H., Apriletti, J. W., Fletterick, R. J., Baxter, J. D., Kushner, P. J., and West, B. L. (1998) Hormone-dependent coactivator binding to a hydrophobic cleft on nuclear receptors, *Science*, 280, 1747-1749.
- 225. Paige, L. A., Christensen, D. J., Gron, H., Norris, J. D., Gottlin, E. B., Padilla, K. M., Chang, C. Y., Ballas, L. M., Hamilton, P. T., McDonnell, D. P., and Fowlkes, D. M. (1999) Estrogen receptor (ER) modulators each induce distinct conformational changes in ER alpha and ER beta, *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA.*, 96, 3999-4004.
- Mangelsdorf, D. J., Thummel, C., Beato, M., Herrlich, P., Schutz, G., Umesono, K., Blumberg, B., Kastner, P., Mark, M., Chambon, P., and Evans, R. M. (1995) The nuclear receptor superfamily: the second decade, *Cell*, 83, 835-839.

- 227. Lee, J. W., Lee, Y. C., Na, S. Y., Jung, D. J., and Lee, S. K. (2001) Transcriptional coregulators of the nuclear receptor superfamily: coactivators and corepressors, *Cell Mol. Life Sci.*, 58, 289-297.
- 228. Ansari, K. I., Kasiri, S., and Mandal, S. S. (2013) Histone methylase MLL1 has critical roles in tumor growth and angiogenesis and its knockdown suppresses tumor growth in vivo, *Oncogene*, *32*, 3359-3370.
- 229. Richter, C. A., Birnbaum, L. S., Farabollini, F., Newbold, R. R., Rubin, B. S., Talsness, C. E., Vandenbergh, J. G., Walser-Kuntz, D. R., and vom Saal, F. S. V. (2007) In vivo effects of bisphenol A in laboratory rodent studies, *Reprod. Toxicol.*, 24, 199-224.
- 230. Kietzmann, T., Mennerich, D., and Dimova, E. Y. (2016) Hypoxia-Inducible Factors (HIFs) and Phosphorylation: Impact on Stability, Localization, and Transactivity, *Front. Cell Dev. Biol.*, 4, 11.
- 231. Isin, M., Ozgur, E., Cetin, G., Erten, N., Aktan, M., Gezer, U., and Dalay, N. (2014) Investigation of circulating lncRNAs in B-cell neoplasms, *Clin. Chim. Acta*, 431, 255-259.
- 232. Salta, E., and De Strooper, B. (2012) Non-coding RNAs with essential roles in neurodegenerative disorders, *Lancet Neurol.*, 11, 189-200.
- 233. Luo, Q., and Chen, Y. (2016) Long noncoding RNAs and Alzheimer's disease, *Clin. Interv. Aging*, 11, 867-872.
- 234. D'Haene, E., Jacobs, E. Z., Volders, P. J., De Meyer, T., Menten, B., and Vergult, S. (2016) Identification of long non-coding RNAs involved in neuronal development and intellectual disability, *Sci. Rep.*, 6, 28396.

- Zhang, Y. B., Wang, X., Meister, E. A., Gong, K. R., Yan, S. C., Lu, G. W., Ji, X. M., and Shao,
  G. (2014) The effects of CoCl2 on HIF-1alpha protein under experimental conditions of autoprogressive hypoxia using mouse models, *Int. J. Mol. Sci.*, 15, 10999-11012.
- Rinn, J. L., and Chang, H. Y. (2012) Genome regulation by long noncoding RNAs, Ann. Rev. Biochem., 81, 145-166.
- 237. Mullard, A. (2007) Hotair rises : New role for non-coding RNAs, Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol., 8, 601-601.
- 238. Iyer, M. K., Niknafs, Y. S., Malik, R., Singhal, U., Sahu, A., Hosono, Y., Barrette, T. R., Prensner, J. R., Evans, J. R., Zhao, S., Poliakov, A., Cao, X., Dhanasekaran, S. M., Wu, Y. M., Robinson, D. R., Beer, D. G., Feng, F. Y., Iyer, H. K., and Chinnaiyan, A. M. (2015) The landscape of long noncoding RNAs in the human transcriptome, *Nat. Genet.*, 47, 199-208.
- Gupta, R. A., Shah, N., Wang, K. C., Kim, J., Horlings, H. M., Wong, D. J., Tsai, M. C., Hung, T., Argani, P., Rinn, J. L., Wang, Y., Brzoska, P., Kong, B., Li, R., West, R. B., van de Vijver, M. J., Sukumar, S., and Chang, H. Y. (2010) Long non-coding RNA HOTAIR reprograms chromatin state to promote cancer metastasis, *Nature*, 464, 1071-1076.
- 240. Somarowthu, S., Legiewicz, M., Chillon, I., Marcia, M., Liu, F., and Pyle, A. M. (2015) HOTAIR Forms an Intricate and Modular Secondary Structure, *Molecular Cell*, 58, 353-361.
- 241. Loewen, G., Jayawickramarajah, J., Zhuo, Y., and Shan, B. (2014) Functions of lncRNA HOTAIR in lung cancer, *J. Hematol. Oncol.*, 7, 90.
- 242. Kuzmichev, A., Nishioka, K., Erdjument-Bromage, H., Tempst, P., and Reinberg, D. (2002) Histone methyltransferase activity associated with a human multiprotein complex containing the Enhancer of Zeste protein, *Genes Dev.*, *16*, 2893-2905.

- 243. Margueron, R., and Reinberg, D. (2011) The Polycomb complex PRC2 and its mark in life, *Nature*, 469, 343-349.
- 244. Jiao, L., and Liu, X. (2015) Structural basis of histone H3K27 trimethylation by an active polycomb repressive complex 2, *Science*, *350*, aac4383.
- 245. Cao, R., and Zhang, Y. (2004) SUZ12 is required for both the histone methyltransferase activity and the silencing function of the EED-EZH2 complex, *Mol. Cell*, *15*, 57-67.
- 246. Schlesinger, Y., Straussman, R., Keshet, I., Farkash, S., Hecht, M., Zimmerman, J., Eden, E., Yakhini, Z., Ben-Shushan, E., Reubinoff, B. E., Bergman, Y., Simon, I., and Cedar, H. (2007) Polycomb-mediated methylation on Lys27 of histone H3 pre-marks genes for de novo methylation in cancer, *Nat. Genet.*, 39, 232-236.
- 247. Cao, R., and Zhang, Y. (2004) The functions of E(Z)/EZH2-mediated methylation of lysine 27 in histone H3, Curr. Opin. Genet. Dev., 14, 155-164.
- 248. Chen, Y., Jie, W., Yan, W., Zhou, K., and Xiao, Y. (2012) Lysine-specific histone demethylase 1 (LSD1): A potential molecular target for tumor therapy, *Crit. Rev. Euk. Gene Exp.*, 22, 53-59.
- 249. Shi, Y. J., Matson, C., Lan, F., Iwase, S., Baba, T., and Shi, Y. (2005) Regulation of LSD1 histone demethylase activity by its associated factors, *Mol Cell*, *19*, 857-864.
- 250. Amente, S., Lania, L., and Majello, B. (2013) The histone LSD1 demethylase in stemness and cancer transcription programs, *Biochim. Biophys. Acta.*, *1829*, 981-986.
- 251. Yang, M., Gocke, C. B., Luo, X., Borek, D., Tomchick, D. R., Machius, M., Otwinowski, Z., and Yu, H. (2006) Structural basis for CoREST-dependent demethylation of nucleosomes by the human LSD1 histone demethylase, *Mol. Cell*, 23, 377-387.

- 252. Shi, Y., Lan, F., Matson, C., Mulligan, P., Whetstine, J. R., Cole, P. A., Casero, R. A., and Shi,
  Y. (2004) Histone demethylation mediated by the nuclear amine oxidase homolog LSD1, *Cell*, *119*, 941-953.
- 253. Kogo, R., Shimamura, T., Mimori, K., Kawahara, K., Imoto, S., Sudo, T., Tanaka, F., Shibata, K., Suzuki, A., Komune, S., Miyano, S., and Mori, M. (2011) Long noncoding RNA HOTAIR regulates polycomb-dependent chromatin modification and is associated with poor prognosis in colorectal cancers, *Cancer Res.*, *71*, 6320-6326.
- 254. Ishibashi, M., Kogo, R., Shibata, K., Sawada, G., Takahashi, Y., Kurashige, J., Akiyoshi, S., Sasaki, S., Iwaya, T., Sudo, T., Sugimachi, K., Mimori, K., Wakabayashi, G., and Mori, M. (2013) Clinical significance of the expression of long non-coding RNA HOTAIR in primary hepatocellular carcinoma, *Oncol. Rep.*, 29, 946-950.
- 255. Geng, Y. J., Xie, S. L., Li, Q., Ma, J., and Wang, G. Y. (2011) Large intervening non-coding RNA HOTAIR is associated with hepatocellular carcinoma progression, *J. Int. Med. Res.*, *39*, 2119-2128.
- 256. Yang, Z., Zhou, L., Wu, L. M., Lai, M. C., Xie, H. Y., Zhang, F., and Zheng, S. S. (2011) Overexpression of long non-coding RNA HOTAIR predicts tumor recurrence in hepatocellular carcinoma patients following liver transplantation, *Ann. Surg. Oncol.*, *18*, 1243-1250.
- Kim, K., Jutooru, I., Chadalapaka, G., Johnson, G., Frank, J., Burghardt, R., Kim, S., and Safe, S. (2012) HOTAIR is a negative prognostic factor and exhibits pro-oncogenic activity in pancreatic cancer, *Oncogene*, 32, 1616-1625.
- 258. Nakagawa, T., Endo, H., Yokoyama, M., Abe, J., Tamai, K., Tanaka, N., Sato, I., Takahashi, S., Kondo, T., and Satoh, K. (2013) Large noncoding RNA HOTAIR enhances aggressive

biological behavior and is associated with short disease-free survival in human non-small cell hung cancer, *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.*, 436, 319-324.

- 259. Zhuang, Y., Wang, X., Nguyen, H. T., Zhuo, Y., Cui, X., Fewell, C., Flemington, E. K., and Shan, B. (2013) Induction of long intergenic non-coding RNA HOTAIR in lung cancer cells by type I collagen, *J. Hematol. Oncol.*, 6, 35.
- 260. McCarty, G., and Loeb, D. M. (2015) Hypoxia-sensitive epigenetic regulation of an antisenseoriented lncRNA controls WT1 expression in myeloid leukemia cells, *PLoS One, 10*, e0119837.
- 261. Liu, W., Shen, S. M., Zhao, X. Y., and Chen, G. Q. (2012) Targeted genes and interacting proteins of hypoxia inducible factor-1, *Int. J. Biochem. Mol. Biol.*, *3*, 165-178.
- 262. Masoud, G. N., and Li, W. (2015) HIF-1alpha pathway: role, regulation and intervention for cancer therapy, *Acta. pharm. Sin.*. *B*, *5*, 378-389.
- 263. Hu, C. J., Wang, L. Y., Chodosh, L. A., Keith, B., and Simon, M. C. (2003) Differential roles of hypoxia-inducible factor 1alpha (HIF-1alpha) and HIF-2alpha in hypoxic gene regulation, *Mol. Ceell. Biol.*, 23, 9361-9374.
- 264. Masson, N., and Ratcliffe, P. J. (2014) Hypoxia signaling pathways in cancer metabolism: the importance of co-selecting interconnected physiological pathways, *Cancer Metab.*, 2, 3.
- 265. Muz, B., de la Puente, P., Azab, F., and Azab, A. K. (2015) The role of hypoxia in cancer progression, angiogenesis, metastasis, and resistance to therapy, *Hypoxia*, *3*, 83-92.
- 266. Ortiz-Barahona, A., Villar, D., Pescador, N., Amigo, J., and del Peso, L. (2010) Genome-wide identification of hypoxia-inducible factor binding sites and target genes by a probabilistic model integrating transcription-profiling data and in silico binding site prediction, *Nucleic Acids Res.*, 38, 2332-2345.

- 267. Quail, D. F., and Joyce, J. A. (2013) Microenvironmental regulation of tumor progression and metastasis, *Nat. Med.*, *19*, 1423-1437.
- 268. Kimura, H., Weisz, A., Kurashima, Y., Hashimoto, K., Ogura, T., D'Acquisto, F., Addeo, R., Makuuchi, M., and Esumi, H. (2000) Hypoxia response element of the human vascular endothelial growth factor gene mediates transcriptional regulation by nitric oxide: control of hypoxia-inducible factor-1 activity by nitric oxide, *Blood*, 95, 189-197.
- 269. Krock, B. L., Skuli, N., and Simon, M. C. (2011) Hypoxia-induced angiogenesis: good and evil, *Genes Cancer*, 2, 1117-1133.
- 270. Chen, L., Endler, A., and Shibasaki, F. (2009) Hypoxia and angiogenesis: regulation of hypoxiainducible factors via novel binding factors, *Exp. Mol. Med.*, *41*, 849-857.
- Covello, K. L., and Simon, M. C. (2004) HIFs, hypoxia, and vascular development, *Curr.Dev. Biol.*, 62, 37-54.
- 272. Elks, P. M., Renshaw, S. A., Meijer, A. H., Walmsley, S. R., and van Eeden, F. J. (2015) Exploring the HIFs, buts and maybes of hypoxia signalling in disease: lessons from zebrafish models, *Dis. Mod. Mech.*, 8, 1349-1360.
- 273. Wang, B., Su, Y., Yang, Q., Lv, D., Zhang, W., Tang, K., Wang, H., Zhang, R., and Liu, Y. (2015) Overexpression of Long Non-Coding RNA HOTAIR Promotes Tumor Growth and Metastasis in Human Osteosarcoma, *Mol. Cells.*, 38, 432-440.
- 274. Shen, X. H., Qi, P., and Du, X. (2015) Long non-coding RNAs in cancer invasion and metastasis, *Mod. Pathol.*, 28, 4-13.
- 275. Wang, F., Zhang, R., Wu, X., and Hankinson, O. (2010) Roles of coactivators in hypoxic induction of the erythropoietin gene, *PLoS One*, *5*, e10002.

- 276. Kasiri, S., Ansari, K. I., Hussain, I., Bhan, A., and Mandal, S. S. (2013) Antisense oligonucleotide mediated knockdown of HOXC13 affects cell growth and induces apoptosis in tumor cells and over expression of HOXC13 induces 3D-colony formation, *RSC Adv.*, *3*, 3260-3269.
- 277. Aartsma-Rus, A., van Vliet, L., Hirschi, M., Janson, A. A., Heemskerk, H., de Winter, C. L., de Kimpe, S., van Deutekom, J. C., t Hoen, P. A., and van Ommen, G. J. (2009) Guidelines for antisense oligonucleotide design and insight into splice-modulating mechanisms, *Mol. Ther.*, 17, 548-553.
- 278. Lopez-Sanchez, L. M., Jimenez, C., Valverde, A., Hernandez, V., Penarando, J., Martinez, A., Lopez-Pedrera, C., Munoz-Castaneda, J. R., De la Haba-Rodriguez, J. R., Aranda, E., and Rodriguez-Ariza, A. (2014) CoCl2, a mimic of hypoxia, induces formation of polyploid giant cells with stem characteristics in colon cancer, *PLoS One*, *9*, e99143.
- 279. Zheng, J. B., Sun, X. J., Wang, W., and Lu, S. Y. (2010) Hypoxia-inducible factor-1 alpha modulates the down-regulation of the homeodomain protein CDX2 in colorectal cancer, *Oncol. Rep.*, 24, 97-104.
- 280. Zhai, W., Sun, Y., Jiang, M., Wang, M., Gasiewicz, T. A., Zheng, J., and Chang, C. (2016) Differential regulation of LncRNA-SARCC suppresses VHL-mutant RCC cell proliferation yet promotes VHL-normal RCC cell proliferation via modulating androgen receptor/HIF-2alpha/C-MYC axis under hypoxia, *Oncogene*, 35, 4866-4880.
- 281. Koizume, S., Ito, S., Miyagi, E., Hirahara, F., Nakamura, Y., Sakuma, Y., Osaka, H., Takano, Y., Ruf, W., and Miyagi, Y. (2012) HIF2 alpha-Sp1 interaction mediates a deacetylation-dependent FVII-gene activation under hypoxic conditions in ovarian cancer cells, *Nucleic Acids Res.*, 40, 5389-5401.

- 282. Arany, Z., Huang, L. E., Eckner, R., Bhattacharya, S., Jiang, C., Goldberg, M. A., Bunn, H. F., and Livingston, D. M. (1996) An essential role for p300/CBP in the cellular response to hypoxia, *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA.*, 93, 12969-12973.
- 283. Ebert, B. L., and Bunn, H. F. (1998) Regulation of transcription by hypoxia requires a multiprotein complex that includes hypoxia-inducible factor 1, an adjacent transcription factor, and p300/CREB binding protein, *Mol. Cell. Biol.*, *18*, 4089-4096.
- 284. Mishra, B. P., Ansari, K. I., and Mandal, S. S. (2009) Dynamic association of MLL1, H3K4 trimethylation with chromatin and Hox gene expression during the cell cycle, *FEBS J.*, 276, 1629-1640.
- 285. Dengler, V. L., Galbraith, M. D., and Espinosa, J. M. (2014) Transcriptional regulation by hypoxia inducible factors, *Crit. Rev. Biochem. Mol. Biol.*, 49, 1-15.
- 286. Li, Y., Han, J., Zhang, Y., Cao, F., Liu, Z., Li, S., Wu, J., Hu, C., Wang, Y., Shuai, J., Chen, J., Cao, L., Li, D., Shi, P., Tian, C., Zhang, J., Dou, Y., Li, G., Chen, Y., and Lei, M. (2016) Structural basis for activity regulation of MLL family methyltransferases, *Nature*, 530, 447-452.
- 287. Eberharter, A., and Becker, P. B. (2002) Histone acetylation: a switch between repressive and permissive chromatin Second in review series on chromatin dynamics, *EMBO Rep.*, *3*, 224-229.
- 288. Bhan, A., Deb P., Shihabeddin N., Ansari K.I., Brotto M., Mandal S.S. Histone methylase MLL1 coordinates with HIF and regulate lncRNA HOTAIR expression under hypoxia, *Gene, Under Revision*.
- 289. Greer, S. N., Metcalf, J. L., Wang, Y., and Ohh, M. (2012) The updated biology of hypoxiainducible factor, *EMBO J.*, *31*, 2448-2460.

- 290. Perez-Perri, J. I., Dengler, V. L., Audetat, K. A., Pandey, A., Bonner, E. A., Urh, M., Mendez, J., Daniels, D. L., Wappner, P., Galbraith, M. D., and Espinosa, J. M. (2016) The TIP60 Complex Is a Conserved Coactivator of HIF1A, *Cell Rep.*, 16, 37-47.
- 291. Ruas, J. L., Poellinger, L., and Pereira, T. (2005) Role of CBP in regulating HIF-1-mediated activation of transcription, *J. Cell Sci.*, *118*, 301-311.
- 292. Carrero, P., Okamoto, K., Coumailleau, P., O'Brien, S., Tanaka, H., and Poellinger, L. (2000) Redox-regulated recruitment of the transcriptional coactivators CREB-binding protein and SRC-1 to hypoxia-inducible factor 1alpha, *Mol. Cell. Biol.*, 20, 402-415.
- 293. Ansari, K. I., Kasiri, S., Mishra, B. P., and Mandal, S. S. (2012) Mixed lineage leukaemia-4 regulates cell-cycle progression and cell viability and its depletion suppresses growth of xenografted tumour in vivo, *Br. J. Cancer, 107*, 315-324.
- 294. Ansari, K. I., Kasiri, S., Hussain, I., Bobzean, S. A., Perrotti, L. I., and Mandal, S. S. (2013) MLL histone methylases regulate expression of HDLR-SR-B1 in presence of estrogen and control plasma cholesterol in vivo, *Mol. Endocrinol.*, 27, 92-105.
- 295. Heddleston, J. M., Wu, Q., Rivera, M., Minhas, S., Lathia, J. D., Sloan, A. E., Iliopoulos, O., Hjelmeland, A. B., and Rich, J. N. (2012) Hypoxia-induced mixed-lineage leukemia 1 regulates glioma stem cell tumorigenic potential, *Cell Death Diff.*, 19, 428-439.
- 296. Ernst, P., Wang, J., Huang, M., Goodman, R. H., and Korsmeyer, S. J. (2001) MLL and CREB bind cooperatively to the nuclear coactivator CREB-binding protein, *Mol. Cell. Biol.*, *21*, 2249-2258.
- 297. Ida, K., Kitabayashi, I., Taki, T., Taniwaki, M., Noro, K., Yamamoto, M., Ohki, M., and Hayashi, Y. (1997) Adenoviral E1A-associated protein p300 is involved in acute myeloid leukemia with t(11;22)(q23;q13), *Blood*, 90, 4699-4704.

- 298. Davenport, A. (2013) Differences in prescribed Kt/V and delivered haemodialysis dose--why obesity makes a difference to survival for haemodialysis patients when using a 'one size fits all' Kt/V target, *Nephrol. Dialys. Transplant.: official publication of the European Dialysis and Transplant Association European Renal Association, 28 Suppl 4*, iv219-223.
- Satake, N., Ishida, Y., Otoh, Y., Hinohara, S., Kobayashi, H., Sakashita, A., Maseki, N., and 299. Kaneko. Y. (1997) Novel MLL-CBP fusion transcript in therapy-related chronic leukemia with a myelomonocytic t(11;16)(q23;p13) chromosome translocation, Genes, Chromosomes Cancer, 20, 60-63.
- Sterner, D. E., and Berger, S. L. (2000) Acetylation of histones and transcription-related factors, Microbiol. Mol. Biol. Rev. : MMBR, 64, 435-459.
- 301. Zhang, Y., and Reinberg, D. (2001) Transcription regulation by histone methylation: interplay between different covalent modifications of the core histone tails, *Genes Dev.*, *15*, 2343-2360.
- 302. Verdin, E., and Ott, M. (2015) 50 years of protein acetylation: from gene regulation to epigenetics, metabolism and beyond, *Nat. Rev.*, *16*, 258-264.
- 303. Martin, C., and Zhang, Y. (2005) The diverse functions of histone lysine methylation, *Nature reviews. Mol. Cell biol.*, *6*, 838-849.
- 304. Kamei, Y., Xu, L., Heinzel, T., Torchia, J., Kurokawa, R., Gloss, B., Lin, S. C., Heyman, R. A., Rose, D. W., Glass, C. K., and Rosenfeld, M. G. (1996) A CBP integrator complex mediates transcriptional activation and AP-1 inhibition by nuclear receptors, *Cell*, 85, 403-414.
- 305. Hankinson, O. (2005) Role of coactivators in transcriptional activation by the aryl hydrocarbon receptor, *Arch. Biochem. Biophys.*, *433*, 379-386.

- 306. Steward, M. M., Lee, J. S., O'Donovan, A., Wyatt, M., Bernstein, B. E., and Shilatifard, A. (2006) Molecular regulation of H3K4 trimethylation by ASH2L, a shared subunit of MLL complexes, *Nat. Sruct. Mol. Biol.*, 13, 852-854.
- 307. Hess, J. L. (2004) MLL: a histone methyltransferase disrupted in leukemia, *Trends Mol. Med.*, 10, 500-507.
- 308. Kim, D. H., Tang, Z., Shimada, M., Fierz, B., Houck-Loomis, B., Bar-Dagen, M., Lee, S., Lee, S. K., Muir, T. W., Roeder, R. G., and Lee, J. W. (2013) Histone H3K27 trimethylation inhibits H3 binding and function of SET1-like H3K4 methyltransferase complexes, *Mol. Cell. Biol.*, 33, 4936-4946.
- 309. Lendahl, U., Lee, K. L., Yang, H., and Poellinger, L. (2009) Generating specificity and diversity in the transcriptional response to hypoxia, *Nat. Rev. Genet.*, *10*, 821-832.
- Ricci-Vitiani, L., Pallini, R., Biffoni, M., Todaro, M., Invernici, G., Cenci, T., Maira, G., Parati,
   E. A., Stassi, G., Larocca, L. M., and De Maria, R. (2010) Tumour vascularization via endothelial differentiation of glioblastoma stem-like cells, *Nature*, 468, 824-828.
- 311. Wang, R., Chadalavada, K., Wilshire, J., Kowalik, U., Hovinga, K. E., Geber, A., Fligelman, B., Leversha, M., Brennan, C., and Tabar, V. Glioblastoma stem-like cells give rise to tumour endothelium, *Nature*, 468, 829-833.
- 312. Bruick, R. K. (2003) Oxygen sensing in the hypoxic response pathway: regulation of the hypoxia-inducible transcription factor, *Genes Dev.*, *17*, 2614-2623.
- 313. Ziello, J. E., Jovin, I. S., and Huang, Y. (2007) Hypoxia-Inducible Factor (HIF)-1 regulatory pathway and its potential for therapeutic intervention in malignancy and ischemia, *Yale J. Biol. Med.*, 80, 51-60.

- 314. Kumar, H., and Choi, D. K. (2015) Hypoxia Inducible Factor Pathway and Physiological Adaptation: A Cell Survival Pathway?, *Med. Inflamm.*, 2015, 584758.
- 315. Semenza, G. L. (2014) Oxygen sensing, hypoxia-inducible factors, and disease pathophysiology, Ann. Rev. Pathol., 9, 47-71.
- 316. Fraisl, P., Mazzone, M., Schmidt, T., and Carmeliet, P. (2009) Regulation of angiogenesis by oxygen and metabolism, *Dev. Cell*, *16*, 167-179.
- 317. Kosaka, T., Miyajima, A., Kikuchi, E., Mikami, S., Shirotake, S., Hasegawa, M., and Oya, M. (2009) ETS-1 AND HYPOXIA INDUCIBLE FACTOR-1 a INDUCED BY ANGIOTENSIN II: NOVEL NEW MOLECULAR TARGETS OF ANGIOTENSINII TYPE-1 RECEPTOR BLOCKER (ARB) AS AN ANGIOGENIC INHIBITOR., *J Urol.*, 181, 261-262.
- 318. Ruas, J. L., Berchner-Pfannschmidt, U., Malik, S., Gradin, K., Fandrey, J., Roeder, R. G., Pereira, T., and Poellinger, L. (2010) Complex regulation of the transactivation function of hypoxia-inducible factor-1 alpha by direct interaction with two distinct domains of the CREBbinding protein/p300, *J. Biol. Chem.*, 285, 2601-2609.
- 319. Partch, C. L., and Gardner, K. H. (2011) Coactivators necessary for transcriptional output of the hypoxia inducible factor, HIF, are directly recruited by ARNT PAS-B, *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA.*, *108*, 7739-7744.
- 320. Wahlestedt, C. (2013) Targeting long non-coding RNA to therapeutically upregulate gene expression, *Nat. Rev. Drug Discov.*, *12*, 433-446.
- 321. Tsai, M.-C., Manor, O., Wan, Y., Mosammaparast, N., Wang, J. K., Lan, F., Shi, Y., Segal, E., and Chang, H. Y. (2010) Long Noncoding RNA as Modular Scaffold of Histone Modification Complexes, *Science*, 329, 689-693.

- 322. Bao, X., Ren, T., Huang, Y., Sun, K., Wang, S., Liu, K., Zheng, B., and Guo, W. (2017) Knockdown of long non-coding RNA HOTAIR increases miR-454-3p by targeting Stat3 and Atg12 to inhibit chondrosarcoma growth, *Cell Death Dis.*, 8, e2605.
- 323. Kim, H. J., Lee, D. W., Yim, G. W., Nam, E. J., Kim, S., Kim, S. W., and Kim, Y. T. (2015) Long non-coding RNA HOTAIR is associated with human cervical cancer progression, *Int. J. Oncol.*, 46, 521-530.
- 324. Levi-Montalcini, R., and Hamburger, V. (1951) Selective growth stimulating effects of mouse sarcoma on the sensory and sympathetic nervous system of the chick embryo, *J. Exp. Zool.*, *116*, 321-361.
- 325. Barnabe-Heider, F., and Miller, F. D. (2003) Endogenously produced neurotrophins regulate survival and differentiation of cortical progenitors via distinct signaling pathways, *J. Neurosci.*, 23, 5149-5160.
- 326. Barde, Y. A., Edgar, D., and Thoenen, H. (1982) Purification of a new neurotrophic factor from mammalian brain, *EMBO J.*, *1*, 549-553.
- 327. Bathina, S., and Das, U. N. (2015) Brain-derived neurotrophic factor and its clinical implications, *Arch. Med. Sci.*, 11, 1164-1178.
- 328. Bothwell, M. (1995) Functional interactions of neurotrophins and neurotrophin receptors, *Annu. Rev. Neurosci.*, 18, 223-253.
- 329. Klein, R., Conway, D., Parada, L. F., and Barbacid, M. (1990) The Trkb Tyrosine Protein-Kinase Gene Codes for a 2nd Neurogenic Receptor That Lacks the Catalytic Kinase Domain, *Cell*, 61, 647-656.

- Klein, R., Nanduri, V., Jing, S. Q., Lamballe, F., Tapley, P., Bryant, S., Cordoncardo, C., Jones, K. R., Reichardt, L. F., and Barbacid, M. (1991) The Trkb Tyrosine Protein-Kinase Is a Receptor for Brain-Derived Neurotrophic Factor and Neurotrophin-3, *Cell*, 66, 395-403.
- 331. Liu, Q. R., Lu, L., Zhu, X. G., Gong, J. P., Shaham, Y., and Uhl, G. R. (2006) Rodent BDNF genes, novel promoters, novel splice variants, and regulation by cocaine, *Brain Res.*, *1067*, 1-12.
- 332. Aid, T., Kazantseva, A., Piirsoo, M., Palm, K., and Timmusk, T. (2007) Mouse and rat BDNF gene structure and expression revisited, *J. Neurosci. Res.*, 85, 525-535.
- 333. Lauterborn, J. C., Rivera, S., Stinis, C. T., Hayes, V. Y., Isackson, P. J., and Gall, C. M. (1996) Differential effects of protein synthesis inhibition on the activity-dependent expression of BDNF transcripts: Evidence for immediate-early gene responses from specific promoters, *J. Neurosci.*, 16, 7428-7436.
- 334. Nanda, S., and Mack, K. J. (1998) Multiple promoters direct stimulus and temporal specific expression of brain-derived neurotrophic factor in the somatosensory cortex, *Mol. Brain Res.*, 62, 216-219.
- 335. Scharfman, H. E., and MacLusky, N. J. (2006) Estrogen and brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) in hippocampus: complexity of steroid hormone-growth factor interactions in the adult CNS, *Front. Neuroendocrinol.*, 27, 415-435.
- 336. Kenny, P. J., File, S. E., and Rattray, M. (2000) Acute nicotine decreases, and chronic nicotine increases the expression of brain-derived neurotrophic factor mRNA in rat hippocampus, *Brain Res. Mol. Brain Res.*, 85, 234-238.
- 337. Yan, Q. S., Zheng, S. Z., and Yan, S. E. (2004) Prenatal cocaine exposure decreases brainderived neurotrophic factor proteins in the rat brain, *Brain Res.*, *1009*, 228-233.

- 338. Maier, S. E., and West, J. R. (2001) Drinking patterns and alcohol-related birth defects, Alcohol Res. Health, 25, 168-174.
- 339. Singh, M., Meyer, E. M., and Simpkins, J. W. (1995) The effect of ovariectomy and estradiol replacement on brain-derived neurotrophic factor messenger ribonucleic acid expression in cortical and hippocampal brain regions of female Sprague-Dawley rats, *Endocrinology*, 136, 2320-2324.
- 340. Sohrabji, F., Miranda, R. C. G., and Toranallerand, C. D. (1995) Identification of a Putative Estrogen Response Element in the Gene Encoding Brain-Derived Neurotrophic Factor, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A., 92, 11110-11114.
- 341. Yu, I. T., Lee, S. H., Lee, Y. S., and Son, H. (2004) Differential effects of corticosterone and dexamethasone on hippocampal neurogenesis in vitro, *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.*, 317, 484-490.
- 342. West, A. E., Chen, W. G., Dalva, M. B., Dolmetsch, R. E., Kornhauser, J. M., Shaywitz, A. J., Takasu, M. A., Tao, X., and Greenberg, M. E. (2001) Calcium regulation of neuronal gene expression, *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.*, 98, 11024-11031.
- 343. Wang, Q., and Zheng, J. Q. (1998) cAMP-mediated regulation of neurotrophin-induced collapse of nerve growth cones, *J. Neurosci.*, *18*, 4973-4984.
- 344. Ernfors, P., Bengzon, J., Kokaia, Z., Persson, H., and Lindvall, O. (1991) Increased levels of messenger RNAs for neurotrophic factors in the brain during kindling epileptogenesis, *Neuron*, 7, 165-176.
- 345. Patterson, S. L., Grover, L. M., Schwartzkroin, P. A., and Bothwell, M. (1992) Neurotrophin expression in rat hippocampal slices: a stimulus paradigm inducing LTP in CA1 evokes increases in BDNF and NT-3 mRNAs, *Neuron*, *9*, 1081-1088.

- 346. Castren, E., Pitkanen, M., Sirvio, J., Parsadanian, A., Lindholm, D., Thoenen, H., and Riekkinen,
  P. J. (1993) The induction of LTP increases BDNF and NGF mRNA but decreases NT-3 mRNA in the dentate gyrus, *Neuroreport*, 4, 895-898.
- 347. Bramham, C. R., Southard, T., Sarvey, J. M., Herkenham, M., and Brady, L. S. (1996) Unilateral LTP triggers bilateral increases in hippocampal neurotrophin and trk receptor mRNA expression in behaving rats: evidence for interhemispheric communication, *J. Comp. Neurol.*, 368, 371-382.
- 348. Sohrabji, F., and Lewis, D. K. (2006) Estrogen-BDNF interactions: implications for neurodegenerative diseases, *Front. Neuroendocrinol.*, 27, 404-414.
- 349. Singh, M., Meyer, E. M., and Simpkins, J. W. (1995) The Effect of Ovariectomy and Estradiol Replacement on Brain-Derived Neurotrophic Factor Messenger-Ribonucleic-Acid Expression in Cortical and Hippocampal Brain-Regions of Female Sprague-Dawley Rats, *Endocrinology*, 136, 2320-2324.
- 350. Liu, Y., Fowler, C. D., Young, L. J., Yan, Q., Insel, T. R., and Wang, Z. (2001) Expression and estrogen regulation of brain-derived neurotrophic factor gene and protein in the forebrain of female prairie voles, *J. Comp. Neurol.*, *433*, 499-514.
- 351. Sohrabji, F., Miranda, R. C., and Toran-Allerand, C. D. (1995) Identification of a putative estrogen response element in the gene encoding brain-derived neurotrophic factor, *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.*, *92*, 11110-11114.
- 352. Phillips, H. S., Hains, J. M., Armanini, M., Laramee, G. R., Johnson, S. A., and Winslow, J. W. (1991) BDNF mRNA is decreased in the hippocampus of individuals with Alzheimer's disease, *Neuron*, *7*, 695-702.
- Burbach, G. J., Hellweg, R., Haas, C. A., Del Turco, D., Deicke, U., Abramowski, D., Jucker, M., Staufenbiel, M., and Deller, T. (2004) Induction of brain-derived neurotrophic factor in plaque-associated glial cells of aged APP23 transgenic mice, *J. Neurosci.*, 24, 2421-2430.
- 354. Howells, D. W., Porritt, M. J., Wong, J. Y., Batchelor, P. E., Kalnins, R., Hughes, A. J., and Donnan, G. A. (2000) Reduced BDNF mRNA expression in the Parkinson's disease substantia nigra, *Exp. Neurol.*, *166*, 127-135.
- 355. Zuccato, C., Ciammola, A., Rigamonti, D., Leavitt, B. R., Goffredo, D., Conti, L., MacDonald, M. E., Friedlander, R. M., Silani, V., Hayden, M. R., Timmusk, T., Sipione, S., and Cattaneo, E. (2001) Loss of huntingtin-mediated BDNF gene transcription in Huntington's disease, *Science*, 293, 493-498.
- 356. Gall, C. M., and Isackson, P. J. (1989) Limbic seizures increase neuronal production of messenger RNA for nerve growth factor, *Science*, 245, 758-761.
- 357. Gall, C., Lauterborn, J., Bundman, M., Murray, K., and Isackson, P. (1991) Seizures and the regulation of neurotrophic factor and neuropeptide gene expression in brain, *Epilepsy Res. Suppl.*, *4*, 225-245.
- 358. Morimoto, B. H., and Koshland, D. E., Jr. (1990) Induction and expression of long- and shortterm neurosecretory potentiation in a neural cell line, *Neuron*, *5*, 875-880.
- 359. Behl, C., Davis, J., Cole, G. M., and Schubert, D. (1992) Vitamin E protects nerve cells from amyloid beta protein toxicity, *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.*, 186, 944-950.
- 360. Davis, J. B., and Maher, P. (1994) Protein-Kinase-C Activation Inhibits Glutamate-Induced Cytotoxicity in a Neuronal Cell-Line, *Brain Res.*, 652, 169-173.

- 361. Bhan, A., Hussain, I., Ansari, K. I., Bobzean, S. A., Perrotti, L. I., and Mandal, S. S. (2014) Histone Methyltransferase EZH2 Is Transcriptionally Induced by Estradiol as Well as Estrogenic Endocrine Disruptors Bisphenol-A and Diethylstilbestrol, J. Mol. Biol., 590, 234-243
- 362. Hussain, I., Bhan, A., Ansari, K. I., Deb, P., Bobzean, S. A., Perrotti, L. I., and Mandal, S. S. (2015) Bisphenol-A induces expression of HOXC6, an estrogen-regulated homeobox-containing gene associated with breast cancer, *Biochim. Biophys. Acta.*, 1849, 697-708.
- 363. Ansari, K. I., Hussain, I., Kasiri, S., and Mandal, S. S. (2012) HOXC10 is overexpressed in breast cancer and transcriptionally regulated by estrogen via involvement of histone methylases MLL3 and MLL4, J. Mol. Endocrinol., 48, 61-75.
- 364. Hussain, I., Bhan, A., Ansari, K. I., Deb, P., Bobzean, S. A. M., Perrotti, L. I., and Mandal, S. S. (2015) Bisphenol-A induces expression of HOXC6, an estrogen-regulated homeobox-containing gene associated with breast cancer, *Bba-Gene Regul. Mech.*, 1849, 697-708.
- 365. Knutson, S. K., Wigle, T. J., Warholic, N. M., Sneeringer, C. J., Allain, C. J., Klaus, C. R., Sacks, J. D., Raimondi, A., Majer, C. R., Song, J., Scott, M. P., Jin, L., Smith, J. J., Olhava, E. J., Chesworth, R., Moyer, M. P., Richon, V. M., Copeland, R. A., Keilhack, H., Pollock, R. M., and Kuntz, K. W. (2012) A selective inhibitor of EZH2 blocks H3K27 methylation and kills mutant lymphoma cells, *Nat. Chem. Biol.*, 8, 890-896.
- 366. Shechter, D., Dormann, H. L., Allis, C. D., and Hake, S. B. (2007) Extraction, purification and analysis of histones, *Nat. Protoc.*, *2*, 1445-1457.
- 367. Brown, K., Selfridge, J., Lagger, S., Connelly, J., De Sousa, D., Kerr, A., Webb, S., Guy, J., Merusi, C., Koerner, M. V., and Bird, A. (2016) The molecular basis of variable phenotypic severity among common missense mutations causing Rett syndrome, *Hum. Mol. Genet.*, 25, 558-570.

- 368. Tran, Q. K., Firkins, R., Giles, J., Francis, S., Matnishian, V., Tran, P., VerMeer, M., Jasurda, J., Burgard, M. A., and Gebert-Oberle, B. (2016) Estrogen Enhances Linkage in the Vascular Endothelial Calmodulin Network via a Feedforward Mechanism at the G Protein-coupled Estrogen Receptor 1, *J. Biol. Chem.*, 291, 10805-10823.
- 369. Zha, Y., Ding, E., Yang, L., Mao, L., Wang, X., McCarthy, B. A., Huang, S., and Ding, H. F. (2012) Functional dissection of HOXD cluster genes in regulation of neuroblastoma cell proliferation and differentiation, *PLoS One*, 7, e40728.
- 370. Smith, S. S. (1994) Female sex steroid hormones: from receptors to networks to performance-actions on the sensorimotor system, *Prog. Neurobiol.*, 44, 55-86.
- 371. McEwen, B. S. (1983) Gonadal steroid influences on brain development and sexual differentiation, *Int. Rev. Physiol.*, 27, 99-145.
- 372. Brann, D. W., Dhandapani, K., Wakade, C., Mahesh, V. B., and Khan, M. M. (2007) Neurotrophic and neuroprotective actions of estrogen: basic mechanisms and clinical implications, *Steroids*, 72, 381-405.
- 373. Strom, J. O., Theodorsson, A., and Theodorsson, E. (2011) Mechanisms of estrogens' dosedependent neuroprotective and neurodamaging effects in experimental models of cerebral ischemia, *Int. J. Mol. Sci.*, 12, 1533-1562.
- 374. Fiocchetti, M., Ascenzi, P., and Marino, M. (2012) Neuroprotective effects of 17beta-estradiol rely on estrogen receptor membrane initiated signals, *Front. Physiol.*, *3*, 73.
- 375. Berchtold, N. C., Kesslak, J. P., Pike, C. J., Adlard, P. A., and Cotman, C. W. (2001) Estrogen and exercise interact to regulate brain-derived neurotrophic factor mRNA and protein expression in the hippocampus, *Eur. J. Neurosci.*, *14*, 1992-2002.

- 376. Cavus, I., and Duman, R. S. (2003) Influence of estradiol, stress, and 5-HT2A agonist treatment on brain-derived neurotrophic factor expression in female rats, *Biol.Psychiatry*, *54*, 59-69.
- 377. Solum, D. T., and Handa, R. J. (2002) Estrogen regulates the development of brain-derived neurotrophic factor mRNA and protein in the rat hippocampus, *J. Neurosci.*, *22*, 2650-2659.
- 378. Shughrue, P. J., Lane, M. V., and Merchenthaler, I. (1997) Comparative distribution of estrogen receptor-alpha and -beta mRNA in the rat central nervous system, J. Comp. Neurol., 388, 507-525.
- Nilsson, S., and Gustafsson, J. A. (2002) Biological role of estrogen and estrogen receptors, *Crit. Rev. Biochem. Mol. Biol.*, 37, 1-28.
- 380. Mo, R., Rao, S. M., and Zhu, Y. J. (2006) Identification of the MLL2 complex as a coactivator for estrogen receptor alpha, J. Biol. Chem., 281, 15714-15720.
- 381. Nilsson, S., Makela, S., Treuter, E., Tujague, M., Thomsen, J., Andersson, G., Enmark, E., Pettersson, K., Warner, M., and Gustafsson, J. A. (2001) Mechanisms of estrogen action, *Physiol. Rev.*, 81, 1535-1565.
- 382. Nilsson, S., and Gustafsson, J. A. (2002) Estrogen receptor action, *Crit. Rev. Eukaryot. Gene Expr.*, 12, 237-257.
- 383. Hermanson, O., Glass, C. K., and Rosenfeld, M. G. (2002) Nuclear receptor coregulators: multiple modes of modification, *Trends in endocrinology and metabolism: TEM, 13*, 55-60.
- 384. Horwitz, K. B., Jackson, T. A., Bain, D. L., Richer, J. K., Takimoto, G. S., and Tung, L. (1996) Nuclear receptor coactivators and corepressors, *Mol. Endocrinol.*, 10, 1167-1177.
- 385. Lonard, D. M., and O'Malley B, W. (2007) Nuclear receptor coregulators: judges, juries, and executioners of cellular regulation, *Mol. Cell*, 27, 691-700.

- 386. Levenson, J. M., O'Riordan, K. J., Brown, K. D., Trinh, M. A., Molfese, D. L., and Sweatt, J. D. (2004) Regulation of histone acetylation during memory formation in the hippocampus, *J. Biol. Chem.*, 279, 40545-40559.
- 387. Guan, J. S., Haggarty, S. J., Giacometti, E., Dannenberg, J. H., Joseph, N., Gao, J., Nieland, T. J., Zhou, Y., Wang, X., Mazitschek, R., Bradner, J. E., DePinho, R. A., Jaenisch, R., and Tsai, L. H. (2009) HDAC2 negatively regulates memory formation and synaptic plasticity, *Nature*, 459, 55-60.
- 388. Graff, J., Rei, D., Guan, J. S., Wang, W. Y., Seo, J., Hennig, K. M., Nieland, T. J., Fass, D. M., Kao, P. F., Kahn, M., Su, S. C., Samiei, A., Joseph, N., Haggarty, S. J., Delalle, I., and Tsai, L. H. (2012) An epigenetic blockade of cognitive functions in the neurodegenerating brain, *Nature*, 483, 222-226.
- 389. Mandal, S. S. (2010) Mixed lineage leukemia: versatile player in epigenetics and human disease, *FEBS J.*, 277, 1789.
- 390. Ansari, K. I., Hussain, I., Das, H. K., and Mandal, S. S. (2009) Overexpression of human histone methylase MLL1 upon exposure to a food contaminant mycotoxin, deoxynivalenol, *FEBS J.*, 276, 3299-3307.
- 391. Marsicano, G., Goodenough, S., Monory, K., Hermann, H., Eder, M., Cannich, A., Azad, S. C., Cascio, M. G., Gutierrez, S. O., van der Stelt, M., Lopez-Rodriguez, M. L., Casanova, E., Schutz, G., Zieglgansberger, W., Di Marzo, V., Behl, C., and Lutz, B. (2003) CB1 cannabinoid receptors and on-demand defense against excitotoxicity, *Science*, *302*, 84-88.
- 392. Duan, W., Guo, Z., Jiang, H., Ware, M., Li, X. J., and Mattson, M. P. (2003) Dietary restriction normalizes glucose metabolism and BDNF levels, slows disease progression, and increases survival in huntingtin mutant mice, *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.*, 100, 2911-2916.

- 393. Spires, T. L., Grote, H. E., Varshney, N. K., Cordery, P. M., van Dellen, A., Blakemore, C., and Hannan, A. J. (2004) Environmental enrichment rescues protein deficits in a mouse model of Huntington's disease, indicating a possible disease mechanism, *J. Neurosci.*, 24, 2270-2276.
- 394. Caspi, A., and Moffitt, T. E. (2006) Gene-environment interactions in psychiatry: joining forces with neuroscience, *Nat. Rev. Neurosci.*, 7, 583-590.
- 395. Migliore, L., and Coppede, F. (2009) Genetics, environmental factors and the emerging role of epigenetics in neurodegenerative diseases, *Mutat. Res.*, 667, 82-97.
- Duman, R. S., and Monteggia, L. M. (2006) A neurotrophic model for stress-related mood disorders, *Biol. Psychiatry*, 59, 1116-1127.
- 397. Roceri, M., Cirulli, F., Pessina, C., Peretto, P., Racagni, G., and Riva, M. A. (2004) Postnatal repeated maternal deprivation produces age-dependent changes of brain-derived neurotrophic factor expression in selected rat brain regions, *Biol. Psychiatry*, 55, 708-714.
- 398. Roceri, M., Hendriks, W., Racagni, G., Ellenbroek, B. A., and Riva, M. A. (2002) Early maternal deprivation reduces the expression of BDNF and NMDA receptor subunits in rat hippocampus, *Mol. Psychiatry*, *7*, 609-616.
- 399. Gutschner, T., and Diederichs, S. (2012) The hallmarks of cancer: a long non-coding RNA point of view, *RNA Biol.*, *9*, 703-719.
- 400. Shi, X., Sun, M., Liu, H., Yao, Y., and Song, Y. (2013) Long non-coding RNAs: a new frontier in the study of human diseases, *Cancer Lett.*, 339, 159-166.
- 401. Tsai, M. C., Spitale, R. C., and Chang, H. Y. (2011) Long intergenic noncoding RNAs: new links in cancer progression, *Cancer Res.*, 71, 3-7.

- 402. Choe, A., Phun, H. Q., Tieu, D. D., Hu, Y. H., and Carpenter, E. M. (2006) Expression patterns of Hox10 paralogous genes during lumbar spinal cord development, *Gene Expr. Patterns*, *6*, 730-737.
- 403. Taniguchi, Y., Tanaka, O., Sekiguchi, M., Takekoshi, S., Tsukamoto, H., Kimura, M., Imai, K., and Inoko, H. (2011) Enforced expression of the transcription factor HOXD3 under the control of the Wnt1 regulatory element modulates cell adhesion properties in the developing mouse neural tube, *J. Anat.*, *219*, 589-600.
- 404. Gibbs, R. B. (1998) Levels of trkA and BDNF mRNA, but not NGF mRNA, fluctuate across the estrous cycle and increase in response to acute hormone replacement, *Brain Res.*, *810*, 294.
- 405. Gibbs, R. B. (1999) Treatment with estrogen and progesterone affects relative levels of brainderived neurotrophic factor mRNA and protein in different regions of the adult rat brain, *Brain Res.*, 844, 20-27.
- 406. Zhou, J., Zhang, H., Cohen, R. S., and Pandey, S. C. (2005) Effects of estrogen treatment on expression of brain-derived neurotrophic factor and cAMP response element-binding protein expression and phosphorylation in rat amygdaloid and hippocampal structures, *Neuroendocrinology*, *81*, 294-310.
- 407. Alkayed, N. J., Harukuni, I., Kimes, A. S., London, E. D., Traystman, R. J., and Hurn, P. D. (1998) Gender-linked brain injury in experimental stroke, *Stroke*, 29, 159-165; discussion 166.
- 408. Park, E. M., Cho, S., Frys, K. A., Glickstein, S. B., Zhou, P., Anrather, J., Ross, M. E., and Iadecola, C. (2006) Inducible nitric oxide synthase contributes to gender differences in ischemic brain injury, J. Cereb. Blood Flow Metab., 26, 392-401.

- 409. Simpkins, J. W., Rajakumar, G., Zhang, Y. Q., Simpkins, C. E., Greenwald, D., Yu, C. J., Bodor, N., and Day, A. L. (1997) Estrogens may reduce mortality and ischemic damage caused by middle cerebral artery occlusion in the female rat, *J. Neurosurg.*, 87, 724-730.
- 410. Dubal, D. B., Kashon, M. L., Pettigrew, L. C., Ren, J. M., Finklestein, S. P., Rau, S. W., and Wise, P. M. (1998) Estradiol protects against ischemic injury, *J. Cereb. Blood Flow Metab.*, *18*, 1253-1258.
- 411. Jover, T., Tanaka, H., Calderone, A., Oguro, K., Bennett, M. V., Etgen, A. M., and Zukin, R. S. (2002) Estrogen protects against global ischemia-induced neuronal death and prevents activation of apoptotic signaling cascades in the hippocampal CA1, *J. Neurosci.*, 22, 2115-2124.
- 412. Miller, N. R., Jover, T., Cohen, H. W., Zukin, R. S., and Etgen, A. M. (2005) Estrogen can act via estrogen receptor alpha and beta to protect hippocampal neurons against global ischemia-induced cell death, *Endocrinology*, *146*, 3070-3079.
- 413. Miranda, R. C., Sohrabji, F., and Toran-Allerand, C. D. (1993) Neuronal colocalization of mRNAs for neurotrophins and their receptors in the developing central nervous system suggests a potential for autocrine interactions, *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.*, 90, 6439-6443.
- 414. Zhang, X., Lian, Z., Padden, C., Gerstein, M. B., Rozowsky, J., Snyder, M., Gingeras, T. R., Kapranov, P., Weissman, S. M., and Newburger, P. E. (2009) A myelopoiesis-associated regulatory intergenic noncoding RNA transcript within the human HOXA cluster, *Blood*, 113, 2526-2534.
- 415. Mercer, T. R., Dinger, M. E., Sunkin, S. M., Mehler, M. F., and Mattick, J. S. (2008) Specific expression of long noncoding RNAs in the mouse brain, *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.*, 105, 716-721.

- 416. Mattick, J. S., and Mehler, M. F. (2008) RNA editing, DNA recoding and the evolution of human cognition, *Trends Neurosci.*, 31, 227-233.
- 417. Raab, H., Beyer, C., Wozniak, A., Hutchison, J. B., Pilgrim, C., and Reisert, I. (1995) Ontogeny of aromatase messenger ribonucleic acid and aromatase activity in the rat midbrain, *Brain Res. Mol. Brain Res.*, *34*, 333-336.

## **BIOGRAPHICAL INFORMATION**

The author was born and raised in Kolkata, India. She graduated high school in 2006 from Hariyana Vidya Mandir, Kolkata (India). She received her Bachelor's degree in Chemistry/Zoology/Microbiology in 2009 from St.Joseph's College, Bangalore (India). She completed her Master's degree in Biochemistry in 2011 at University of Calcutta, Kolkata (India). The author moved from Kolkata (India) to Arlington (United States) in August, 2012 and joined Mandal laboratory in Spring, 2013. She worked briefly for Regeneron Pharmaceuticals as a PhD intern from May, 2016 to August, 2016, where she developed bioassays for blood-brain barrier related disorders. Her PhD research seeks to understand the functions of non-coding RNA, HOX genes, neurotransmitters and their transcriptional regulation *in vitro* and *in vivo*. She received her PhD degree in Biochemistry in May, 2017 under the supervision of Dr. Subhrangsu Sekhar Mandal for her dissertation work concerning identification, risk assessment and epigenetic mechanism of target gene regulation by external stimuli such as steroids / endocrine disrupting chemicals. The author wishes to pursue interests in cancer vaccines, molecular epigenetics and mass spectrometry and looks forward to help fight against cancer.